# GRADIENT CATASTROPHES AND AN INFINITE HIERARCHY OF HÖLDER CUSP-SINGULARITIES FOR 1D EULER

#### ISAAC NEAL, STEVE SHKOLLER, AND VLAD VICOL

ABSTRACT. We establish an infinite hierarchy of finite-time gradient catastrophes for smooth solutions of the 1D Euler equations of gas dynamics with non-constant entropy. Specifically, for all integers  $n \ge 1$ , we prove that there exist classical solutions, emanating from smooth, compressive, and non-vacuous initial data, which form a cusp-type gradient singularity in finite time, in which the gradient of the solution has precisely  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  Hölder-regularity. We show that such Euler solutions are codimension-(2n-2) stable in the Sobolev space  $W^{2n+2,\infty}$ . December 30, 2024.

## CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Intuition from the Burgers equation	7
3.	The differentiated Riemann variables, the initial data, and a blowup criterion	9
4.	4. Initial estimates along the fast acoustic characteristic	
5.	Higher order estimates	17
6.	Stability estimates with respect to perturbations of $w_0$	31
7.	Solution continuity with respect to initial data	40
8.	Finite-codimension Banach manifolds of initial data	43
9.	A detailed description of the cusp structure at the first singularity	52
Ар	pendix A. Polynomial inversion	56
Ар	pendix B. Frequently used computations	59
Ар	pendix C. Implicit function theorem	59
Acknowledgements		60
References		60

## 1. INTRODUCTION

One of the central problems in the mathematical theory of the compressible Euler equations, the canonical macroscopic model of gas dynamics, is the *formation* of gradient catastrophes from *smooth initial data*. The archetypal *singular solution* contains a *shock*, a codimension-1 subset of spacetime across which the solution experiences jump discontinuities. Compression in the initial conditions ensures that smooth sound waves steepen further and further, until an infinite gradient is formed along a spacetime set of "first gradient singularities", which we call the *pre-shock*. For localized one-dimensional initial data, the pre-shock is a point in spacetime, along which the gradient of the Euler solution forms a Hölder-type cusp singularity, in which the state variables remain Hölder continuous, but with gradients that blow up. It is only *after the pre-shock*, instantaneously, that the state variables become discontinuous, resulting in an entropy-producing shock wave. As such, a detailed analysis of the formation of the gradient singularity at the pre-shock is crucial to our understanding of the transition from smooth to discontinuous solutions of the Euler system.

The goal of this paper is to prove that the one-dimensional Euler dynamics, starting from from smooth and nonvacuous initial data, can attain an infinite hierarchy of finite-time cusp-type singularities at the pre-shock, with a Hölder exponent that is indexed by an integer  $n \ge 1$ . By a slight abuse of terminology, we shall refer to the Euler solution at the time of the first gradient blowup as the *pre-shock solution* or simply as the *pre-shock*. Then, the  $n^{\text{th}}$  pre-shock solution in this hierarchy corresponds to a cusp-singularity with Hölder exponent 1/(2n + 1). We analyze the stability of these singular pre-shock solutions and establish that the set of initial conditions leading to a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  cusp forms a (2n-2)-dimensional Banach submanifold of the Sobolev space  $W^{2n+2,\infty}$ ; in particular, for all  $n \ge 2$ , only finite codimension stability holds.

The case n = 1, corresponding to the fully-stable  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  pre-shock, has been fully investigated in 1D and under symmetry in [30, 18, 27, 44, 9, 6, 39], and in multiple space dimensions in [10, 11, 42]. The *only* prior result concerning the formation of an unstable pre-shock was obtained in [8], which treats the special case n = 2 in the setting of azimuthal symmetry, using a modulated stability analysis of an explicit self-similar blowup profile.

Herein, we simultaneously analyze all  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  pre-shock solutions in the cusp hierarchy (meaning, all  $n \ge 1$ ) without making reference to an self-similar blowup profiles. We achieve this by taking a *purely characteristic perspective*, in which the pre-shock singularity is characterized by the narrowing distance between the nearby fast-acoustic characteristics. In this Lagrangian-like characteristic framework, we show that carefully designed *differentiated Riemann variables* remain uniformly smooth up to the time of the first gradient singularity. In turn, this allows us to apply the Implicit Function Theorem in a smooth setting, to precisely characterize the finite-codimension stability. Our method of analysis for stable and unstable shock formation is sufficiently robust so as to easily generalize to more complicated hyperbolic systems of conservation laws.

1.1. The 1D Euler equations. The one-dimensional Euler equations are given as the system of conservation laws

$$\partial_t \rho + \partial_y (\rho u) = 0, \qquad (1.1a)$$

$$\partial_t(\rho u) + \partial_y(\rho u^2 + p) = 0, \qquad (1.1b)$$

$$\partial_t E + \partial_y ((p+E)u) = 0, \qquad (1.1c)$$

where the unknowns  $u, \rho, E$ , and p are scalar functions defined for  $(y, t) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$ . Here u is the fluid velocity,  $\rho$  is the (strictly positive) density, E is the specific total energy, and p is the pressure. To close the system, one introduces an equation of state that relates the internal energy  $E - \frac{1}{2}\rho u^2$  to p and  $\rho$ . For an ideal gas, the equation of state is

$$p = (\gamma - 1)(E - \frac{1}{2}\rho u^2), \tag{1.2}$$

where  $\gamma > 1$  is a fixed adiabatic exponent.

For the study of shock formation, it is convenient to express the internal energy and pressure as functions of  $\rho$  and the specific entropy S, and to express the Euler evolution in terms of the variables  $(u, \rho, S)$ . For ideal gases the specific entropy S is defined by the relation

$$p = \frac{1}{\gamma} \rho^{\gamma} e^S. \tag{1.3}$$

Introducing the rescaled adiabtic exponent  $\alpha := \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}$  and defining the rescaled sound speed<sup>1</sup> by

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{\alpha} \sqrt{\frac{\partial p}{\partial \rho}} = \frac{1}{\alpha} e^{S/2} \rho^{\alpha} , \qquad (1.4)$$

we can rewrite the one-dimensional Euler equations (1.1)–(1.2) in terms of the variables  $(u, \sigma, S)$  as

$$\partial_t \sigma + u \partial_y \sigma + \alpha \sigma \partial_y u = 0, \qquad (1.5a)$$

$$\partial_t u + u \partial_y u + \alpha \sigma \partial_y \sigma = \frac{\alpha}{2\alpha} \sigma^2 \partial_y S, \qquad (1.5b)$$

$$\partial_t S + u \partial_y S = 0. \tag{1.5c}$$

Prior to the development of a discontinuous shock wave, the systems (1.1)-(1.2) and (1.3)-(1.5) are equivalent.

1.2. **Prior results.** The theory of shock wave solutions for systems of hyperbolic conservation laws in *one space dimension* is well-developed. For a detailed exposition we refer the reader to [24, 28, 15, 25, 32] and the references therein. Herein, we shall only summarize results concerning the finite-time formation of gradient singularities for the Euler equations, from smooth initial conditions.

The fact that smooth Euler solutions generically have a finite lifespan is well-known [41, 29, 26, 31, 35, 43]; such results rely upon a *proof by contradiction* argument to show that a finite-time breakdown of the smooth solution occurs. While such arguments apply in great generality, they generally do not provide detailed information about the emerging gradient catastrophe. We emphasize that a precise characterization of the first gradient singularity is crucial for solving the physical shock development problem (see, for example, the discussion in [7]).

Recently, a number of *constructive singularity formation* results have been established for the Euler equations. Constructive results show that for an appropriate class of smooth initial data, the *very first* gradient singularity can

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The actual sound speed in a compressible fluid is  $c = \sqrt{\partial p / \partial \rho} = e^{S/2} \rho^{\alpha} = \alpha \sigma$ .

be precisely described, either as being of *shock-type*<sup>2</sup> or as being an *implosion*<sup>3</sup>, and that no other singularity can occur prior. Since in one space dimension neither implosion<sup>4</sup> nor vacuum formation is possible as a first singularity from smooth solutions [14, 13], we henceforth focus exclusively on constructive proofs of shock-type singularities. More precisely, when the fundamental variables  $(u, \sigma, S)$  remain Hölder continuous at the time of the first gradient catastrophe, we refer to the emerging singularity as a *pre-shock*.

With the exception of the recent papers [8] and [38], all existing constructive blowup results for the Euler system establish the formation of a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  Hölder pre-shock as the first singularity. This is because the  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  pre-shock emerges in a *stable* fashion from a large open set of smooth and generic initial data. A compendium is listed as follows:

- The paper [30] established both shock formation (as a C<sup>0, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub></sup> pre-shock) and shock development for the one-dimensional *p*-system. Further refinements were obtained in [18] and [27]. For the three-dimensional Euler equations in spherical symmetry, [44] used similar ideas to construct solutions which form a C<sup>0, <sup>1</sup>/<sub>3</sub></sup> cusp (with respect to the radial coordinate) in finite time, and to show that the resulting weak entropy solution instantaneously develops a radial shock (jump discontinuity).
- Results similar to [44] have been established in [21], by using techniques originating in mathematical general relativity. More precisely, [21] appeals to part of the framework developed in [19]. The monograph [19] established shock formation for multi-dimensional irrotational flows (see also [22]), by studying the second order wave equation satisfied by the velocity potential. This framework was also used in [20] to analyze the *restricted*<sup>5</sup> shock development problem for multi-dimensional irrotational and isentropic flows, and it was used in [33, 34] to prove shock formation for the two- and three-dimensional Euler equations for initial data close to a plane wave, in the presence of vorticity and entropy. We emphasize that the shock formation results obtained in [19, 22, 21, 20, 33, 34] do not provide the precise Hölder regularity of the Euler solution at the time of the very first singularity.
- An alternative approach to shock formation for the Euler equations was proposed in [9]. This approach employs modulated self-similar analysis<sup>6</sup> to establish the stability of an explicit blowup profile. The paper [9] considers the two-dimensional Euler equations in azimuthal symmetry and establishes the stable formation of a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  pre-shock (with respect to the angular variable) in finite time, from generic and smooth initial data. A more refined self-similar approach was then used in [10, 11] to prove stable gradient singularity formation for the full three-dimensional Euler system, in the absence of any symmetry assumptions. The papers [10, 11] establish the formation of a *stable point-shock* from smooth and generic initial data. Point-shock solutions are multi-dimensional analogues of the one-dimensional pre-shock solutions; they occur about a distinguished point in space-time and quantify how the solution forms a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  cusp singularity in one direction, while remaining smooth in the orthogonal directions. We emphasize that while proofs of shock formation based on self-similar analysis provide detailed information about the solution at the point of the very first singularity (the point-shock mentioned earlier), these methods are ill-suited for resolving the physical shock-development problem.
- In [39] we have revisited the results of [9] from a *characteristics-based* perspective, adapted to the three distinct wave-families present in the Euler equations. For the two-dimensional Euler equations in azimuthal symmetry, we proved the stable formation of  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  cusps in finite time, from smooth and generic initial conditions, in a more general setting than [9]. A three-wave-family characteristics-based approach, was also used in [6] to resolve the shock development problem for the two-dimensional Euler equations in azimuthal symmetry. By utilizing the  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  pre-shock as new Cauchy data for the Euler evolution, the paper [6] shows that simultaneously to the discontinuous shock, a weak-rarefaction and a weak-contact singularity emerge from the pre-shock.
- Recently, pre-shock formation *past the time of the first singularity* has been established in the context of the maximal globally hyperbolic development (MGHD) of smooth and generic Cauchy data, for the multi-dimensional Euler

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For shocks the gradients of the fundamental variables (such as velocity and density) blow up, while the fundamental variables themselves remain bounded, and even retain limited Hölder regularity, which characterizes the type of cusp that forms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>For implosions the fundamental variables (such as velocity and density) blow up themselves, along with their gradients.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Smooth solutions that implode at the very first singularity have been recently constructed rigorously in *multiple space dimensions*, for the isentropic problem in radial symmetry [36, 37, 5]. These results have been extended perturbatively to hold also outside of symmetry constraints [12], and they have been used to establish the finite time blowup of vorticity [17, 16] for the multi-dimensional Euler system. We note however that all known smooth implosions have only been proven to be finite codimensions stable, and that the dimension of the instability remains unquantified.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>In the *restricted* shock development problem, the flow is artificially constrained to remain irrotational and isentropic even after the shock forms, which violates the second law of thermodynamics and the Rankine-Hugoniot jump conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Finite-time blowup results for 2+1-dimensional second-order quasilinear wave equations, which do not satisfy the null-condition (akin to irrotational isentropic Euler), were previously obtained in [3, 2]. The proofs in [3, 2] use a "blowup technique" which resembles self-similar analysis, but without the modulation parameters corresponding to unstable modes arising from the Galilean symmetry of the equations.

equations. In [42], the last two authors of this paper have constructed a fundamental piece of the boundary of the MGHD, which is necessary for the local shock development problem. Specifically, [42] used a precise geometric analysis of fast-acoustic characteristic surfaces and a new type of differentiated Riemann variables to smoothly evolve the Euler solution up to the future temporal boundary of the MGHD, which is a singular hypersurface in spacetime containing the union of three sets: (i) a codimension-2 set of first singularities all of which are  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  preshocks; (ii) a codimension-1 hypersurface emanating from the pre-shock set in the downstream direction, on which the Euler solution experiences a continuum of gradient catastrophes; and (iii) a codimension-1 Cauchy horizon emanating upstream from the pre-shock set, which the Euler solution cannot reach. We also mention the preprint [1] which evolves the Euler solution up to a portion of the boundary of the MGHD, containing only the sets in (i) and (ii) above, but not the Cauchy horizon. We note that the proof framework employed in this manuscript closely resembles the one in [42], except that, in this case, we are not confronted with the geometric complexities inherent in multiple space dimensions.

To reiterate, every constructive singularity formation result cited in the list above demonstrates the formation of a stable  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  cusp as the initial gradient singularity of a smooth Euler evolution. So far, only two the papers [8] and [38] have established the formation of gradient singularity which is *not* a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  cusp:

- For the compressible Euler equations in one space dimension, in [38] we have exhibited an open set of initial data, such that the classical solution of (1.5) forms a C<sup>0,α</sup> pre-shock as a first singularity, for any α ∈ [1/2, 1). Note that these pre-shock singularities correspond to Hölder exponents *strictly larger* than 1/3. Moreover, their formation is stable with respect to small perturbations of the initial data in the topology of C<sup>1, 1-α</sup>/<sub>α</sub> −δ, for any small δ > 0. We emphasize however that these exotic cusps (with Hölder exponent larger that 1/3) do not arise from smooth initial conditions; in fact, such initial data cannot lie in C<sup>2,0</sup>.
- For smooth initial conditions, the only paper which constructed a non- $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$  pre-shock for the Euler equations is [8]. The authors of [8] have used modulated self-similar stability analysis of an explicit blowup profile to construct solutions of the two-dimensional isentropic Euler equations in azimuthal symmetry, which form a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{5}}$  cusp as a first singularity, and have proven that such a solution is codimension-2 stable with respect to  $C^8$  perturbations. The paper [8] builds on the self-similar analysis developed in [9], and uses information about the explicit smooth unstable blowup profiles for the 1D Burgers equation (see also [23] and the discussion in § 2 below).<sup>7</sup> The result in [8] corresponds to the *special case* n = 2 and  $S_0 \equiv 0$  in our main result, Theorem 1.1 below. We emphasize that the proof presented in this manuscript is fundamentally different than the one in [8]: instead of modulated self-similar stability analysis, we appeal to the analysis of differentiated Riemann-type variables in the coordinates of the fast-acoustic characteristics. We believe that this perspective is more robust (as seen also in [38, 42]), and generalizes in a straightforward way to general classes of hyperbolic systems of conservation laws.

1.3. **Main results.** Our main result concerns the construction and the stability analysis of an infinite hierarchy of preshock solutions which arise as the first gradient singularity for velocity and sound speed in smooth one-dimensional Euler dynamics. The  $n^{\text{th}}$  pre-shock in this hierarchy ( $n \ge 1$  is an integer) corresponds to a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  cusp-singularity, and forms from initial data lying on a (2n-2)-dimensional Banach submanifold of  $W^{2n+2,\infty}$ . A precise statement of our main result is given in Theorem 9.1 below, while an abbreviated statement is given next in Theorem 1.1.

Fix  $n \ge 1$  an integer. Let us introduce a function  $\overline{w}_0: \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{R}$  which has 2n + 2 bounded derivatives, whose derivative  $\overline{w}'_0$  attains a global minimum at a distinguished point in  $\mathbb{T}$ , and such that at this global minimum the function  $\overline{w}'_0$  exhibits flatness of order 2n, meaning that the functions  $\{\partial_y^j \overline{w}'_0\}_{j=1}^{2n-1}$  all vanish here, but  $\partial_y^{2n} \overline{w}'_0$  does not. Using the translation invariance of the Euler equations we may assume w.l.o.g. that  $\overline{w}'_0$  attains its global minimum at y = 0. Moreover, using the hyperbolic scaling invariance of the Euler equations (see, for example, Section 1.3 in [10]), we may assume w.l.o.g. that  $\overline{w}'_0(0) = -1$ . The prototypical such function is given as

$$\overline{w}_0'(y) = -1 + y^{2n}$$
, for y close to 0,

suitably smooth for y away from 0,  $\mathbb{T}$ -periodic, and with zero mean on  $\mathbb{T}$ ; this last condition ensures that the function  $w_0(y) = w_0(0) + \int_0^y \overline{w}'_0(\overline{y}) d\overline{y}$  is  $\mathbb{T}$ -periodic. The constant  $w_0(0)$  is chosen such that  $w_0 > 0$  uniformly on  $\mathbb{T}$ , which is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>We mention here also the paper [40], which does not treat the Euler system, but instead considers dispersive and dissipative perturbations of the Burgers equation such as fractional KdV, fractal Burgers, and the Whitham equation. Theorem 1.1 in [40] shows that for a codimension 2n - 2 subset of  $H^{2n+3}(\mathbb{T})$ , the aforementioned models form a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  cusp as the first gradient singularity. As with [8], the proof in [40] is based on modulation theory, where the well-known smooth self-similar solutions to the inviscid Burgers equation (see [23]) are used as "profiles" in weighted  $L^2$ -based stability estimates. The proof approach taken in our paper avoids self-similar analysis, or knowledge of any explicit blowup profiles.

a "no-vacuum" assumption on the initial data. A precise definition of all permissible functions  $\overline{w}_0$  satisfying the above properties is given in (8.1) below. We henceforth fix such a function  $\overline{w}_0$ .

**Theorem 1.1 (Finite codimension-stable shock formation, abbreviated).** Let  $n \ge 1$  be an integer, and fix the adiabatic exponent  $\gamma > 1$ . Then there exists a codimension (2n-2) Banach submanifold  $\mathcal{M}_n$  of  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  which contains the point  $(\overline{u}_0, \overline{\sigma}_0, \overline{S}_0) := \frac{1}{2}(\overline{w}_0, \overline{w}_0, 0)$ , and an  $\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon_0(n, \gamma) > 0$  such that for all  $0 < \varepsilon \le \varepsilon_0$  the following holds. For any initial data  $(u_0, \sigma_0, S_0) \in \mathcal{M}_n \cap B_{\varepsilon}(\overline{u}_0, \overline{\sigma}_0, \overline{S}_0)$  (the ball of radius  $\varepsilon$  is taken with respect to the topology of  $W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ ), the unique classical solution  $(u, \sigma, S)$  of the one-dimensional Euler equations (1.5) with initial data  $(u, \sigma, S)$  forms a first gradient singularity for u and  $\sigma$  at time  $T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} + \mathcal{O}_{\gamma}(\varepsilon)$ .<sup>8</sup> The function S remains  $C^{1,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  smooth uniformly up to time  $T_*$ . Furthermore, at time  $T_*$  there exists a distinguished blowup point  $y_* \in \mathbb{T}$ , such that away from  $y = y_*$ , the variables  $(u, \sigma, S)(\cdot, T_*)$  remain  $W^{2n+2,\infty}$  smooth. Finally, the gradient singularity experienced by the velocity and sound speed correspond to a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  pre-shock, and the corresponding cusp profile is given by

$$u(y,T_*) = u(y_*,T_*) - \mathsf{b}(y-y_*)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_{\gamma,n}(|y-y_*|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}),$$
(1.6a)

$$\sigma(y, T_*) = \sigma(y_*, T_*) - \mathsf{b}(y - y_*)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_{\gamma, n}(|y - y_*|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}),$$
(1.6b)

$$S(y,T_*) = S(y_*,T_*) + \partial_y S(y_*,T_*)(y-y_*) + \mathcal{O}_{\gamma,n}(\varepsilon|y-y_*|^{1+\frac{1}{2n+1}}),$$
(1.6c)

for all y such that  $|y - y_*|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \lesssim 1$  and a constant b with the asymptotic  $b = (2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_{\gamma,n}(\varepsilon)$ .

The precise statement of our main result is given in Theorem 9.1 below, where both the assumptions and the conclusions are stated in terms of the Riemann variables  $(w, z, k) := (u + \sigma, u - \sigma, S)$  defined in (3.1). At this stage, we make a few comments concerning the statement of Theorem 1.1:

- (ii) In the case n = 2,  $\mathcal{M}_2$  is a codimension-2 submanifold of  $(W^{6,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  containing the point  $(\overline{u}_0, \overline{\sigma}_0, \overline{S}_0)$ , and the expansion (1.6) describes the cusp structure of a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{5}}$  pre-shock. This recovers (with a different proof) the result in [8], under milder regularity and smallness assumptions on the initial data (e.g.  $W^{6,\infty}$  instead of  $C^8$ ).
- (iii) The intuition behind the cusp-expansion (1.6) stems from an exact computation performed on the 1D Burgers equation (presented in § 2 below) and the transport-structure of the evolution equation satisfied by the Riemann variables (see § 3.1 below). At this stage we just note that if the initial data of the one-dimensional Euler equation is precisely the smooth function  $(\overline{u}_0, \overline{\sigma}_0, \overline{S}_0) := \frac{1}{2}(\overline{w}_0, \overline{w}_0, 0)$ , which corresponds to the limiting case  $\varepsilon \to 0$  at fixed  $n \ge 1$ , then for all  $t \in (0, T_*)$  the solution  $(u, \sigma, S)(\cdot, t)$  of (1.5) is given by  $\frac{1}{2}(\overline{w}, \overline{w}, 0)(\cdot, t)$ , where  $\overline{w}$  solves the 1D Burgers equation  $\partial_t \overline{w} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \overline{w} \partial_y \overline{w} = 0$ , with initial data  $\overline{w}_0$ . Now since  $\overline{w}'_0(y) = -1 + y^{2n}$  for y close to 0, and  $\overline{w}'_0(y) \ge -1 + C$  for y far from 0 (for some C > 0), the 1D Burgers equation develops a gradient singularity at exactly time  $T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha}$ , at exactly the location  $y_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} \overline{w}_0(0)$ , and the Puiseux expansion  $\overline{w}(y, T_*) = \overline{w}_0(0) 2(2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}(y-y_*)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_n(|y-y_*|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}})$  holds for all y sufficiently close to  $y_*$ . For 1D Burgers these facts were established earlier in [23, Proposition 9] using self-similar techniques.
- (iv) If further regularity assumptions are placed on the initial conditions, such as  $W^{2n+2+L,\infty}$  for some  $L \ge 1$ , then the  $\mathcal{O}_{\gamma,n}(|y-y_*|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}})$  term present in (1.6a)–(1.6b) and the  $\mathcal{O}_{\gamma,n}(\varepsilon|y-y_*|^{1+\frac{1}{2n+1}})$  term present in (1.6c) may be further expanded as  $(y-y_*)^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}$ , respectively  $(y-y_*)^{1+\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  multiplied by an  $(L-1)^{\text{th}}$  order Taylor polynomial in the variable  $(y-y_*)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  (a truncated Puiseux series). In fact, our proof (see § 9 and Appendix A) gives an algorithm for computing the coefficients of this truncated Puiseux series, resulting in explicit expressions of these coefficients similar to that for b, up to an  $\mathcal{O}_{\gamma,n}(\varepsilon)$  correction. To sum up, if the initial data is assumed to have L more bounded derivatives, then (1.6) may be expanded to L orders higher, with controlled coefficients and error bounds. For conciseness, in this paper we choose not to pursue these higher order expansions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Here and throughout the paper, the notation  $A \leq B$  is used to say that there exists a constant C > 0, which is independent of  $\gamma, n, \varepsilon$ , such that  $A \leq CB$ . We write  $A = \mathcal{O}(B)$  when  $|A| \leq B$ . If the implicit constant C in the  $\leq$  symbol also depends on a parameter F, we write  $A \leq_F B$ , and respectively  $A = \mathcal{O}_F(B)$ . See § 1.5 for details.

(v) We have chosen to pay great attention to how the parameter n enters the description about the Euler solution on the pre-shock; this is the main reason for the extended length of the paper. For instance, the estimate for the blowup time  $T_* = 2/(1+\alpha) + O_{\gamma}(\varepsilon)$  is independent of n. A much more subtle and delicate issue is the description of the parameter b appearing in (1.6) — to leading order in  $\varepsilon$  it is given by an explicit formula,  $(2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ . Equally subtle is the description of the range of y (close to  $y_*$ ) for which (1.6) holds — the implicit constant in  $|y - y_*|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \lesssim 1$  is independent of n (the precise bound is  $\leq 1/C_0$ , where  $C_0$  depends only on the choice of  $\overline{w}_0$ ). These n-independent bounds are important for Remark 1.2 below.

**Remark 1.2** (The Riemann data and the infinitely unstable limit  $n \to \infty$ ). Consider the limit as  $n \to \infty$  of the function  $E_n(y) := a - b_n(y - y_*)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ , where  $b_n := (2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  and a > 0 are constants. In view of item (v) in the above remarks, the function  $E_n$  precisely matches the cusp expressions (1.6a) and (1.6b) appearing in Theorem 1.1. While the pointwise limit may be easily computed as  $\lim_{n\to\infty} E_n(y) := a - \operatorname{sgn}(y - y_*)$ , which we recognize as the standard Riemann data of 1D gas dynamics (with left state a + 1 and right state a - 1), the constraint  $|y - y_*|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \leq 1/C_0$  present in (1.6) (see also item (v) above) means that the range of validity of this limit is trivial  $(y = y_*)$ . We thus highlight the fact that while formally the Puiseux series expansion at the pre-shock converges to the Riemann data in the infinitely unstable limit  $n \to \infty$ , drawing a direct connection between the solutions of 1D Euler constructed in Theorem 1.1 (as  $n \to \infty$ ) and the solution of the classical Riemann problem for 1D Euler, remains to date elusive.

1.4. **Outline and new ideas.** As we have already noted, the proof of Theorem 1.1 relies on the analysis of differentiated Riemann variables in the coordinates of the fast-acoustic characteristics. When coupled to energy estimates and geometric considerations, this perspective has proven itself to be fundamental in analyzing shock formation for multi-dimensional Euler in [42]. The proof of Theorem 1.1 proceeds as follows:

- First, we change variables and study the 1D Euler system in *differentiated Riemann variables* (see § 3.1) which allows us to include non-trivial entropy evolution without any derivative loss. Then, we change coordinates by analyzing the system when the functions are composed with the *fast acoustic characteristics*  $\eta$  of the system (see § 4.1). In these new *Lagrangian-type coordinates*, the dominant Riemann variable is effectively "frozen", analogous to how the solution of Burgers equation is frozen along its corresponding characteristics (see § 2). By making this change to Lagrangian-type coordinates, we are able to reduce the task of controlling the derivatives of the solution to that of controlling the derivatives of the subdominant Riemann variable, and the entropy (see e.g. § 5.2 and § 5.4).
- Second, we show in § 4 that for a broad class of initial data the solution forms a singularity in finite time, and that this singularity is characterized by the flow η of the fast acoustic characteristics becoming degenerate; that is η<sub>x</sub> → 0 at a distinguished point in spacetime.
- Third, in § 5 we prove that in Lagrangian coordinates the solution stays as smooth as the initial data, uniformly up to the time of the first singularity. To do this, we prove novel L<sup>q</sup> energy estimates for the time derivatives of the system which are uniform in 1 < q < ∞, and then send q → ∞ to obtain L<sup>∞</sup> bounds. After we have obtained L<sup>∞</sup> bounds on the time derivatives, the fact that the wave speeds are uniformly transverse to one another (since we are bounded away from vacuum) allows us extract bounds on mixed space-time derivatives from the time derivatives.
- Next, in § 6 we establish stability estimates for the Euler solution with respect to perturbations of the initial data. For instance, if the initial data for the dominant Riemann variable is given by w<sub>0</sub> = w
  <sub>0</sub> + λw
  <sub>0</sub>, for some parameter λ ∈ ℝ and with w
  <sub>0</sub>, w
  <sub>0</sub> fixed, we compute ∂<sub>λ</sub> of the resulting one-parameter family of solutions and establish uniform-in-λ bounds. In § 7 we bound the difference of two solutions in terms of the size of the difference of their initial data in (W<sup>2n+2,∞</sup>(T))<sup>3</sup>.
- After this, in § 8 we use the implicit function theorem to show that for initial data in a given open subset of (W<sup>2n+2,∞</sup>(T))<sup>3</sup> there exists a solution (x<sub>\*</sub>, T<sub>\*</sub>) of the system

$$\eta_x(x_*, T_*) = 0, \qquad \partial_x \eta_x(x_*, T_*) = 0, \qquad \dots \qquad \partial_x^{2n-1} \eta_x(x_*, T_*) = 0$$

if and only if this data lies on a codimension-(2n-2) Banach submanifold of  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ . Because this system has 2n equations and only 2 unknowns, this is precisely what one would expect. For all such data where a solution  $(x_*, T_*)$  exists, the solution is then shown to be unique.

Finally, in § 9 we invert the fast-acoustic flow map η at the site of the pre-shock using a *Puiseux series*, to obtain a description of the solution in the original Eulerian coordinates. Because in coordinates adapted to the fast acoustic characteristic, the solution remains as smooth as the initial data up to the time of the first gradient blowup, the regularity of the solution (w, z, k) in Eulerian variables is determined by the regularity of the inverse flow map η<sup>-1</sup>.

1.5. Notation. Throughout the paper we shall appeal to the following notational conventions:

- The notation  $A \leq B$  is used to say that there exists a constant C > 0, such that  $A \leq CB$ . Here, the implicit constant C is assumed to be *independent* of the parameters  $\alpha, n, \varepsilon$ , *independent* of  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$ , *independent* of the constant  $C_0 \geq 3$  (appearing in (3.6)), and *independent* of our choice of  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  (defined in (3.6)).
- The notation A ≤<sub>F</sub> B is used to indicate that there exists a constant C = C(F) > 0, such that A ≤ CB; that is, the implicit constant depends on the parameter F.
- We write  $A = \mathcal{O}(B)$  when  $|A| \leq B$ , and  $A = \mathcal{O}_F(B)$  when  $|A| \leq_F B$ .
- We write "If A ≪ B then X" to mean that there exists a constant C ≥ 1, independent of α, n, ε, x, t, C<sub>0</sub> and independent of our choice of (w<sub>0</sub>, z<sub>0</sub>, k<sub>0</sub>) ∈ A<sub>n</sub>(ε, C<sub>0</sub>), such that "if C · A ≤ B, then X is true".
- If f is a function defined on T × R, and η is a map defined on T × R, we will write "f ∘ η" to denote the function f ∘ η(x, t) := f(η(x, t), t).
- We use the notation  $\mathbb{1}_A$  to denote the characteristic function of a set A.
- We write ∂<sub>y</sub>f, ∂<sub>x</sub>f, ∂<sub>t</sub>f to denote the partial derivative of a function f with respect to y, x, and t respectively. If f is a function of (x, t), and β = (β<sub>x</sub>, β<sub>t</sub>) is a multi-index, we write ∂<sup>β</sup>f to denote ∂<sup>βx</sup><sub>x</sub>∂<sup>βt</sup><sub>t</sub>f. There are a few exceptions where we will use subscript notation to denote derivatives: η<sub>x</sub> := ∂<sub>x</sub>η, η<sub>xt</sub> := ∂<sub>x</sub>∂<sub>t</sub>η, Σ<sub>t</sub> := ∂<sub>t</sub>Σ, Σ<sub>x</sub> := ∂<sub>x</sub>Σ, (η<sub>x</sub>W̃)<sub>t</sub> := ∂<sub>t</sub>(η<sub>x</sub>W̃), (Σ<sup>-1</sup>)<sub>t</sub> := ∂<sub>t</sub>(Σ<sup>-1</sup>), (Σ<sup>-1</sup>)<sub>x</sub> := ∂<sub>x</sub>(Σ<sup>-1</sup>). In § 6 we will also use subscript notation to denote a derivative with respect to a parameter λ introduced in § 6, except when x or t is already being used as a subscript; so, for example, we will write ∂<sup>β</sup>K<sub>λ</sub> to mean ∂<sup>βx</sup><sub>x</sub> ∂<sup>βt</sup><sub>t</sub> ∂<sub>λ</sub>K̃ but we will write ∂<sub>λ</sub>η<sub>x</sub> to denote ∂<sub>x</sub>∂<sub>λ</sub>η.
- We write  $w'_0, z'_0$ , and  $k'_0$  to denote the first derivatives of  $w_0, z_0$ , and  $k_0$  respectively.

# 2. INTUITION FROM THE BURGERS EQUATION

This section aims to revisit some well-known aspects of the 1D Burgers equation from a specific perspective that will inform our proof for the 1D Euler equation. Though the examples presented are not novel, they offer valuable intuition; moreover, the 1D Burgers equation is embedded in the 1D Euler system. Indeed, upon inspecting (1.5), we see that if  $S|_{t=0} \equiv 0$ , then  $S(\cdot, t) \equiv 0$  for all times t prior to the first gradient singularity. In this case, the remaining equations (1.5a)–(1.5b) have a particular solution: if  $u|_{t=0} = \sigma|_{t=0}$  and  $S|_{t=0} \equiv 0$ , then the relation  $u(\cdot, t) \equiv \sigma(\cdot, t)$  holds for all times t prior to the first gradient singularity. Denoting  $u + \sigma = 2u = 2\sigma$  by w, we see that in this special case, (3.2) reduces to:

$$\partial_t w + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} w \partial_y w = 0, \tag{2.1}$$

Rescaling time with  $t \to \frac{1+\alpha}{2}t$ , this becomes the classical *inviscid Burgers equation* 

$$\partial_t w + w \partial_y w = 0, \tag{2.2}$$

the archetypal equation for shock formation and development.

Classically, (2.2) is solved by the method of characteristics. If w is a solution of (2.2) on  $\mathbb{R} \times [0, T]$  and we define the *characteristics*  $\eta$  to be the flow of the scalar field w, namely as the solution of

$$\frac{d}{dt}\eta(x,t) = w(\eta(x,t),t), \qquad \eta(x,0) = x,$$

then w must remain constant along the flow lines of  $\eta$ . From this it follows that if  $w_0(x) := w(x,0)$  then

$$\eta(x,t) = x + tw_0(x). \tag{2.3}$$

Thus, characteristics are straight lines in spacetime, and the line originating at the spacetime point (x, 0) has slope  $w_0(x)$ . Conversely, if we are given initial data  $w_0$  and we define  $\eta$  via (2.3), then one can construct a unique solution w via the implicit equation

$$w(\eta(x,t),t) = w_0(x)$$

at all points (y, t) such that the equation

$$(y,t) = (\eta(x,t),t)$$
 (2.4)

has a unique solution  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . For initial data  $w_0$  that is not monotone increasing in x, it is clear that (2.4) will not be uniquely solvable for all  $(y,t) \in \mathbb{R} \times [0,\infty)$ , resulting in a gradient singularity at some finite time  $T_* \in (0,\infty)$ . In particular, when  $w_0 \in C_{loc}^1(\mathbb{R})$ , the maximal time of existence and uniqueness of the  $C^1$  solution w of (2.2) is

$$T_* := \begin{cases} -\frac{1}{\inf w'_0} & \inf w'_0 < 0, \\ +\infty & \inf w'_0 \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Note that for all prior times  $0 \le t < T_*$  we have

$$\eta_x(x,t) = 1 + tw_0'(x) > 0,$$

and hence  $\eta(\cdot, t) : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a  $C^1$  diffeomorphism, but at the point  $(x_*, T_*)$  where  $\eta_x(x_*, t) \to 0$  as  $t \to T_*$ , we have  $\partial_y w(\eta(x_*, t), t) = w'_0(x_*)(\eta_x(x_*, t))^{-1} \to -\infty$ . Therefore, the first singularity in a  $C^1$  solution of Burgers equation is characterized by  $\eta$  ceasing to be a  $C^1$  diffeomorphism, i.e. the function  $\eta_x$  attaining a zero.

Now suppose that  $w_0$  is smooth,  $w'_0$  attains its global minimum at a point  $x_*$ , and  $w'_0(x_*) < 0$ . Our objective is to give a precise description of the solution w near the pre-shock  $(y_*, T_*) = (\eta(x_*, T_*), T_*)$ . Generically,  $x_*$  is a *non-degenerate* local minimum of  $w'_0$ , i.e. the second derivative test of calculus applies:

$$\partial_x w_0'(x_*) = 0,$$
 and  $\partial_x^2 w_0'(x_*) > 0.$ 

In this case, from (2.3) we deduce

$$\eta_x(x_*,T_*) = 0, \qquad \partial_x \eta_x(x_*,T_*) = T_* \partial_x w_0'(x_*) = 0, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \partial_x^2 \eta_x(x_*,T_*) = T_* \partial_x^2 w_0'(x_*) =: 3!a_3 > 0.$$

Therefore, assuming that  $w_0 \in C^4$ , Taylor's theorem yields

$$\eta(x, T_*) = \eta(x_*, T_*) + a_3(x - x_*)^3 [1 + \mathcal{O}(|x - x_*|)].$$

If  $y = \eta(x, T_*)$  and  $y_* = \eta(x_*, T_*)$ , then for y near  $y_*$  we have

$$x - x_* = \left(\frac{y - y_*}{a_3}\right)^{1/3} + \mathcal{O}(|y - y_*|^{2/3})$$

and thus

$$w(y,T_*) = w(\eta(x,T_*),T_*) = w_0(x) = w_0(x_*) + \frac{w'_0(x_*)}{1!}(x-x_*) + \mathcal{O}((x-x_*)^2)$$
$$= w(y_*,T_*) + w'_0(x_*) \left(\frac{y-y_*}{a_3}\right)^{1/3} + \mathcal{O}(|y-y_*|^{2/3}).$$
(2.5)

Thus, the Taylor series expansion of the smooth function  $(w \circ \eta)(\cdot, T_*) = w_0(\cdot)$  with respect to  $x - x_*$ , becomes a *fractional series expansion* of the Hölder continuous function  $w(\cdot, T_*)$  with respect to  $(y-y_*)^{1/3}$ . Since by assumption we have that  $w'_0(x_*) < 0$ , the expansion (2.5) shows that  $w(\cdot, T_*)$  forms a  $C^{0,\frac{1}{3}}$ -cusp at  $(y_*, T_*)$ , resembling  $-y^{1/3}$ . The above described behavior is moreover *stable* under small  $W^{4,\infty}$  perturbations to  $w_0$ , because all functions  $w_0$  close enough to our original function in  $W^{4,\infty}$  are going to be such that  $w'_0$  attains its minimum at a point nearby  $x_*$ , the minimum will still be negative, and it will still be a non-degenerate critical point of  $w'_0$ .

Consider next the case when  $w'_0$  attains its global minimum at a *degenerate* critical point  $x_*$ , and the derivatives of  $w'_0$  do not vanish to infinite order at  $x_*$ . Then, necessarily there would exist some integer  $n \ge 2$  such that

$$\partial_x^i w_0'(x_*)=0 \ \ \text{for all} \ \ i\in\{1,\ldots,2n-1\}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \partial_x^{2n} w_0'(x_*)>0\,.$$

The integer n is sometimes referred to as the *order of flatness* of  $w'_0$  at the critical point  $x_*$ . In this case, the same arguments as before would imply that

$$x - x_* = \left(\frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}(|y - y_*|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}),$$

where

$$1 + T_* w_0'(x_*) = 0, \quad T_* \partial_x w_0'(x_*) = 0, \quad \dots \quad T_* \partial_x^{2n-1} w_0'(x_*) = 0, \quad T_* \partial_x^{2n} w_0'(x_*) =: (2n+1)! a_{2n+1} > 0.$$

The result is that  $w(\cdot, T_*)$  forms a  $C^{0, \frac{1}{2n+1}}$ -cusp at  $(y_*, T_*)$ , resembling  $-y^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ . Such a behavior, however, is *unstable* under smooth perturbations.

For example, the prototypical function which attains a global minimum at a degenerate critical point  $x_*$ , and whose derivative exhibits flatness of order 2n at  $x_*$ , is given by

$$\overline{w}_0(x) = -x + \frac{1}{2n+1}x^{2n+1}, \qquad (2.6)$$

for which with  $x_* = 0$ . When  $n \ge 2$ , the  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth and locally small (take  $0 < \varepsilon \le 1$  small) perturbation  $w_0(x) := \overline{w}_0(x) + \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon x^3$  represents a function which attains its global minimum at  $x_*(\varepsilon) := 0$ , but now this global minimum is non-degenerate since  $\partial_x^2 w'_0(x_*(\varepsilon)) = 2\varepsilon > 0$ . A more interesting example is given by the  $C^{\infty}$ -smooth and locally small perturbation  $w_0(x) := \overline{w}_0(x) - \frac{1}{3}\varepsilon x^3$ , which attains its global minimum simultaneously at two points  $x_*(\varepsilon) := \pm (\varepsilon/n)^{\frac{1}{2n-2}}$ , and each of these global minima are non-degenerate since  $\partial_x^2 w'_0(x_*(\varepsilon)) = 2\varepsilon(2n-2) > 0$ . These examples provide the simple reason behind the instability of  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ -cusp singularities for 1D Burgers.

Next, we discuss the finite codimension stability of  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ -cusp singularities for 1D Burgers dynamics, from a perspective which will turn out to be useful when discussing 1D Euler. Recall the function  $\overline{w}_0$  defined in (2.6), and let

 $\overline{w}$  be the solution of 1D Burgers (2.2) on  $\mathbb{R}$  with initial data  $\overline{w}_0$ . Since  $\overline{w}'_0$  has a unique global minimum at  $x_* = 0$ , and at this point  $\overline{w}'_0(0) = -1$ , the solution  $\overline{w}$  develops a singularity at time  $T_* = 1$ . At the blowup time, we have

$$\eta(x,1) = \frac{1}{2n+1}x^{2n+1}$$

and therefore if  $y = \eta(x, 1)$ , so that  $y_* = \eta(x_*, 1) = 0$ , then

$$x = ((2n+1)y)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$$

resulting in the precise and global description of the  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ -cusp at y = 0:

$$\overline{w}(y,1) = \overline{w}_0(x) = -(2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}y^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + y.$$
(2.7)

The above scenario is in fact stable under suitable perturbations.

**Proposition 2.1** (Stability and finite codimension-stability). Let  $n \ge 1$  be an integer, let  $\overline{w}_0$  be defined as in (2.6), and define for  $\varepsilon \in (0, 1]$  the ball

$$U_{\varepsilon}^{n} := \{ w_{0} : \| w_{0} - \overline{w}_{0} \|_{C^{2n+1}} < \varepsilon \}$$

Then there is a codimension-(2n - 2) Banach manifold  $\mathcal{M}_n$  of initial data in  $U_{\varepsilon}^n$  such that for all data  $w_0 \in \mathcal{M}_n$  the unique solution w has a first singularity at a unique point  $(y_*, T_*) = (0, 1) + \mathcal{O}_n(\varepsilon)$  and at that point w of (2.2) forms a cusp resembling (2.7).

*Proof.* Since  $\partial_x^{2n} w'_0(x) \ge (2n)! - \varepsilon$  uniformly in x for all  $w_0 \in U_{\varepsilon}^n$ , there is a unique  $\mathring{x}$  in  $\mathbb{R}$  such that  $\partial_x^{2n-1} w'_0(\mathring{x}) = 0$ , and  $\mathring{x}$  satisfies  $|\mathring{x}| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{(2n)! - \varepsilon}$ . In the case n = 1,  $\mathring{x}$  is the unique critical point of  $w'_0$  and is its global minimum. In the case  $n \ge 2$ , define the function  $f: U_{\varepsilon}^n \to \mathbb{R}^{2n-2}$ ,

$$f(w_0) := \begin{bmatrix} \partial_x w'_0(\mathring{x}) \\ \vdots \\ \partial_x^{2n-2} w'_0(\mathring{x}) \end{bmatrix}$$

If  $f(w_0) = (0, 0..., 0)$ , then Taylor expanding  $w'_0$  about  $x = \mathring{x}$  gives us  $w'_0(x) \ge w'_0(\mathring{x}) + [(2n)! - \varepsilon](x - \mathring{x})^{2n}$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ , so  $\mathring{x}$  is the unique global minimum of  $w'_0$ . If we define  $\mathcal{M}_1 = U_{\varepsilon}^1$ , and  $\mathcal{M}_n = \{f = 0\}$  for  $n \ge 2$ , then it is straightforward to show that at time  $-1/w'_0(\mathring{x})$  the solution w of (2.2) with initial data  $w_0 \in \mathcal{M}_n$ , develops a cusp resembling  $-y^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$ .

When  $n \ge 2$ , we can observe that  $\mathcal{M}_n$  is a Banach manifold using the Implicit Function Theorem. All  $w_0 \in U_{\varepsilon}^n$  can be decomposed as

$$w_0(x) = \overline{w}_0(x) + \left(\frac{\lambda_1}{2!}x^2 + \frac{\lambda_2}{3!}x^3 + \dots + \frac{\lambda_{2n-2}}{(2n-1)!}x^{2n-1}\right)\chi(x) + \widetilde{w}_0(x)$$

where  $\chi$  is a  $C^{\infty}$  bump function with  $\mathbb{1}_{[-1,1]} \leq \chi \leq \mathbb{1}_{[-3,3]}$ , the  $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{2n-2}$  are sufficiently small (with respect to  $\varepsilon$  and n) real numbers, and  $\tilde{w}_0$  is a sufficiently small (with respect to  $\varepsilon$  and n)  $C^{2n+1}$  function satisfying  $\partial_x^j \tilde{w}_0'(0) = 0$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$ . To see this, simply define  $\lambda_j := \partial_x^j w_0'(0)$ , and then declare  $\tilde{w}_0$  to be the remainder in the above formula; since  $\partial_x^j \overline{w}_0'(0) = 0$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$ , it is clear that  $\tilde{w}_0$  will then satisfy  $\partial_x^j \tilde{w}_0'(0) = 0$  for  $j = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$ . Viewing the critical point  $\mathring{x}$  as a function of  $\{\lambda_j\}_{j=1}^{2n-2}$  and  $\tilde{w}_0$ , and differentiating the expression  $\partial_x^{2n-1} w_0'(\mathring{x}) = 0$  respect to  $\lambda_j$ , taking into account that both  $w_0'$  and  $\mathring{x}$  are implicitly functions of  $\lambda_j$ , and using that  $\chi'(\mathring{x}) = 0$ , we deduce

$$\partial_x^{2n} w_0'(\mathring{x}) \frac{\partial \mathring{x}}{\partial \lambda_i} = 0$$
, for all  $j = 1, \dots, 2n - 2$ .

From the positive lower bound  $\partial_x^{2n} w_0'(\dot{x}) \ge (2n)! - \varepsilon$  it follows that  $\frac{\partial \dot{x}}{\partial \lambda_j} = 0$  for all  $j = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$ . Therefore, writing the  $i^{\text{th}}$  component of the function f as  $f^i = \partial_x^i w_0'(\dot{x})$ , and using that  $\frac{\partial \dot{x}}{\partial \lambda_j} = 0$ , we may similarly obtain

$$\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial \lambda_j} = \partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0'(\mathring{x}) \frac{\partial \mathring{x}}{\partial \lambda_j} + \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_j} \left( \sum_{k=i}^{2n-2} \frac{\lambda_k}{(k-i)!} \mathring{x}^{k-i} \right) + \partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_0'(\mathring{x}) \frac{\partial \mathring{x}}{\partial \lambda_j} = \frac{\mathring{x}^{j-i}}{(j-i)!} \mathbb{1}_{j \ge i}$$

for all i, j = 1, ..., 2n - 2. Since  $|\mathring{x}| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{(2n)! - \varepsilon}$ , it follows that

$$D_{\lambda}f = \mathrm{Id} + \mathcal{O}_n(\varepsilon)$$

everywhere in  $U_{\varepsilon}^{n}$ . Therefore, for each choice of  $\widetilde{w}_{0}$  (lying in a sufficiently small ball, of radius related to  $\varepsilon$  and n, in  $C^{2n+1}$ ) there is a unique choice of  $(\lambda_{1}, \ldots, \lambda_{2n-2})$  such that  $f(\lambda_{1}, \ldots, \lambda_{2n-2}, \widetilde{w}_{0}) = 0$ , i.e., such that the corresponding  $w_{0}$  lies in  $\mathcal{M}_{n}$ . The Implicit Function Theorem yields that his choice of  $\{\lambda_{j}\}_{j=1}^{2n-2}$  is given by a  $C^{1}$  function of  $\widetilde{w}_{0}$  (in the sense of Fréchet derivatives).

#### 3. THE DIFFERENTIATED RIEMANN VARIABLES, THE INITIAL DATA, AND A BLOWUP CRITERION

Returning to the 1D Euler equations (1.5), in this section we introduce the classical and the differentiated Riemanntype variables which are used in our analysis, we precisely characterize the set of initial conditions with which we work with, and we give a characterization of the time  $T_*$  of the first gradient singularity.

3.1. Classical and differentiated Riemann variables. For many first-order hyperbolic systems in one space dimension, it can be fruitful to analyze the PDE in terms of *Riemann variables*, which in a sense diagonalize the system. For the 1D Euler equations, the Riemann variables w and z are defined as follows:

$$w := u + \sigma, \qquad z := u - \sigma, \qquad k := S. \tag{3.1}$$

Above we have also introduced the notation k for the specific entropy S in order to distinguish the Riemann set of variables (w, z, k) from the classical ones,  $(u, \sigma, S)$ . With respect to the (w, z, k) variables the 1D Euler equations (1.5) become

$$\partial_t w + \lambda_3 \partial_y w = \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \sigma^2 \partial_y k, \tag{3.2a}$$

$$\partial_t z + \lambda_1 \partial_y z = \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \sigma^2 \partial_y k, \tag{3.2b}$$

$$\partial_t k + \lambda_2 \partial_y k = 0, \tag{3.2c}$$

where

$$\lambda_1 := u - \alpha \sigma = \frac{1-\alpha}{2}w + \frac{1+\alpha}{2}z,$$
  

$$\lambda_2 := u = \frac{1}{2}w + \frac{1}{2}z,$$
  

$$\lambda_3 := u + \alpha \sigma = \frac{1+\alpha}{2}w + \frac{1-\alpha}{2}z.$$

The functions  $\lambda_i$  are the *wave speeds* of the system. Most important to us will be  $\lambda_3 = u + \alpha \sigma = u + c$ , which is the *fast acoustic wave speed*. The *fast acoustic characteristics* are denoted by  $\eta$  and are as the solutions of the ODE via

$$\partial_t \eta(x,t) = \lambda_3(\eta(x,t),t), \qquad \eta(x,0) = 0.$$
(3.3)

That is,  $\eta$  is the flow of the fast acoustic wave speed.

Because the 1D Euler equations have both Galilean transformations and additions of a constant entropy as symmetries, all of the essential dynamics of (1.5) are captured by studying  $\sigma$ ,  $\partial_y u$ ,  $\partial_y \sigma$ , and  $\partial_y S$ . Therefore, it makes sense to study (3.2) in terms of  $\sigma$ ,  $\partial_y w$ ,  $\partial_y z$ , and  $\partial_y k$ . If one takes  $\partial_y$  of the system (3.2), and diagonalizes the system (omitting terms which are quadratic or cubic in  $\partial_y w$ ,  $\partial_y z$ , and  $\partial_y k$ ), one arrives at the *differentiated Riemann variables*  $(\mathring{w}, \mathring{z}, \mathring{k})$ , defined via

$$\mathring{w} := \partial_y w - \frac{1}{2\alpha} \sigma \partial_y k, \tag{3.4a}$$

$$\mathring{z} := \partial_y z + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sigma \partial_y k, \tag{3.4b}$$

$$\mathring{k} := \partial_{\eta} k, \tag{3.4c}$$

and which satisfy the evolution equations

$$\partial_t \mathring{w} + \lambda_3 \partial_y \mathring{w} = -\mathring{w} \partial_y \lambda_3 + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sigma \mathring{k}(\mathring{w} + \mathring{z}) = -\mathring{w}(\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\mathring{w} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2}\mathring{z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\sigma \mathring{k}) + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}\sigma \mathring{k}(\mathring{w} + \mathring{z})$$
(3.5a)

$$\partial_t \mathring{z} + \lambda_1 \partial_y \mathring{z} = -\mathring{z} \partial_y \lambda_1 - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sigma \mathring{k} (\mathring{w} + \mathring{z}) = -\mathring{z} (\frac{1-\alpha}{2} \mathring{w} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{z} - \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \sigma \mathring{k}) - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sigma \mathring{k} (\mathring{w} + \mathring{z})$$
(3.5b)

$$\partial_t \mathring{k} + \lambda_2 \partial_y \mathring{k} = -\mathring{k} \partial_y \lambda_2 = -\mathring{k} (\frac{1}{2} \mathring{w} + \frac{1}{2} \mathring{z}).$$
(3.5c)

The differentiated Riemann variables will allow us to study the evolution of the system without derivative loss; indeed, it is evident from (3.5) that these are three coupled transport equations with right hand sides which are polynomial expressions of the unknowns (see also (4.5) below). The "ring super-index" in the notation of (3.4) is present to signify that differentiation has taken place; this notation is chosen for consistency with [42].

For the remainder of this paper, we will study the Cauchy problem for the system (3.2) and (3.5). Next, we describe the initial data for these systems, by specifying the set  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  where  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  lies. The functions  $(\mathring{w}_0, \mathring{z}_0, \mathring{k}_0) := (w'_0 - \frac{1}{2\gamma}\sigma_0 k'_0, z'_0 + \frac{1}{2\gamma}\sigma_0 k'_0, k'_0)$  and  $\sigma_0 = \frac{1}{2}(w_0 + z_0)$  are then defined as a consequence.

3.2. Assumptions on the initial data. The domain of our functions will be  $\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$ , where  $\mathbb{T} := \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  is the torus. We will use the notation |x - x'| to denote the distance between two points x, x' on the torus. We will often implicitly identify the torus with the interval  $[-\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2})$  when describing functions in a neighborhood of the point  $0 = 0 + \mathbb{Z} \in \mathbb{T}$ . Fix a constant  $C_0 \ge 3$  and an integer  $n \ge 1$ . Assume that the initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  of (3.2) satisfies

$$\frac{1}{2} < \sigma_0 = \frac{1}{2}(w_0 + z_0) < 2, \tag{3.6a}$$

$$-1 - \varepsilon < \min_{\mathbb{T}} w_0' < -1 + \varepsilon, \tag{3.6b}$$

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1} w_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_0^i (1+\varepsilon) \qquad \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1,$$
(3.6c)

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1} z_0\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{i!} < C_0^i \varepsilon \qquad \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1,$$
(3.6d)

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}k_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_0^i \varepsilon \qquad \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1.$$
(3.6e)

The constraints listed in (3.6a)–(3.6e) define an open set

$$\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \subset (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3.$$
(3.7)

We will show that the solution (w, z, k) emanating from data in this open set all form a gradient singularity at roughly the same time, and we will prove uniform derivative estimates for all solutions with data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ .

The definition of  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  does not require any zeroth order constraints other than (3.6a) because the Euler equations have Galilean transformations and additions of constant entropy as symmetries (though they are not invariant under constant perturbations to the mass density). The constraint (3.6b) is not strictly necessary for the formation of the shock to occur, but is rather used to pin down the blowup time  $T_*$  (see § 3.3 for a definition of  $T_*$ ); this follows from the time-rescaling symmetry of the Euler equations. In § 8.4 we will impose additional constraints on the initial data in order to say more about how the spatial location of the pre-shock is approximately determined by the initial data; since the Euler equations are invariant under spatial translations, we will not need such specifications until then.

3.3. Local well-posedness and the Eulerian blowup criterion. The Euler equations (1.5) are locally well-posed in  $H^s(\mathbb{T})$  for  $s > \frac{3}{2}$ . In particular, for  $u_0, \sigma_0, S_0 \in H^s(\mathbb{T})$  with  $\sigma_0 > 0$  everywhere, there exists a positive maximal time of existence  $T_* \in (0, +\infty]$  such that (1.5) has a unique  $C_{y,t}^1$ -smooth solution  $(u, \sigma, S)$  on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*)$ , and furthermore

$$(u, \sigma, S) \in C([0, T_*); (H^s(\mathbb{T}))^3) \cap C^1([0, T_*); (H^{s-1}(\mathbb{T}))^3)$$

Additionally,  $T_*$  can only be finite if: (a) the solution  $(u, \sigma, S)$  develops vacuum or implodes in finite time, meaning that either  $\min_{y \in \mathbb{T}} \sigma(\cdot, t) \to 0$  as  $t \to T_*$  or  $||(u, \sigma, S)(\cdot, t)||_{L_y^{\infty}} \to \infty$  as  $t \to T_*$ ; (b) the solutions' gradients blow up in finite time, at a non-integrable rate, meaning that it satisfies the *Eulerian blowup criterion* 

$$\int_0^{T_*} \left( \|\partial_y u(\cdot, t)\|_{L^\infty} + \|\partial_y \sigma(\cdot, t)\|_{L^\infty} + \|\partial_y S(\cdot, t)\|_{L^\infty} \right) dt = +\infty.$$
(3.8)

These facts follow from the classical local well-posedness theory of symmetrizable quasilinear hyperbolic systems (see e.g. [25, Chapter V], or [35, Chapter 2]).

For the 1D Euler equations (1.5), it is known that neither vacuum formation nor finite-time implosion is not possible on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*)$  (see [14, 13] and Proposition 4.1 for the initial data studied in this paper), for any choice of  $u_0, \sigma_0, S_0 \in$  $H^s(\mathbb{T})$  with  $\sigma_0 > 0$  everywhere and  $s > \frac{3}{2}$ ; using this uniform upper and lower bound on the sound speed, one can show that  $(u, \sigma, S)$  remain uniformly bounded on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*)$ . That is, option (a) above is not available to the 1D Euler<sup>9</sup> dynamics with smooth and non-vacuous initial conditions. Thus, the Eulerian blowup criterion (3.8) determines whether a finite-time singularity occurs at a time  $T_* < \infty$ .

The Eulerian blowup criterion (3.8) simultaneously serves as a continuation criterion for smooth solutions, and as a criterion for the propagation of higher regularity. Of relevance to this manuscript is the fact that if the initial data  $u_0, \sigma_0, S_0 \in W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}) \subset H^2(\mathbb{T}), \sigma_0$  is positive, and  $T_*$  is defined via (3.8) as the maximal time of existence of a  $C^1_{y,t}$ -smooth solution, then for all  $t \in (0, T_*)$  we have that  $||(u, \sigma, S)(\cdot, t)||_{W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T})} < \infty$  (naturally, the upper bound blows up as  $t \to T_*$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>In multiple space dimensions, this is not the case: smooth finite-time implosions may be constructed [36, 37, 5, 12, 17, 16]. The formation of vacuum in finite time, for smooth multi-dimensional Euler dynamics remains however to date open.

The Eulerian blowup criterion may also be stated in terms of Riemann variables. If  $n \ge 1$ , then for all initial data  $w_0, z_0, k_0 \in W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  with  $w_0 - z_0 > 0$  there exists a positive maximal time of existence  $T_* \in (0, +\infty]$  for which (3.2) has a unique  $C_{u,t}^1$  solution (w, z, k) on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*)$  and if  $T_* < \infty$  then

$$\int_{0}^{T_{*}} \left( \|\partial_{y}w(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\partial_{y}z(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{\infty}} + \|\partial_{y}k(\cdot,t)\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) dt = +\infty.$$
(3.9)

For the initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , we will prove that  $T_*$  is finite, so we will refer to  $T_*$  in this context as the *blowup time*.

#### 4. INITIAL ESTIMATES ALONG THE FAST ACOUSTIC CHARACTERISTIC

Let  $\eta$  be the fast acoustic characteristics defined in (3.3). We will show that for all initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , the corresponding solution (w, z, k) of (3.2) stays as smooth as the initial data when precomposed with  $\eta$ , i.e. the functions  $w \circ \eta, z \circ \eta$ , and  $k \circ \eta$  stay as smooth as  $w_0, z_0$ , and  $k_0$  all the way up until its maximal time of existence,  $T_*$ . For all data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , the maximal time of existence will be shown to be finite, and will be approximately determined as

$$T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}(\varepsilon)$$
.

Furthermore, the time  $T_*$  will be characterized as the first time when  $\eta$  ceases being a diffeomorphism. That is,  $T_*$  will be equivalently characterized in terms of the Lagrangian blowup criterion

$$\lim_{t \to T_*} \left( \min_{x \in \mathbb{T}} \eta_x(x, t) \right) = 0$$

If  $(y,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$  are the *Eulerian variables* which the functions w, z, k take as inputs, we will define the *Lagrangian variables*  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{R}$  via the equation

$$(y,t) = (\eta(x,t),t).$$
 (4.1)

We will spend the rest of the paper studying the Euler system in terms of functions of these Lagrangian variables defined in § 4.1. In § 4.2, we prove that for all data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  the solution exists up until a time  $T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} + \mathcal{O}_\alpha(\varepsilon)$  at which point  $\eta_x$  must have a zero, which corresponds to  $\partial_y w$  diverging to  $-\infty$ . Then in § 5 we will perform energy estimates in  $L^p$  for the higher order derivatives with respect to x and t. In § 6 we utilize similar energy estimates to quantify the stability of solutions with data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  with respect to small perturbations in  $w_0$ .

4.1. The system in Lagrangian variables. With the differentiated Riemann variables  $\hat{w}, \hat{z}, \hat{k}$  introduced in (3.4), we define

$$\Sigma := \sigma \circ \eta \,, \qquad \dot{W} := \dot{w} \circ \eta \,, \qquad \dot{Z} := \dot{z} \circ \eta \,, \qquad \dot{K} := \dot{k} \circ \eta \,.$$

These are functions of the Lagrangian variables (x, t).

It is straightforward to compute that

$$\Sigma_t = -\alpha \Sigma \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\alpha} \Sigma^2 \mathring{K}, \tag{4.2a}$$

$$\Sigma_x = \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}, \qquad (4.2b)$$

$$(\Sigma^{-1})_t = \alpha \Sigma^{-1} \mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \mathring{K}, \tag{4.2c}$$

$$\eta_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}$$
(4.2d)

$$(\eta_x \mathring{W})_t = \frac{\alpha}{4\pi} \Sigma \mathring{K}(\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z}).$$
 (4.2e)

One can deduce from (3.2) that

$$\partial_t (k \circ \eta) = \alpha \Sigma \check{K}$$

Letting  $\partial_x$  act on both sides of this equation, we have that

$$\partial_t(\eta_x \mathring{K}) = \alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{K} + \alpha \Sigma_x \mathring{K}, \quad \Rightarrow \quad \eta_x \partial_t \mathring{K} = \alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{K} + (\alpha \Sigma_x - \eta_{xt}) \mathring{K}.$$

Plugging in (4.2b) and (4.2d) gives us

$$\eta_x \partial_t \mathring{K} = \alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{K} - \frac{1}{2} \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}.$$
(4.3)

We can also derive a similar equation for Z. Since

$$\partial_t u + \lambda_3 \partial_y u = \alpha \sigma \mathring{z},$$

we conclude that

$$\partial_t(u \circ \eta) = \alpha \Sigma \check{Z}.$$

Letting  $\partial_x$  act on both sides of this equation and rearranging shows that

$$\partial_t(\eta_x \check{Z}) = 2\alpha \partial_x(\Sigma \check{Z}) - (\eta_x \check{W})_t$$

Expanding this equation and using (4.2b) - (4.2e) gives us the identity

$$\eta_x \partial_t \mathring{Z} = 2\alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{Z} - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} \mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z}^2 + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}.$$
(4.4)

For the rest of the paper, we will work with the variables  $\eta_x, \Sigma, \eta_x \mathring{W}, \mathring{Z}$ , and  $\mathring{K}$ , which solve the following system:

$$\Sigma_t = -\alpha \Sigma \ddot{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\alpha} \Sigma^2 \ddot{K}, \tag{4.5a}$$

$$\Sigma_x = \frac{1}{2}\eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2\gamma}\eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}, \tag{4.5b}$$

$$(\Sigma^{-1})_t = \alpha \Sigma^{-1} \mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \mathring{K}, \tag{4.5c}$$

$$\eta_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}$$
(4.5d)

$$(\eta_x \mathring{W})_t = \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}(\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z})$$
(4.5e)

$$\eta_x \partial_t \mathring{K} = \alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{K} - \frac{1}{2} \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}$$
(4.5f)

$$\eta_x \partial_t \mathring{Z} = 2\alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{Z} - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} \mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z}^2 + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}.$$
(4.5g)

Notice that we are treating the product  $\eta_x \mathring{W}$  as one of the basic variables rather than analyzing  $\mathring{W}$  on its own. This is because the product  $\eta_x \mathring{W}$  will remain as smooth as the initial data while  $\mathring{W}$  does not.

4.2. Initial estimates and determination of the blowup time. We will show that  $\Sigma, \Sigma^{-1}, \eta_x, \eta_x \mathring{W}, \mathring{Z}$  and  $\mathring{K}$  all remain bounded as long as the solution exists, that the solution exists up until a time  $T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}(\varepsilon)$ , and that at time  $T_* \eta_x$  must have a zero.

Proposition 4.1. Define the constants

$$B_{z} := 6^{\frac{2}{\min(1,\alpha)}} (2 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) e^{21}, \quad and \quad B_{k} := 6^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}.$$
(4.6)

Note that  $B_k < B_z$ . If  $\varepsilon$  is chosen small enough such that

$$(1+B_z)\varepsilon \ll 1,$$

then for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T_* \wedge \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}))$  we have that

$$\frac{1}{3} \le \Sigma \le 3, \tag{4.7a}$$

$$|\eta_x \tilde{W}| \le \frac{4}{3},\tag{4.7b}$$

$$\eta_x \le 3,\tag{4.7c}$$

$$|\mathring{K}| \le B_k \varepsilon, \tag{4.7d}$$

$$|\mathring{Z}| \le B_z \varepsilon, \tag{4.7e}$$

and

$$\eta_x \mathring{W} \le -\frac{1}{2} + 4\eta_x. \tag{4.8}$$

*Proof.* We will proceed with a bootstrap argument. Fix  $T \in [0, T_* \land \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}))$  and pick a constant

# $B_z < A < 2B_z.$

We make the following bootstrap assumptions:

$\frac{1}{4} \le \Sigma \le 4$	$\forall (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T],$
$ \eta_x \mathring{W}  \le 2$	$\forall (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T],$
$\eta_x \le 4$	$\forall (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T],$
$ \mathring{K}  \leq A\varepsilon$	$\forall (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T],$

$$|\mathring{Z}| \leq A\varepsilon \qquad \qquad \forall \, (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T].$$

It follows from (4.2a) that

$$\Sigma(x,t) = \sigma_0(x) \exp\left(\int_0^t (-\alpha \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K})(x,s) \, ds\right).$$

Since  $T \leq \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})$  and  $\frac{2\alpha}{1+\alpha}(1+\frac{2}{\gamma}) < 2$ , it follows that

$$\Sigma, \Sigma^{-1} \le 2e^{\alpha t A(1+\frac{2}{\gamma})\varepsilon} \le 2e^{2A(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\varepsilon}$$

It follows that if  $\varepsilon \ll B_z$  and  $\varepsilon \ll 1$  then

$$\frac{1}{3} \leq \Sigma \leq 3 \qquad \qquad \forall (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T]$$

To improve upon the second bootstrap assumption, plugging  $\Sigma \leq 3$  and our bootstrap assumptions into (4.2e) gives us the bound

$$|(\eta_x \mathring{W})_t| \le \frac{3}{8} A\varepsilon (2 + 4A\varepsilon).$$

Since

$$(\eta_x \mathring{W})(x,t) = w'_0(x) - \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sigma_0(x) k'_0(x) + \int_0^t (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t(x,s) \, ds$$

it follows that

$$\left| (\eta_x \mathring{W})(x,t) - w_0'(x) \right| \le \frac{1}{\gamma} \varepsilon + \frac{2}{1+\alpha} (1 + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}) \frac{3}{8} A \varepsilon (2 + 4A\varepsilon) .$$

$$\tag{4.9}$$

Therefore,

$$\eta_x \mathring{W}| \le 1 + \varepsilon \left[1 + \frac{1}{\gamma} + (1 + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\frac{3}{4}A(2 + 4A\varepsilon)\right] \le \frac{4}{3}$$

if  $B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  and  $\varepsilon \ll 1$ . This proves our second inequality.

To prove the third inequality in (4.7), our identity (4.2d) for  $\eta_{xt}$  paired with (4.9) gives us

$$\eta_x = 1 + \int_0^t \eta_{xt} \, ds = 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t w_0' + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \int_0^t (\eta_x \mathring{W} - w_0') \, ds + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \int_0^t \eta_x \mathring{Z} \, ds + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \int_0^t \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K} \, ds$$
$$= 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t w_0' + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1+\alpha}{2} t(1+A\varepsilon)(1+A)\varepsilon)$$
$$= 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t w_0' + \mathcal{O}((1+A\varepsilon)(1+A)\varepsilon)$$

provided that  $\varepsilon \ll 1$ . Therefore

$$\left|\eta_{xt}(x,t) - 1 - \frac{1+\alpha}{2}tw_0'(x)\right| \le \mathcal{O}((1+A\varepsilon)(1+A)\varepsilon).$$
(4.10)

From here it follows that

$$\eta_x \le 1 + (1 + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})(1 + \varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}((1 + A\varepsilon)(1 + A)\varepsilon) \le 3$$

for all  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, T]$ .

Before improving upon the last two bootstrap assumptions, we will prove (4.8) for  $t \le T$ . When  $0 \le t \le T \land \frac{1}{1+\alpha}$ , (4.10) gives us

$$\eta_x \ge 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t w'_0 + \mathcal{O}((1+A\varepsilon)(1+A)\varepsilon)$$
$$\ge 1 - \frac{1}{2}(1+\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}((1+A\varepsilon)(1+A)\varepsilon).$$

Using this lower bound in conjunction with (4.9) results in

$$\eta_x \mathring{W} \le 1 + \mathcal{O}((1 + A\varepsilon)(1 + A)\varepsilon)$$
  
= 1 - 4\eta\_x + 4\eta\_x + \mathcal{O}((1 + A\varepsilon)(1 + A)\varepsilon)  
\le -1 + 4\eta\_x + \mathcal{O}((1 + A\varepsilon)(1 + A)\varepsilon)  
\le -\frac{1}{2} + 4\eta\_x.

The last inequality here is true provided that  $(1 + B_z)\varepsilon \ll 1$ . For  $\frac{1}{1+\alpha} \le t \le T$  we have  $1 + \alpha \ge \frac{1}{t} \ge \frac{1+\alpha}{2(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})}$ , so the inequalities (4.9) and (4.10) imply that

$$\eta_x \mathring{W} = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} \frac{1}{t} (\eta_x - 1) + \frac{2}{1+\alpha} \frac{1}{t} (1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t w_0' - \eta_x) + (\eta_x \mathring{W} - w_0')$$
  
$$\leq 2\eta_x - \frac{1}{1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}} + \frac{2}{1+\alpha} \frac{1}{t} (1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t w_0' - \eta_x) + (\eta_x \mathring{W} - w_0')$$

$$= 2\eta_x - \frac{1}{1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}} + \mathcal{O}((1+A\varepsilon)(1+A)\varepsilon)$$
  
$$\leq 2\eta_x - \frac{1}{2}.$$

This proves (4.8) for  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, T]$ . We will now use this inequality to prove the last two inequalities. For  $1 < q < \infty$  and a constant  $\delta \ge 0$  to be determined, define the quantities

$$\mathcal{E}_k^{0,q}(t) := \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_x |\mathring{K}|^q \, dx,$$
$$\mathcal{E}_z^{0,q}(t) := \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_x |\mathring{Z}|^q \, dx.$$

Using (4.5) we compute that

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} &= -\delta q \int \frac{\Sigma_{t}}{\Sigma} \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{xt} |\mathring{K}|^{q} + q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \,(\mathring{K}) \eta_{x} \partial_{t} \mathring{K} \\ &= \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [\alpha \delta q (\mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}) + (\frac{1-\alpha}{2} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K})] \\ &+ \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \,(\mathring{K}) \eta_{x} \partial_{t} \mathring{K} \\ &= \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [\alpha \delta q (\mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}) + (\frac{1-\alpha}{2} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K})] + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} \\ &+ \alpha \int \Sigma^{1-\delta q} \partial_{x} (|\mathring{K}|^{q}) + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [-\frac{q}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{W}] + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [-\frac{q}{2} \mathring{Z}] \\ &= \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [\alpha \delta q (\mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}) + (\frac{1-\alpha}{2} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K})] \\ &+ \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [\frac{1}{2} \alpha (\delta q - 1) \eta_{x} \mathring{W}] \\ &+ \alpha (\delta q - 1) \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [-\frac{1}{2} \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}] + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [-\frac{q}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{W}] + \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} [-\frac{q}{2} \mathring{Z}] \\ &= \left[\frac{1+\alpha}{2} + \frac{\alpha}{2} (\delta q - 1) - \frac{q}{2}\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} \\ &+ \left[\alpha \delta q + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} - \frac{\alpha}{2} (\delta q - 1) - \frac{q}{2}\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \mathring{Z} + \left[-\alpha \delta q + \alpha + \alpha (\delta q - 1)\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K} \\ &= \left[\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \left[\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \mathring{Z}. \end{split}$$

Performing analogous computations for  $\mathcal{E}^{0,q}_{z}$ , we find that

$$\dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} = \left[\frac{\alpha}{2}\delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \left[\frac{\alpha}{2}\delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \mathring{Z},$$
(4.11a)
$$\dot{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q} = \left[\alpha\delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2}(q-1)\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} - q\frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn}(\mathring{Z}) \Sigma \mathring{K} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2}(q-1) \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{Z}|^{q} \mathring{Z} + \left[\alpha\delta q + \alpha(\frac{q}{2}-1)\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{Z}|^{q} \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}.$$
(4.11b)

First, let us derive bounds on  $\mathring{K}$ . Choosing  $\delta = \frac{1}{\alpha}$  and using (4.11a), (4.8), and our bound  $\eta_x \leq 3$  gives us

$$\dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} = \frac{1}{2} \int \Sigma^{-\frac{q}{\alpha}} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \frac{1}{2} \int \Sigma^{-\frac{q}{\alpha}} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}|^{q} \mathring{Z} \leq -\frac{1}{4} \int \Sigma^{-\frac{q}{\alpha}} |\mathring{K}|^{q} + (2 + \frac{A}{2}\varepsilon) \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q} \leq (\frac{23}{12} + \frac{A}{2}\varepsilon) \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q}.$$

and thus

$$\mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q}(t)^{1/q} \leq \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q}(0)^{1/q} e^{\frac{1}{q}(\frac{23}{12} + \frac{A}{2}\varepsilon)t} \leq 2^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \|k_{0}'\|_{L_{x}^{q}} e^{\frac{1}{q}(\frac{23}{12} + \frac{A}{2}\varepsilon)t}.$$

Therefore, for any  $t \in [0, T]$  we have that

$$\|\Sigma^{-\frac{1}{\alpha}}\mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}} = \lim_{q \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q}(t)^{1/q} \le \limsup_{q \to \infty} 2^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \|k_{0}'\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}} e^{\frac{1}{q}(\frac{23}{12} + \frac{A}{2}\varepsilon)t} = 2^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \|k_{0}'\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}}.$$

So

$$|\mathring{K}| \le 6^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} ||k'_0||_{L^{\infty}_x}, \qquad \forall (x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T].$$

To bound  $\mathring{Z}$ , it is best to bound  $\mathcal{E}_k^{0,q} + \mathcal{E}_z^{0,q}$ . If  $\delta$  is large enough that  $\frac{\alpha}{2}\delta q - \frac{q-1}{2} > 0$  and  $\alpha\delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2}(q-1) > 0$ , then adding (4.11a) and (4.11b) together and using (4.8) gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} + \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q} + \frac{1}{2} [\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} + \frac{1}{2} [\alpha \delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (q-1)] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^{q} \\ \leq [\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] (4 + A\varepsilon) \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q} + (4[\alpha \delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (q-1)] + \frac{3}{2\gamma} A\varepsilon [\alpha \delta q + \alpha (\frac{q}{2} - 1)] + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (q-1) A\varepsilon) \mathcal{E}_{z}^{0,q} \\ - q \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\mathring{Z}) \Sigma \mathring{K} \eta_{x} \mathring{W}. \end{split}$$

Since  $|\Sigma \eta_x \mathring{W}| \leq 3 \cdot \frac{4}{3} = 4$  we have

$$-q\frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}\int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn}(\mathring{Z}) \Sigma \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} \le \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} (q-1) \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^q + \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^q,$$

and our bound on  $\dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} + \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q}$  becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} + \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q} + \frac{1}{2} [\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2} - \frac{2\alpha}{\gamma}] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}|^{q} + \frac{1}{2} [\alpha \delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (q-1) - \frac{2\alpha}{\gamma} (q-1)] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}|^{q} \\ &\leq [\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] (4 + A\varepsilon) \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q} + \left(4 [\alpha \delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (q-1)] + \frac{3}{2\gamma} A\varepsilon [\alpha \delta q + \alpha (\frac{q}{2} - 1)] + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (q-1) A\varepsilon \right) \mathcal{E}_{z}^{0,q}. \end{aligned}$$

Now choose  $\delta = \frac{2}{\min(1,\alpha)}$ . This choice of  $\delta$  is large enough that the factors in front of the damping terms are positive, and we get

$$\dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} + \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q} \le 10 \max(1,\alpha)q[1 + \frac{1}{2}A\varepsilon](\mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q} + \mathcal{E}_{z}^{0,q})$$

Since  $T \leq \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})$ , we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q}(t) + \mathcal{E}_{z}^{0,q}(t))^{1/q} &\leq (\mathcal{E}_{k}^{0,q}(0) + \mathcal{E}_{z}^{0,q}(0))^{1/q} e^{10\max(1,\alpha)[1+\frac{1}{2}A\varepsilon]t} \\ &\leq 2^{\frac{2}{\min(1,\alpha)}} (2+\frac{1}{\gamma}) \max(\|k_{0}'\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}, \|z_{0}'\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}) e^{20(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})[1+\frac{1}{2}A\varepsilon]} \end{aligned}$$

for all  $t \in [0,T]$ . If  $\varepsilon$  is small enough that  $20(1 + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})(1 + B_z \varepsilon) < 21$ , sending  $q \to \infty$  now gives us the bound  $|\mathring{Z}| \leq B_z \max(\|k'_0\|_{L^{\infty}_x}, \|z'_0\|_{L^{\infty}_x})$  in the same manner as before, which finishes our bootstrap argument.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 4.2.** If  $\varepsilon$  is chosen small enough so that

$$(1+B_z)^2 \varepsilon \ll 1$$

then the blowup time  $T_*$  satisfies

$$(1 - \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\frac{2}{1+\alpha} < T_* < (1 + \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\frac{2}{1+\alpha},$$
(4.12a)

and in particular

$$T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} [1 + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)].$$
(4.12b)

It follows immediately from (4.12a) that (4.7) holds for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T_*)$ .

Proof. Recall from the proof of the previous proposition that

$$\eta_x W = w'_0 + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon),$$
  
$$\eta_x = 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2}t[w'_0 + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)],$$

for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, T_* \land \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}))$ . Since  $\eta_x > 0$  for all  $t < T_*$ , it follows from (3.6b) that

$$0 < \eta_x < 1 - \frac{1+\alpha}{2}t[(1-\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)]$$

for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, T_* \wedge \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}))$ . Therefore,

$$\frac{1+\alpha}{2}T_* \wedge (1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}) \le \frac{1}{1-\varepsilon+\mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)} = 1 + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon).$$

Since  $(1 + B_z)^2 \varepsilon \ll 1$ , we can conclude that

$$T_* \leq \frac{2}{1+\alpha} [1 + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)] < \frac{2}{1+\alpha} (1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}).$$

Therefore,  $T_* = T_* \wedge \frac{2}{1+\alpha}(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})$ , and the inequalities (4.7) are true on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*)$ . It follows that

$$\int_0^{T_*} \left( \|\partial_y z(\cdot,t)\|_{L_y^\infty} + \|\partial_y k(\cdot,t)\|_{L_y^\infty} \right) dt \le T_* [B_z + (1+\frac{3}{2\gamma})B_k] \varepsilon$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{T_{*}} \|\partial_{y}w(\cdot,t)\|_{L_{y}^{\infty}} dt \leq \int_{0}^{T_{*}} \frac{4}{3} \frac{1}{\min_{x \in \mathbb{T}} \eta_{x}(x,t)} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k} \varepsilon dt$$

Since  $T_*$  is finite, it follows from (3.9) that

$$\lim_{t \to T_*} \min_{x \in \mathbb{T}} \eta_x(x, t) = 0.$$

For all  $t < T_*$ , our initial data assumption (3.6b) implies that

$$\eta_x > 1 - \frac{1+\alpha}{2}t[1 + \varepsilon + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)].$$

Sending  $t \to T_*$  and letting  $(1 + B_z)^2 \varepsilon$  be sufficiently small gives us

$$\frac{1+\alpha}{2}T_* \ge \frac{1}{1+\mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon)} = 1 + \mathcal{O}((1+B_z)\varepsilon) > 1 - \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

#### 5. HIGHER ORDER ESTIMATES

In this section, we will prove estimates on the derivatives of  $\Sigma$ ,  $\eta_x$ ,  $\eta_x \hat{W}$ ,  $\hat{Z}$ , and  $\hat{K}$  with constants that do not depend on our choice of  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , and whose dependence on  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\alpha$ , n, and  $C_0$  is explicit. For the entirety of this section, we assume that  $\varepsilon$  is chosen small enough such that the results of the previous section hold.

# 5.1. Estimates at time zero.

**Proposition 5.1.** Let  $C_x$  and  $C_t$  and be constants satisfying

- $\mathcal{C}_x \geq 2e^3 C_0$ ,
- $\mathcal{C}_x \gg 1$ ,
- $\mathcal{C}_t \gg (1+\alpha)$ ,
- $\alpha C_x \ll C_t$ .

Then if  $(1 + \alpha)\varepsilon \ll 1$  the following inequalities hold at time t = 0 for all  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$ :

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \check{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le \varepsilon$$
(5.1a)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \mathring{Z}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le (1+\frac{1}{\gamma})\varepsilon$$
(5.1b)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \Sigma_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}^{\beta_t}} \le 7\alpha\varepsilon$$
(5.1c)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^\beta \eta_{xt}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (1+2\varepsilon)$$
(5.1d)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}^{\beta}_x \mathcal{C}^{\beta_t}_t} \le 8 \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} \varepsilon.$$
(5.1e)

*Proof.* We will prove this via induction on  $\beta_t$ .

(

Base Case: At time t = 0

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m \mathring{K}\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m} = \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^{m+1} k_0\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m} \le \left(\frac{e^2 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m \varepsilon \le \varepsilon.$$

Since

$$\partial_x^m \mathring{Z} = \partial_x^{m+1} z_0 + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sigma_0 \partial_x^{m+1} k_0 + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \binom{m}{j} \partial_x^{j+1} k_0 \partial_x^{m-1-j+1} \sigma_0$$

at time zero, our assumptions  $C_0 \geq 3$  and  $\mathcal{C}_x \geq 2e^3C_0$  imply that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m \varepsilon} \le \left(\frac{e^2 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m (1+\frac{1}{\gamma}) + \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon) \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x} \left(\frac{C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^{m-1} (m+1)^2 \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \binom{m}{j} \frac{j! (m-1-j)!}{m!} \\ \le \left(\frac{e^2 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m (1+\frac{1}{\gamma}) + \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon) \frac{1}{C_0} \left(\frac{e^2 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{1}{m-j} \\ \le \left(\frac{1}{2e}\right)^m (1+\frac{1}{\gamma}) + \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon) \mathbbm{1}_{\{m\geq 1\}} (\frac{1}{2e})^m (1+\log m) \\ \le \left(\frac{1}{2e}\right)^m (1+\frac{1}{\gamma}) + \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\frac{1}{2}+\varepsilon) \mathbbm{1}_{\{m\geq 1\}} \le 1+\frac{1}{\gamma}.$$

Similar computations applied to  $\eta_x \mathring{W}$  at time zero also give us the bound

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m(\eta_x \dot{W})\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m} \le 1 + (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma})\varepsilon < 1 + 2\varepsilon$$
(5.2)

for all m = 0, ..., 2n + 1.

Since  $\Sigma_t = -\alpha \Sigma \partial_y z \circ \eta$ , at time zero we have

$$\Sigma_t = -\alpha \sigma_0 z_0'.$$

Therefore

$$-\frac{\partial_x^m \Sigma_t}{\alpha} = \sigma_0 \partial_x^{m+1} z_0 + \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \binom{m}{j} \partial_x^{j+1} z_0 \partial_x^{m-1-j+1} \sigma_0$$

and computations analogous to those applied to  $\partial_x^m \mathring{Z}$  and  $\partial_x^m (\eta_x \mathring{W})$  give us

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m \Sigma_t\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m \alpha \varepsilon} \le 2(\frac{1}{2e})^m + (\frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon) \frac{1}{2e} \mathbb{1}_{\{m \ge 1\}} \le 2.$$

Let  $0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ . At time zero

$$\begin{split} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t &= \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sigma_0 k_0' (w_0' + z_0'), \\ \frac{4\gamma}{\alpha} \partial_x^m (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t &= \sigma_0 \sum_{j=0}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_x^{j+1} k_0 \partial_x^{m-j+1} (w_0 + z_0) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = m \\ j_1 \geq 1}} \binom{m}{j_1 j_2 j_3} \partial_x^{j_1 - 1 + 1} \sigma_0 \partial_x^{j_2 + 1} k_0 \partial_x^{j_3 + 1} (w_0 + z_0). \\ \implies \frac{4\gamma}{\alpha} \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m \varepsilon} \leq 2(1+2\varepsilon) \left(\frac{C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m (m+1)^3 + \frac{(1+2\varepsilon)^2}{2} \frac{1}{C_0} \left(\frac{C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m (m+1)^2 \sum_{\substack{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = m \\ j_1 \geq 1}} \frac{1}{j_1} \\ \end{split}$$

Since

$$\sum_{\substack{1+j_2+j_3=m\\j_1>1}} \frac{1}{j_1} = (m+1) \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{1}{j} - m,$$

our hypothesis that  $\mathcal{C}_x \geq 2e^3C_0$  and  $C_0 \geq 3$  now gives us

$$\frac{4\gamma}{\alpha} \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m \varepsilon} \le 2(1+2\varepsilon) \left(\frac{e^3 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m + \frac{(1+2\varepsilon)^2}{2} \frac{1}{C_0} \left(\frac{e^3 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{1}{j} \le 2(1+2\varepsilon) \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^m + \mathbbm{1}_{\{m \ge 1\}} \frac{(1+2\varepsilon)^2}{4} \frac{1}{C_0} \le 3.$$

Lastly, since  $\eta_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2}w_0' + \frac{1-\alpha}{2}z_0'$  at time zero, we compute that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m \eta_{xt}\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! \mathcal{C}_x^m} \le \left(\frac{e^2 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m \left(\frac{1+\alpha}{2}(1+\varepsilon) + \frac{|1-\alpha|}{2}\varepsilon\right)$$
$$= \left(\frac{1+\alpha}{2} + \max(1,\alpha)\varepsilon\right) \left(\frac{e^2 C_0}{\mathcal{C}_x}\right)^m \le \frac{1+\alpha}{2}(1+2\varepsilon)\left(\frac{1}{2e}\right)^m$$

for all  $m = 0, \ldots, 2n + 1$ . This concludes the base case.

Inductive Step: Now fix  $0 \le m \le 2n$  and suppose our result is true for all multi-indices  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_t \le m$ .

Let  $\beta$  have  $|\beta| \leq 2n$  and  $\beta_t = m$ . Taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.3), setting t = 0, and simplifying using the fact that

$$\partial_x^i \eta_x(x,0) = \delta_{i0} \tag{5.3}$$

for all nonnegative integers i, we arrive at the identity

$$\begin{split} \partial^{\beta+e_t} \mathring{K} &= -\sum_{e_t \leq \gamma \leq \beta} \binom{\beta}{\gamma} \partial^{\gamma-e_t} \eta_{xt} \partial^{\beta+e_t-\gamma} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \alpha \sum_{e_t \leq \gamma \leq \beta} \binom{\beta}{\gamma} \partial^{\gamma-e_t} \Sigma_t \partial^{\beta+e_x-\gamma} \mathring{K} + \alpha \sigma_0 \partial^{\beta+e_x} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \alpha \sum_{j=1}^{\beta_x} \binom{\beta_x}{j} \partial^j_x \sigma_0 \partial^{\beta-(j-1)e_x} \mathring{K} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{\beta_x} \binom{\beta_x}{j} \partial^j_x (\eta_x \mathring{W}) \partial^{\beta-je_x} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{e_t \leq \gamma \leq \beta} \binom{\beta}{\gamma} \partial^{\beta-\gamma} \mathring{K} \partial^{\gamma-e_t} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{0 \leq \gamma \leq \beta} \binom{\beta}{\gamma} \partial^{\gamma} \mathring{K} \partial^{\beta-\gamma} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2 + \gamma_3 = \beta}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1 \gamma_2 \gamma_3} \partial^{\gamma_1 - e_t} \eta_{xt} \partial^{\gamma_2} \mathring{K} \partial^{\gamma_3} \mathring{Z}. \end{split}$$

Applying our inductive hypotheses, the inequality (5.2), Lemma B.2, and (B.2)-(B.3) yields

$$\begin{split} & \frac{(|\beta + e_t| + 1)^2 ||\beta^{\beta + e_t} \bar{K}||_{L_x^\infty}}{|\beta + e_t|! \mathcal{C}_x^\beta * \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t + 1} \varepsilon} \\ & \leq \frac{1}{c_t} (\frac{1 + \alpha}{2} (1 + 2\varepsilon) + 2\alpha^2 \frac{c_x}{c_t} \varepsilon) \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta|} {\binom{|\beta|}{j}} \frac{(|\beta| + 2)^2 (j - 1)! (|\beta| + 1 - j)!}{(|\beta| + 1)! j^2 (|\beta| + 2 - j)^2} \\ & + 2\alpha \frac{c_x}{c_t} + \alpha (\frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon) \frac{1}{c_t} \sum_{j=1}^{\beta_x} {\binom{\beta_x}{j}} \frac{(\beta_x}{j} \frac{(|\beta| + 2)^2 (j - 1)! (|\beta| + 1 - j)!}{(|\beta| + 1)! j^2 (|\beta| + 2 - j)^2} (\frac{c_a}{c_x})^{j-1} \\ & + \frac{1}{2} (1 + 2\varepsilon) \frac{1}{c_t} \sum_{j=0}^{\beta_x} {\binom{\beta_x}{j}} \frac{(|\beta| + 2)^2 (|\beta| - j)!}{(|\beta| + 1)! (|\beta| + 1)^2 (|\beta| + 1 - j)^2} (\frac{c_a}{c_x})^j \\ & + \frac{1}{2c_t^2} \frac{3\alpha}{4\gamma} \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta|} {\binom{|\beta|}{j}} \frac{(|\beta| + 2)^2 (|\beta| - j)! (j - 1)!}{(|\beta| + 1)! (|\beta| + 1 - j)^2 j!} + \frac{1}{2c_t} (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} {\binom{|\beta|}{j}} \frac{(|\beta| + 2)^2 j! (|\beta| - j)!}{(|\beta| + 1)! (|\beta| + 1 - j)^2 j!} \\ & + \frac{1 + \alpha}{4} (1 + 2\varepsilon) (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) \varepsilon \frac{1}{c_t^2} \sum_{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = |\beta|} {\binom{|\beta|}{j}} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j! (|\beta| + 1)! j! (j_2 + 1)^2 (j_3 + 1)^2} \\ & \leq \frac{1}{c_t} (\frac{1 + \alpha}{2} (1 + 2\varepsilon) + 2\alpha^2 \frac{c_x}{c_t} \varepsilon) \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j! (|\beta| + 2-j)} + 2\alpha \frac{c_x}{c_t} + \alpha (1 + 2\varepsilon) \frac{1}{c_t} \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j! (|\beta| + 2-j)} \\ & + (1 + \varepsilon) \frac{1}{c_t} \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{(j + 1)^2 (|\beta| + 1-j)^2} + \frac{1}{c_t^2} \frac{3\alpha}{4\gamma} \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j! (|\beta| + 1-j)^2} + \frac{1}{c_t} (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{(j + 1)^2 (|\beta| + 1-j)^2} \\ & + \frac{1 + \alpha}{2} (1 + 2\varepsilon) (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) \varepsilon \frac{1}{c_t^2} \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta| + 2} \frac{1}{j! (|\beta| + 2} \frac{3\alpha}{4\gamma} \varepsilon} \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j! (|\beta| + 1-j)^2} + \frac{1}{c_t} (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{(j + 1)^2 (|\beta| + 1-j)^2} \\ & + \frac{1 + \alpha}{2} (1 + 2\varepsilon) (1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) \varepsilon \frac{1}{c_t^2} \sum_{j=1}^{|\beta| + 2} \frac{1}{j! (|\beta| + 1)! (|\beta| + 1)! (|\beta| + 1-j)^2} \\ & \leq \frac{1}{c_t} [\alpha \mathcal{C}_x (1 + \alpha\varepsilon) + (1 + \alpha) (1 + \varepsilon) (1 + \frac{1}{c_t})]. \end{aligned}$$

It follows that the bound (5.1a) holds for  $\partial^{\beta+e_t} \mathring{K}$  provided that  $\mathcal{C}_t \gg \alpha \mathcal{C}_x$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_t \gg 1+\alpha$ , and  $(1+\alpha)\varepsilon \ll 1$ .

The inductive step for (5.1b) works out in the same way: pick  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \leq 2n$  and  $\beta_t = m$ ; take  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.4); set t = 0 and simplify; carry out the same type of computations as done above; if  $C_t$  is large enough with respect to  $\alpha C_x$  and  $1 + \alpha$ , then the right hand side of the inequalities can be made smaller than  $1 + \frac{1}{\gamma}$  provided that  $(1 + \alpha)\varepsilon \ll 1$ .

The inductive steps for proving (5.1c)–(5.1e) will now utilize the fact that we have already proven (5.1a) and (5.1b) for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_t \le m + 1$ . Pick  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_t = m + 1$ . Note that since  $\beta_t \ge 1$ , we must have  $\beta_x \le 2n$ . Taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.2a), setting t = 0, and simplifying yields

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\alpha}\partial^{\beta}\Sigma_{t} &= -\sigma_{0}\partial^{\beta}\mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2\gamma}\sigma_{0}^{2}\partial^{\beta}\mathring{K} + \sum_{j=1}^{\beta_{x}} \binom{\beta_{x}}{j} [-\partial_{x}^{j-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\beta-je_{x}}\mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{\gamma}\sigma_{0}\partial_{x}^{j-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\beta-je_{x}}\mathring{K}] \\ &+ \sum_{e_{t} \leq \gamma \leq \beta} \binom{\beta}{\gamma} [-\partial^{\gamma-e_{t}}\Sigma_{t}\partial^{\beta-\gamma}\mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{\gamma}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\gamma-e_{t}}\Sigma_{t}\partial^{\beta-\gamma}\mathring{K}] \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=\beta_{x}\\j_{1},j_{2}\geq 1}} \binom{\beta_{x}}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}\partial_{x}^{j_{1}-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial_{x}^{j_{2}-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\beta_{t}e_{t}+j_{3}e_{x}}\mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sum_{\substack{je_{x}+\gamma \leq \beta\\\gamma \geq e_{t}}} \binom{\beta}{je_{x}}\gamma \overset{\beta}{\beta-je_{x}} - \gamma \partial^{j_{x}-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial_{t}^{\gamma-e_{t}}\Sigma\partial^{\beta-\gamma-je_{x}}\mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sum_{\substack{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2}+\gamma_{3}=\beta\\\gamma_{1}\geq 0}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}\gamma_{3}}\partial^{\gamma_{1}-e_{t}}\Sigma_{t}\partial^{\gamma_{2}-e_{t}}\Sigma_{t}\partial^{\gamma_{3}}\mathring{K}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, applying our inductive hypotheses, the fact that (5.1a) and (5.1b) have been proven for multiindices with  $\beta_t \leq m + 1$ , and the inequalities in § B gives us

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \Sigma_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t} \alpha \varepsilon} \leq 2 + \frac{4}{\gamma} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x} + \frac{\alpha \varepsilon}{\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x^2} + \frac{\alpha \varepsilon}{\mathcal{C}_x \mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{\alpha^2 \varepsilon^2}{\mathcal{C}_t^2}).$$

Since  $C_x \gg 1$ ,  $C_t \gg (1 + \alpha)$ , and  $\varepsilon \ll 1$ , we have proven (5.1c) for our choice of  $\beta$ .

The proof for (5.1d) is analogous: if  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_t = m + 1$ , then taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.2d), setting t = 0, and simplifying produces

$$\begin{aligned} \partial^{\beta}\eta_{xt} &= \frac{1-\alpha}{2}\partial^{\beta}\vec{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\beta}\vec{K} \\ &+ \frac{1+\alpha}{2}\partial^{\beta-e_{t}}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t} + \sum_{e_{t}\leq\gamma\leq\beta}\binom{\beta}{\gamma} \Big[\frac{1-\alpha}{2}\partial^{\gamma-e_{t}}\eta_{xt}\partial^{\beta-\gamma}\mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\gamma-e_{t}}\eta_{xt}\partial^{\beta-\gamma}\mathring{K}\Big] \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\sum_{j=1}^{\beta_{x}}\binom{\beta_{x}}{j}\partial_{x}^{j-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\beta-je_{x}}\mathring{K} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_{1}+je_{x}+\gamma_{3}=\beta\\\gamma_{1}\geq e_{t},j\geq1}}\binom{\beta}{\gamma_{1}je_{x}\gamma_{3}}\partial^{\gamma_{1}-e_{t}}\eta_{xt}\partial_{x}^{j-1+1}\sigma_{0}\partial^{\gamma_{3}}\mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2}+\gamma_{3}=\beta\\\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2}\geq e_{t},}}\binom{\beta}{\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}\gamma_{3}}\partial^{\gamma_{1}-e_{t}}\eta_{xt}\partial^{\gamma_{2}-e_{t}}\Sigma_{t}\partial^{\gamma_{3}}\mathring{K}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \eta_{xt}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_t} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t} (1+\alpha)\varepsilon} \leq \frac{1}{1+\alpha} \left(\frac{|1-\alpha|}{2} (1+\frac{1}{\gamma}) + \frac{\alpha}{\gamma}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1+|1-\alpha|}{\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{1}{(1+\alpha)\mathcal{C}_x} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{\alpha\varepsilon}{\mathcal{C}_t^2}\right)$$
$$\leq 1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1+|1-\alpha|}{\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{1}{(1+\alpha)\mathcal{C}_x} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{\alpha\varepsilon}{\mathcal{C}_t^2}\right).$$

Since  $\varepsilon \ll 1$ ,  $C_x \gg 1$ , and  $C_t \gg (1 + \alpha)$ , this proves (5.1d).

The inductive step for (5.1e) works out in the same way as the inductive steps for (5.1c) and (5.1d). If  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_t = m + 1$ , then using (5.2) in addition to the same types of bounds as in the previous computations gives us

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t} \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \varepsilon} \le 2(1+2\varepsilon) \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2}{(j+1)^2 (|\beta|+1-j)^2} + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \frac{(1+\alpha)\varepsilon}{\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x})$$

$$\leq \frac{8\pi^2}{3}(1+2\varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon + \frac{(1+\alpha)\varepsilon}{\mathcal{C}_t} + \frac{1}{\mathcal{C}_x}).$$

Our hypotheses on the relative sizes of  $C_t, C_x, \varepsilon$ , and  $\alpha$  now imply our desired bound on  $\partial^{\beta}(\eta_x \mathring{W})_t$ .

5.2. A Priori estimates for time derivatives. In this section, we will fix  $T \in (0, T_*]$ , a function  $C_t : [0, T_*) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ , and a constant  $\delta \ge 0$ . Suppose that  $A_k \ge B_k$  and  $A_z \ge B_z$  are constants such that  $A_z \ge 10A_k$  and

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \check{K}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le A_k \varepsilon,$$
(5.4a)

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le A_z \varepsilon,$$
(5.4b)

for all  $t \in [0, T], 0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ .

# **Proposition 5.2.** If

(1 + α)3<sup>δ</sup> ≪ C<sub>t</sub> for all t ∈ [0, T], and
 (1 + A<sub>z</sub>)ε ≪ 1,

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma^{-1})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le 4\alpha A_z \varepsilon, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \Sigma_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le 4\alpha A_z \varepsilon, \quad (5.5a)$$

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \eta_{xt}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le (1+\alpha) (\frac{2}{3}\delta_{0m} + 3A_z \varepsilon), \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le \frac{5}{8} A_k \varepsilon, \quad (5.5b)$$
or all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2m + 1$ .

for all  $t \in [0, T], 0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ .

*Proof.* We prove our result via induction on m. The base case, m = 0, is immediate from (4.5), (4.7), and the fact that  $A_k \ge B_k$  and  $A_z \ge B_z$ .

For the inductive step, suppose that our inequalities are true up to m-1 for some  $1 \le m \le 2n+1$ . Applying  $\partial_t^m$  to both sides of (4.2c) yields

$$\frac{1}{\alpha}\partial_t^m(\Sigma^{-1})_t = \Sigma^{-1}\partial_t^m \mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2\gamma}\partial_t^m \mathring{K} + \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j}\partial_t^{j-1}(\Sigma^{-1})_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{Z}.$$

The bounds from § B now give us

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma^{-1})_t\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m \alpha \varepsilon} \le 3A_z + \frac{1}{2\gamma} A_k + 4\alpha A_z^2 \varepsilon \frac{3^{\delta}}{C_t} \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3 (m+1-j)^2} \\ \le [3 + \frac{1}{20\gamma} + 100A_z \varepsilon \frac{3^{\delta} \alpha}{C_t}] A_z \\ \le 4A_z.$$

Here the last inequality holds because of our hypotheses  $(1 + A_z)\varepsilon \ll 1$  and  $C_t \gg 3^{\delta}(1 + \alpha)$ .

Taking  $\partial_t^m$  of (4.2a) gives us

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{\alpha}\partial_t^m \Sigma_t &= -\Sigma \partial_t^m \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma^2 \partial_t^m \mathring{K} - \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^{j-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{\gamma} \Sigma \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^{j-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m\\ j_1,j_2 \ge 1}} \binom{m}{j_1 j_2 j_3} \partial_t^{j_1-t} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{j_2-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{j_3} \mathring{K}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-m\delta} \partial_t^m \Sigma_t\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m \alpha \varepsilon} &\leq 3A_z + \frac{9}{2\gamma} A_k + \frac{3^{\delta} 4\alpha A_z \varepsilon}{C_t} (A_z + \frac{3}{\gamma} A_k) \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3 (m+1-j)^2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\gamma} \left(\frac{3^{\delta} 4\alpha A_z \varepsilon}{C_t}\right)^2 A_k \sum_{\substack{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = m \\ j_1, j_2 \ge 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j_1^3 j_2^3 (j_3 + 1)^2} \\ &\leq 3A_z + \frac{9}{2\gamma} A_k + 25 \frac{3^{\delta} 4\alpha A_z \varepsilon}{C_t} (A_z + \frac{3}{\gamma} A_k) + 66 \frac{1}{2\gamma} \left(\frac{3^{\delta} 4\alpha A_z \varepsilon}{C_t}\right)^2 A_k \end{aligned}$$

 $\leq 4A_z$ .

Taking  $\partial_t^m$  of (4.2d) gives us

$$\begin{split} \partial_t^m \eta_{xt} &= \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \partial_t^m \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \partial_t^m \mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_t^{m-1} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} m \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{m-1} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} m \eta_{xt} \Sigma \partial_t^{m-1} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \sum_{j=2}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \sum_{j=2}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \Sigma \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \eta_x \partial_t^{j-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m\\ j_1, j_2 \ge 1}} \binom{m}{j \eta_j 2j_3} \partial_t^{j_1-t} \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{j_2-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{j_3} \mathring{K}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-m\delta} \partial_t^m \eta_{xt}\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m \varepsilon} &\leq \frac{3|1-\alpha|}{2} A_z + \frac{9\alpha}{2\gamma} A_k + \frac{(1+\alpha)3^\delta}{C_t} (\frac{m+1}{m})^2 \left[ \frac{1}{2m} \frac{5}{8} A_k + \frac{|1-\alpha|}{2} A_z + \frac{3\alpha}{2\gamma} A_k \right] \\ &+ \frac{3^\delta \varepsilon}{C_t} \left[ \frac{3|1-\alpha|}{2} (1+\alpha) A_z^2 + \frac{9\alpha}{2\gamma} (1+\alpha) A_k A_z + 6\frac{\alpha^2}{\gamma} A_k A_z \right] \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3 (m+1-j)^2} \\ &+ \frac{3}{2\gamma} \left( \frac{3^\delta \alpha \varepsilon}{C_t} \right)^2 (1+\alpha) A_k A_z^2 \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m\\ j_1,j_2 \ge 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j_1^3 j_2^3 (j_3+1)^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Applying our hypotheses on  $C_t$  and  $\varepsilon$ , as well as our bounds from § B, we obtain our inequality for  $\partial_t^m \eta_{xt}$ . Lastly, taking  $\partial_t^m$  of (4.2e) gives us

$$\begin{split} \frac{4\gamma}{\alpha}\partial_{t}^{m}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t} &= \Sigma\eta_{x}\mathring{W}\partial_{t}^{m}\mathring{K} + \eta_{x}\Sigma\sum_{j=0}^{m}\binom{m}{j}\partial_{t}^{j}\mathring{K}\partial_{t}^{m-j}\mathring{Z} \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{m}\binom{m}{j}(\Sigma\partial_{t}^{j-1}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t}\partial_{t}^{m-j}\mathring{K} + \partial_{t}^{j-1}\Sigma_{t}\eta_{x}\mathring{W}\partial_{t}^{m-j}\mathring{K}) \\ &+ \sum_{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=m}\binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}(\eta_{x}\partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1}\Sigma_{t}\partial_{t}^{j_{2}}\mathring{K}\partial_{t}^{j_{3}}\mathring{Z} + \partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1}\eta_{xt}\Sigma\partial_{t}^{j_{2}}\mathring{K}\partial_{t}^{j_{3}}\mathring{Z}) \\ &+ \sum_{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=m}\binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}\partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1}\Sigma_{t}\partial_{t}^{j_{2}}\mathring{K}\partial_{t}^{j_{3}-1}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t} \\ &+ \sum_{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}+j_{4}=m}\binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}j_{4}}\partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1}\eta_{xt}\partial_{t}^{j_{2}-1}\Sigma_{t}\partial_{t}^{j_{3}}\mathring{K}\partial_{t}^{j_{4}}\mathring{Z}. \end{split}$$

The same types of bounds as before give us

$$\begin{split} & \frac{4\gamma}{\alpha} \frac{(m+1)^2 \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t \|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m A_k \varepsilon} \\ & \leq 4 + 9A_z \varepsilon \sum_{j=0}^m \frac{(m+1)^2}{(j+1)^2 (m+1-j)^2} + \frac{3^{\delta} \varepsilon}{C_t} (\frac{15}{8}A_k + \frac{16}{3}\alpha A_z) \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3 (m+1-j)^2} \\ & + 2(1+\alpha) \frac{3^{\delta} \varepsilon}{C_t} A_z \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{(m+1)^2}{(j+1)^2 (m-j)^2} + 3(4\alpha + 3(1+\alpha)) \frac{3^{\delta} \varepsilon}{C_t} A_z^2 \varepsilon \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m \\ j_1 \ge 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3_1 (j_2+1)^2 (j_3+1)^2} \\ & + \frac{5\alpha}{2} A_k A_z (\frac{3^{\delta} \varepsilon}{C_t})^2 \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m \\ j_1,j_3 \ge 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3_1 (j_2+1)^2 j^3_3} + \frac{8}{3} \alpha (1+\alpha) A_z^2 (\frac{3^{\delta} \varepsilon}{C_t})^2 \sum_{\substack{j_2+j_3+j_4=m-1 \\ j_2 \ge 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3_2 (j_3+1)^2 (j_4+1)^2} \end{split}$$

$$+ 12\alpha(1+\alpha)A_z^3\varepsilon(\frac{3^{\delta}\varepsilon}{C_t})^2 \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3+j_4=m\\j_1,j_2\ge 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j_1^3 j_2^3 (j_3+1)^2 (j_4+1)^2} \le 5.$$

Corollary 5.3. Under the same hypotheses as the previous proposition, we have

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \eta_x\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le 3, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_x \dot{W})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le \frac{4}{3}, \tag{5.6a}$$

$$(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \Sigma_x\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \le 1, \qquad (m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma^{-1})_x\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \le 10, \qquad (5.6a)$$

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \Sigma_x\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le 1, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma^{-1})_x\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le 10, \tag{5.6b}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T], 0 \le m \le 2n + 1$  and

(

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^{m-1} \partial_x \mathring{K}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le \frac{10}{\alpha} A_k \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^{m-1} \partial_x \mathring{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le \frac{5}{\alpha} A_z \varepsilon, \qquad (5.7)$$

for all  $t \in [0, T], 1 \le m \le 2n + 1$ .

(

*Proof.* The bounds (5.6a) follow immediately from (4.7) in the case where m = 0, and the  $1 \le m \le 2n + 1$  case follows immediately from (5.5b) and our assumption that  $(1+\alpha)3^{\delta} \ll C_t$ . The bounds on  $\partial_t^m \Sigma_x$  are proven by taking  $\partial_t^m$  of (4.2b), applying (5.5), and using the bounds from § B along with our assumption that  $(1 + A_z)\varepsilon \ll 1$ . To get our bounds on  $\partial_t^m (\Sigma^{-1})_x$ , take  $\partial_t^m$  of the equation

$$(\Sigma^{-1})_x = -\Sigma^{-2}\Sigma_x \tag{5.8}$$

and apply (5.5) together with our bounds on  $\partial_t^m \Sigma_x$ .

The estimates (5.7) can be obtained by taking  $\partial_t^{m-1}$  of the identities

$$\alpha \partial_x \mathring{K} = \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \partial_t \mathring{K} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \mathring{K} \mathring{Z},$$
(5.9a)

$$\alpha \partial_x \mathring{Z} = \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \partial_t \mathring{Z} + \frac{1-\alpha}{4} \Sigma^{-1} (\eta_x \mathring{W}) \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{8\gamma} \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} + \frac{1+\alpha}{4} \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \mathring{Z}^2 - \frac{\alpha}{8\gamma} \eta_x \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}.$$
(5.9b)

and then using (5.5), our inequalities from § B, and our assumption that  $(1 + A_z)\varepsilon \ll 1$ . 

## 5.3. Energy estimates for time derivatives. Pick constants $\delta$ , $\kappa$ with

$$\delta \ge \frac{6}{\min(1,\alpha)},\tag{5.10a}$$

$$\kappa := \max(1, \alpha)(2 + 5\delta) \tag{5.10b}$$

and define the function  $C_t: [0, T_*) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ ,

$$C_t(t) := C_t(0)e^{\kappa t} \tag{5.11}$$

where  $C_t(0)$  is some positive constant to be determined.

**Proposition 5.4.** Suppose  $C_t(0)$  satisfies

$$C_t(0) \gg (1+\alpha)3^{\delta}, \qquad C_t(0) \gg \max(1,\alpha)2^{\delta}C_0,$$

and  $\varepsilon$  satisfies

$$(1+\alpha)^2(1+B_z)^2\varepsilon \ll 1$$

Then

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le B_k \varepsilon,$$
(5.12a)

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le B_z \varepsilon,$$
(5.12b)

for all  $t \in [0, T_*)$  and  $0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ .

*Proof.* These estimates will be proven via  $L^q$  energy estimates similar to those performed in the proof of Proposition 4.1. Fix  $T \in [0, T_*)$  and pick a constants  $A_k, A_z$  satisfying

$$B_k < A_k < 2B_k < B_z < A_z < 2B_z.$$

Our bootstrap hypothesis will be that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le A_k \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le A_z \varepsilon,$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ . Our assumptions on  $C_t(0)$  paired with the fact that  $A_z < 2B_z$  and  $(1 + B_z)\varepsilon \ll 1$ imply that the hypotheses of Proposition 5.2 and Corollary 5.3 are satisfied with our choice of  $\delta$ , T,  $A_k$ , and  $A_z$ . Additionally, if we define  $C_t := \frac{1}{2}2^{-\delta}C_t(0)$ , then our hypotheses on  $C_t(0)$  imply that  $C_t \gg \alpha C_0$  and  $C_t \gg 1 + \alpha$  so that Proposition 5.1 gives us

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2^m}, \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2^{m-1}}, \tag{5.13}$$

at time t = 0. Therefore, our bootstrap hypothesis is true for T = 0.

For  $1 < q < \infty$  and  $1 \le m \le 2n + 1$  define the energies

Taking  $\partial_t$  of  $\mathcal{E}_k^{m,q}$  yields

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &= -\delta mq \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} \frac{\Sigma_{t}}{\Sigma} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} + \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} \eta_{xt} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \\ &+ \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left( \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \right) q \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m+1} \mathring{K} \\ &= \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} [ \left( \alpha \delta mq + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \right) \mathring{Z} + \left( -\alpha \delta mq + \alpha \right) \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K} ] \\ &+ \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left( \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \right) q \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m+1} \mathring{K}. \end{split}$$

Taking  $\partial_t^m$  of (4.3) produces the identity

$$\eta_{x}\partial_{t}^{m+1}\mathring{K} = \alpha\Sigma\partial_{t}^{m}\partial_{x}\mathring{K} - [\frac{1}{2}\eta_{x}\mathring{W} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{x}\mathring{Z} + m\eta_{xt}]\partial_{t}^{m}\mathring{K} - \sum_{j=2}^{m} \binom{m}{j}\partial_{t}^{j-1}\eta_{xt}\partial_{t}^{m+1-j}\mathring{K} + \alpha\sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j}\partial_{t}^{j-1}\Sigma_{t}\partial_{t}^{m-j}\partial_{x}\mathring{K} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{x}\sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j}\partial_{t}^{j}\mathring{Z}\partial_{t}^{m-j}\mathring{K} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j}\partial_{t}^{j-1}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t}\partial_{t}^{m-j}\mathring{K} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=m\\j_{1}\geq 1}} \binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}}\partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1}\eta_{xt}\partial_{t}^{j_{2}}\mathring{K}\partial_{t}^{j_{3}}\mathring{Z}.$$
(5.14)

This means that

$$\begin{split} &\int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left( \partial_t^m \mathring{K} \right) q \eta_x \partial_t^{m+1} \mathring{K} \\ &= \alpha \int \Sigma^{1-\delta m q} \partial_x \left( |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^q \right) - q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^q [\frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z} + m \eta_{xt}] \\ &- q \sum_{j=2}^m \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left( \partial_t^m \mathring{K} \right) \partial_t^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{m+1-j} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \alpha q \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left( \partial_t^m \mathring{K} \right) \partial_t^{j-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{m-j} \partial_x \mathring{K} \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}q\sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn} (\partial_t^m \mathring{K}) \eta_x \partial_t^j \mathring{Z} \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} -\frac{1}{2}q\sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn} (\partial_t^m \mathring{K}) \partial_t^{j-1} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} -\frac{1}{2}q\sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m \\ j_1 j_2 j_3}} \binom{m}{j_1 j_2 j_3} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn} (\partial_t^m \mathring{K}) \partial_t^{j_1-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{j_2} \mathring{K} \partial_t^{j_3} \mathring{Z}.$$

Since

$$\alpha \int \Sigma^{1-\delta mq} \partial_x \left( |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^q \right) = \frac{\alpha}{2} (\delta mq - 1) \int \Sigma^{-\delta mq} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^q [\eta_x \mathring{W} - \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}],$$

we get

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &= \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} [(\alpha \delta m q + \frac{1-\alpha}{2}) \mathring{Z} + (-\alpha \delta m q + \alpha) \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}] \\ &+ \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \frac{\alpha}{2} (\delta m q - 1) \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} [\eta_{x} \mathring{W} - \eta_{x} \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{\gamma} \eta_{x} \Sigma \mathring{K}] \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} [\frac{1}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + \frac{1}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{Z} + m \eta_{x}] \\ &- q \sum_{j=2}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \alpha q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z}. \end{split}$$

Simplifying the first four terms on the righthand side of this equation gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &= D_{k} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + (D_{k} + \alpha m q) \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} m q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \Sigma \mathring{K} \\ &- q \sum_{j=2}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}\right) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \alpha q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}\right) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}\right) \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{j} \mathring{Z} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}\right) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \end{split}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}q\sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m\\j_1\geq 1}} \binom{m}{j_1j_2j_3} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_t^m \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn}\left(\partial_t^m \mathring{K}\right) \partial_t^{j_1-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{j_2} \mathring{K} \partial_t^{j_3} \mathring{Z},$$
(5.15)

where

$$D_k = D_k(m, q, \alpha) := \frac{1}{2} + q[(\frac{\alpha}{2}\delta - \frac{1+\alpha}{2})m - \frac{1}{2}].$$
(5.16)  
Our lower bound (5.10) and the fact that  $q > 1$  gives us the bounds

(5.17)

 $\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{2}mq\max(1,\alpha) \le D_k < \frac{1}{2}mq\alpha(\delta-1).$ 

Since 
$$D_k > 0$$
, the inequality (4.8) gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &+ \frac{1}{2} D_{k} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q} \tag{5.18} \\ &\leq 4 D_{k} \mathcal{E}_{k}^{m,q} + (B_{z} D_{k} + \alpha m q (B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k})) \varepsilon \mathcal{E}_{k}^{m,q} \\ &- q \sum_{j=2}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{K} \\ &+ \alpha q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{j} \mathring{Z} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} \end{aligned}$$
(5.19)

Because

$$\dot{E}_{k}^{m,q} = -mq\kappa E_{k}^{m,q} + \frac{(m+1)^{2q} \dot{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q}}{(m!)^{q} C_{t}^{mq}},$$

multiplying (5.19) by  $\left(\frac{(m+1)^2}{m!C_t^m}\right)^q$  and using our a priori estimates from § 5.2 gives us

$$\dot{E}_{k}^{m,q} + \frac{1}{2} D_{k} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}\|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \leq \left[ -mq\kappa + (4 + B_{z}\varepsilon) D_{k} + \alpha mq(B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma}B_{k}) \varepsilon \right] E_{k}^{m,q} + q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}\|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} A_{k} A_{z} \varepsilon^{2} (\cdots),$$

where

$$\left(\cdots\right) \leq \left(2|1-\alpha| + \frac{5\alpha}{\gamma}\right) \sum_{j=2}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2(m+1-j)}{j^3(m+2-j)^2} + 50\alpha(1+\frac{1}{\gamma}) \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2(m+1-j)}{j^3(m+2-j)^2} \\ + \frac{3}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{(j+1)^2(m+1-j)^2} + \frac{5\alpha}{8\gamma} \frac{3^{\delta}}{C_t} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3(m+1-j)^2} \\ + \frac{1}{3} \frac{(1+\alpha)3^{\delta}}{C_t} \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{m+1}{(j+1)^2(m-j)^2} + \left(|1-\alpha| + \frac{5\alpha}{2\gamma}\right) \frac{3^{\delta}A_{z\varepsilon}}{C_t} \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m\\ j_1\geq 1}} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j_1^3(j_2+1)^2(j_3+1)^2}.$$

Since  $(1 + \alpha)3^{\delta} \ll C_t(0)$ ,  $A_z \varepsilon < 2B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$ , and

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2(m+1-j)}{j^3(m+2-j)^2} = m + \sum_{j=2}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2(m+1-j)}{j^3(m+2-j)^2} \le m + m(1+\frac{1}{m}) \sum_{j=2}^{m} \frac{m+1}{j^3(m+2-j)} \le m + 10m,$$
(5.20)

it follows from our bounds in §  ${\bf B}$  that

$$(\cdots) \leq (1+\alpha)m\mathcal{O}(1) + \mathcal{O}(1).$$

26

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \dot{E}_{k}^{m,q} &+ \frac{1}{2} D_{k} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq \left[ -mq\kappa + (4 + B_{z}\varepsilon) D_{k} + \alpha mq (B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k}) )\varepsilon \right] E_{k}^{m,q} \\ &+ qm \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1 + \alpha) A_{k} A_{z} \varepsilon^{2}) + q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}(A_{k} A_{z} \varepsilon^{2}) \\ &\leq \left[ -mq\kappa + (4 + B_{z}\varepsilon) D_{k} + \alpha mq (B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k}) )\varepsilon \right] E_{k}^{m,q} + m \mathcal{O}((1 + \alpha) A_{k} A_{z} \varepsilon^{3/2})^{q} \\ &+ (m+1)(q-1)\varepsilon^{\frac{q}{2(q-1)}} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} + \mathcal{O}(A_{k} A_{z} \varepsilon^{3/2})^{q}. \end{split}$$

$$(5.21)$$

Since  $\varepsilon < 1$  and  $\frac{q}{q-1} > 1,$  this can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} \dot{E}_k^{m,q} + \left[\frac{1}{2}D_k - (m+1)(q-1)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] \left[\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^q_x}}{m! C_t^m}\right]^q \\ &\leq \left[-mq\kappa + (4+B_z\varepsilon)D_k + \alpha mq(B_z + \frac{3}{2\gamma}B_k))\varepsilon\right] E_k^{m,q} + m\mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)A_kA_z\varepsilon^{3/2})^q + \mathcal{O}(A_kA_z\varepsilon^{3/2})^q. \end{split}$$

It now follows from the lower and upper bounds in (5.17) that

$$\dot{E}_{k}^{m,q} \le -mq \max(1,\alpha) E_{k}^{m,q} + m\mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)A_{k}A_{z}\varepsilon^{3/2})^{q} + \mathcal{O}(A_{k}A_{z}\varepsilon^{3/2})^{q}.$$
(5.22)

This implies (see Lemma **B**.1) that for all  $t \in [0, T]$  we have

$$E_k^{m,q}(t) \le \max\left(E_k^{m,q}(0), \frac{\mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)A_kA_z\varepsilon^{3/2})^q}{q\max(1,\alpha)} + \frac{\mathcal{O}(A_kA_z\varepsilon^{3/2})^q}{mq\max(1,\alpha)}\right),$$
$$\implies E_k^{m,q}(t)^{1/q} \le \max\left(E_k^{m,q}(0)^{1/q}, \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)^{1-\frac{1}{q}}A_kA_z\varepsilon^{3/2}) + \mathcal{O}(A_kA_z\varepsilon^{3/2})\right).$$

Therefore, (5.13) and the fact that  $A_k < 2B_k, A_z < 2B_z$ , now gives us

$$E_k^{m,q}(t)^{1/q} \le \max\left(\frac{1}{2^m B_k}, \mathcal{O}(B_z(1+\alpha)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\right) B_k \varepsilon \qquad \forall t \in [0,T].$$

Sending  $q \to \infty$  now yields

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le \max\left(\frac{1}{2^m B_k}, \mathcal{O}(B_z(1+\alpha)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\right) B_k \varepsilon, \qquad \forall t \in [0,T].$$

Since  $(1 + \alpha)^2 B_z^2 \varepsilon \ll 1$ ,  $m \ge 1$ , and  $B_k > 1$ , (5.12a) now follows. To obtain the bound (5.12b) for  $t \in [0, T]$  and thus conclude our bootstrap argument, it is best to bound the sum  $E_z^{m,q} + E_k^{m,q}$  instead of dealing with  $E_z^{m,q}$  on its own. The proof for bounding  $E_z^{m,q} + E_k^{m,q}$ , however, is essentially the same as the computations that were just carried out to bound  $E_q^{m,k}$ .

Taking  $\partial_t^m$  of (4.4) yields the identity

$$\begin{split} \eta_x \partial_t^{m+1} \mathring{Z} &= 2\alpha \Sigma \partial_t^m \partial_x \mathring{Z} - [\frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} + (1+\alpha) \eta_x \mathring{Z} + m\eta_{xt} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}] \partial_t^m \mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \partial_t^m \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} \\ &- \sum_{j=2}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_t^{m+1-j} \mathring{Z} + 2\alpha \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^{j-1} \Sigma_t \partial_t^{m-j} \partial_x \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_x \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^j \mathring{Z} \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \partial_t^j \mathring{K} \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^m \binom{m}{j} \Big[ \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \partial_t^{j-1} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \partial_t^{j-1} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \partial_t^{j-1} \Sigma_t \eta_x \mathring{W} \partial_t^{m-j} \mathring{K} \Big] \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{j_1+j_2+j_3=m}} \binom{m}{j_1 j_2 j_3} \partial_t^{j_1-1} \eta_{xt} \Big( - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_t^{j_2} \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \partial_t^{j_2} \mathring{K} \Big) \partial_t^{j_3} \mathring{Z} \end{split}$$

$$+ \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_{x} \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=m \\ j_{1},j_{2} \geq 1}} \binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}} \partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z}$$

$$- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=m \\ j_{1},j_{3} \geq 1}} \binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}} \partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t}$$

$$+ \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}+j_{4}=m \\ j_{1},j_{2} \geq 1}} \binom{m}{j_{1}j_{2}j_{3}j_{4}} \partial_{t}^{j_{1}-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{4}} \mathring{Z}.$$

$$(5.23)$$

Computations analogous to those performed above for  $E_k^{m,q}$  give us the inequality

$$\begin{split} \dot{E}_{z}^{m,q} &+ \frac{1}{2} D_{z} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq [-mq\kappa + 4D_{z} + \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)(mq+1)B_{z}\varepsilon)] E_{z}^{m,q} \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right] \\ &+ qm \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)A_{z}^{2}\varepsilon^{2}) + q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}(A_{z}^{2}\varepsilon^{2}), \end{split}$$
(5.24)

where  $D_z$  is defined as

$$D_{z} := \frac{1-\alpha}{2} + q[(\alpha\delta - \frac{1+\alpha}{2})m - \frac{1-\alpha}{2}].$$
(5.25)

The constant  $D_z$  satisfies the bounds

$$\frac{1}{2}(q-1) + 5mq\max(1,\alpha) \le D_z < mq\alpha\delta.$$
(5.26)

Adding (5.21) and (5.24) together gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{E}_{k}^{m,q} + \dot{E}_{z}^{m,q} + \left[\frac{1}{2}D_{k} - \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} - (m+1)(q-1)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}}\right] \left[\frac{(m+1)^{2}\|\Sigma^{-\delta m}\partial_{t}^{m}\mathring{K}\|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m!C_{t}^{n}}\right]^{q} \\ + \left[\frac{1}{2}D_{z} - (q-1)(\frac{\alpha}{\gamma} + (m+1)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\right] \left[\frac{(m+1)^{2}\|\Sigma^{-\delta m}\partial_{t}^{m}\mathring{Z}\|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m!C_{t}^{m}}\right]^{q} \\ \leq \left[-mq\kappa + 4\max(D_{k}, D_{z}) + \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)(mq+1)B_{z}\varepsilon)\right] \left(E_{k}^{m,q} + E_{z}^{m,q}\right) \\ + 2m\mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)A_{z}^{2}\varepsilon^{3/2})^{q} + 2\mathcal{O}(A_{z}^{2}\varepsilon^{3/2})^{q}. \end{split}$$

Using (5.17), (5.26), and (5.10) gives us

$$\dot{E}_{k}^{m,q} + \dot{E}_{z}^{m,q} \le -mq \max(1,\alpha) \left( E_{k}^{m,q} + E_{z}^{m,q} \right) + 2m\mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)A_{z}^{2}\varepsilon^{3/2})^{q} + 2\mathcal{O}(A_{z}^{2}\varepsilon^{3/2})^{q}.$$

From here, carrying out the same ODE comparison argument as before and then sending  $q 
ightarrow \infty$  gives us

$$\max\left(\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t}, \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t}\right) \le B_z \varepsilon.$$

# 5.4. Bounds on the remaining derivatives. It follows from the definition (5.10) of $\kappa$ that $C_t$ satisfies

 $C_t(t) \le C_t(0)e^{\kappa T_*} < C_t(0)e^{2(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})(2+5\delta)}$ 

for all  $t \in [0, T_*)$ . Therefore, if we define the constant

$$\overline{C}_t := C_t(0)e^{(11+\log 3)\delta+5},$$
(5.27)

then

$$\overline{C}_t > 3^{\delta} C_t(t) \tag{5.28}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_*)$ . It follows from Proposition 5.4 and (4.7) that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_t^m \check{K}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! \overline{C}_t^m} \le B_k \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_t^m \check{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! \overline{C}_t^m} \le B_z \varepsilon, \tag{5.29}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_*), 0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ .

**Proposition 5.5.** Suppose the hypotheses of Proposition 5.4 are satisfied, and additionally  $\overline{C}_x$  is a constant satisfying

$$\overline{C}_x \gg 1, \qquad \qquad \alpha \overline{C}_x \gg \overline{C}_t.$$

Then if  $(1 + \alpha)B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  the following bounds hold for all  $t \in [0, T_*)$  and  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$ :

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le B_k \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \mathring{Z}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le B_z \varepsilon, \tag{5.30a}$$

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \Sigma_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 4\alpha B_z \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\Sigma^{-1})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 4\alpha B_z \varepsilon, \qquad (5.30b)$$

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta}(\eta_x \mathring{W})\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le \frac{4}{3},$$
(5.30c)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_x^{\beta_x}\overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 1, \qquad \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_x^{\beta_x}\overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 1.$$

$$(5.30d)$$

*Proof.* We proceed by induction on  $\beta_x$ .

 $(|\beta|$ 

 $\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^\beta \eta_x\|_{L^\infty_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}^{\beta_x} \overline{C}^{\beta_t}} \leq 3,$ 

*Base Case:* When  $\beta_x = 0$ , (5.30a) is implied by (5.29). The rest of the inequalities (5.30b)–(5.30d) in the case  $\beta_x = 0$  now follow by applying the a priori estimates of § 5.2 with  $A_k = B_k$ ,  $A_z = B_z$ ,  $\delta = 0$ , and  $C_t = \overline{C}_t$ .

*Inductive Step:* Fix m with  $0 \le m \le 2n$  and suppose that the estimates (5.30a) - (5.30d) are true for choices of  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x \le m$ .

We first prove that (5.30a) is true for choices of  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x = m + 1$ . This needs to be done first, because it will be used to prove that the rest of the bounds (5.30b) - (5.30d) hold for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x = m + 1$ .

Fix a choice of  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \leq 2n$  and  $\beta_x = m$ . We will prove that (5.30a) is true for  $\beta + e_x$ . To do this, take  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (5.9a) to obtain

$$\begin{split} &\alpha\partial^{\beta+e_x}\mathring{K} = \Sigma^{-1}\eta_x\partial^{\beta+e_t}\mathring{K} + \sum_{\substack{je_x+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\j\geq 1}} \binom{\beta}{je_x\gamma_2\gamma_3}\partial^{j-1}(\Sigma^{-1})_x\partial^{\gamma_2}\eta_x\partial^{\gamma_3+e_t}\mathring{K} \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\eta_x\partial^{\gamma_3+e_t}\mathring{K} + \frac{1}{2}\Sigma^{-1}\sum_{\gamma\leq\beta} \binom{\beta}{\gamma}\partial^{\gamma}\mathring{K}\partial^{\beta-\gamma}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\Sigma^{-1}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3}\partial^{\gamma_1}\eta_x\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{je_x+\gamma_2+\gamma_3+\gamma_4=\beta\\j\geq 1}} \binom{\beta}{je_x\gamma_2\gamma_3\gamma_4}\partial^{j-1}(\Sigma^{-1})_x\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{je_x+\gamma_2+\gamma_3+\gamma_4=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3\gamma_4}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3\gamma_4}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{je_x+\gamma_2+\gamma_3+\gamma_4=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3\gamma_4}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3\gamma_4}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{je_x+\gamma_2+\gamma_3+\gamma_4=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3\gamma_4}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_2}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_3}(\eta_x\mathring{W}) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta\\\gamma_1\geq e_t}}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1\gamma_2\gamma_3}\partial^{\gamma_1-e_t}(\Sigma^{-1})_t\partial^{\gamma_1}\mathring{K}\partial^{\gamma_1}(\eta_x) \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1+\gamma_2+\gamma_3=\beta$$

Applying our inductive hypothesis and Lemma B.2 gives us

$$\alpha \frac{(|\beta| + e_x| + 1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} K\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta + e_x|! \overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_x + 1} \overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_t} B_k \varepsilon} \leq 9 \frac{\overline{C}_t}{\overline{C}_x} + 30 \frac{\overline{C}_t}{\overline{C}_x^2} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = |\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j_1^{3/2} (j_2 + 1)^2 (j_3 + 1)^2} \\ + \frac{1}{\overline{C}_x} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{|\beta| + 1} \left[ 24 \alpha B_z \varepsilon \sum_{\substack{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = |\beta| \\ j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = |\beta|}} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{j_1^{3/2} (j_2 + 1)^2 (j_3 + 2)} + 2 \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{(j_1 + 1)^2 (|\beta| + 1 - j)^2} + \frac{9}{2} B_z \varepsilon \sum_{\substack{j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = |\beta| \\ j_1 + j_2 + j_3 = |\beta|}} \frac{|\beta| + 2}{(j_1 + 1)^2 (j_2 + 1)^2 (j_3 + 2)} \right]$$

$$+ \frac{1}{\overline{C}_{x}^{2}} \frac{|\beta|+2}{|\beta|+1} \left[ \frac{20}{3} \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=|\beta|\\j_{1}\geq 1}} \frac{|\beta|+2}{j_{1}^{3}(j_{2}+1)^{2}(j_{3}+1)^{2}} + 15B_{z}\varepsilon \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}+j_{4}=|\beta|\\j_{1}\geq 1}} \frac{|\beta|+2}{j_{1}^{3}(j_{2}+1)^{2}(j_{3}+1)^{2}(j_{4}+1)^{2}} \right] \\ + \frac{4\alpha B_{z}\varepsilon}{\overline{C}_{x}\overline{C}_{t}} \frac{|\beta|+2}{|\beta|+1} \left[ \frac{4}{3} \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=|\beta|\\j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}=|\beta|}} \frac{|\beta|+2}{j_{1}^{3}(j_{2}+1)^{2}(j_{3}+1)^{2}} + 3B_{z}\varepsilon \sum_{\substack{j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}+j_{4}=|\beta|\\j_{1}+j_{2}+j_{3}+j_{4}=|\beta|}} \frac{|\beta|+2}{j_{1}^{3}(j_{2}+1)^{2}(j_{3}+1)^{2}(j_{4}+1)^{2}} \right].$$

The computations from § B now imply that

$$\frac{(|\beta| + e_x| + 1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta + e_x|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x + 1} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t} B_k \varepsilon} \lesssim \frac{1}{\alpha \overline{C}_x} [\overline{C}_t + \frac{\overline{C}_t}{\overline{C}_x} + 1 + (1 + \alpha) B_z \varepsilon + \frac{1 + B_z \varepsilon}{\overline{C}_x} + \frac{\alpha B_z \varepsilon (1 + B_z \varepsilon)}{\overline{C}_t}]$$

If  $\alpha \overline{C}_x \gg \overline{C}_t$  and  $\overline{C}_x \gg 1$ , then the righthand side is less than 1, which proves (5.30a) for  $\partial^{\beta+e_x} \mathring{K}$ . The bound on  $\partial^{\beta+e_x} \mathring{Z}$  can be proven in an identical manner, so the inductive step for (5.30a) is complete.

We next prove (5.30b) is true for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n+1$  and  $\beta_x = m+1$ . Pick  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n+1$  and  $\beta_x = m+1$ , and take  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.2a). Using the the inductive hypothesis and the fact that (5.30a) has been proven already for multi-indices with  $\beta_x \le m+1$ , our hypotheses on  $\overline{C}_t, \overline{C}_x$  and  $\varepsilon$  imply that

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \Sigma_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t} \alpha B_z \varepsilon} \le 3 + \frac{9}{2\gamma} \frac{B_k}{B_z} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\alpha B_z \varepsilon}{\overline{C}_t} + \frac{1}{\overline{C}_x}) < 4,$$
$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\Sigma^{-1})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t} \alpha B_z \varepsilon} \le 3 + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \frac{B_k}{B_z} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\alpha B_z \varepsilon}{\overline{C}_t} + \frac{1}{\overline{C}_x}) < 4.$$

Now we prove the inequalities (5.30c) are true for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x = m + 1$ . We will do this via a bootstrap argument. Fix a time  $T \in [0, T_*)$ , and suppose that

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^\beta \eta_x\|_{L^\infty_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \leq 4, \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^\beta (\eta_x \vec{W})\|_{L^\infty_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \leq 2,$$

for all  $t \in [0,T]$  and all  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \leq 2n + 1$ ,  $\beta_x = m + 1$  and. Taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.2d) and (4.2e) and applying our bootstrap hypotheses, our inductive hypotheses, and the fact that (5.30a) has already been proven for multi-indices with  $\beta_x \leq m + 1$ , we arrive at

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \eta_{xt}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \leq \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} + \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)B_z \varepsilon) \leq \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (2 + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon)),$$
$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \lesssim B_z \varepsilon,$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$ ,  $\beta_x = m + 1$ . At time t = 0, Proposition 5.1 and (5.2) imply that

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^\beta(\eta_x \dot{W})\|_{L^\infty_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \leq \frac{1}{2}$$

for all  $\beta$  with  $1 \leq |\beta| \leq 2n + 1$ . Now the identities

$$\partial^{\beta} \eta_{x} = \int_{0}^{t} \partial^{\beta} \eta_{xt} \, ds,$$
$$\partial^{\beta} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W}) = \partial^{\beta} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W}) (\cdot, 0) + \int_{0}^{t} \partial^{\beta} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \, ds$$

together with (4.12a) and our hypotheses on  $\varepsilon$  imply

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \eta_x\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le (1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})(2+\mathcal{O}(B_z\varepsilon)) < 3,$$
$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 1.$$

This completes our bootstrap argument and proves (5.30c) for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x \le m + 1$ .

From here, one can prove that (5.30d) is true for  $\partial^{\beta} \Sigma_x$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x = m + 1$  by applying  $\partial^{\beta}$  to (4.2b) and using the inductive hypotheses along with the fact that we have already proven (5.30a) for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x = m + 1$ .

Lastly, our bounds on  $\partial^{\beta}(\Sigma^{-1})_x$  can now be proven by taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of the identity (5.8) and using the fact that our bounds on  $\partial^{\beta}\Sigma_x$  have been proven for  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \leq 2n + 1$  and  $\beta_x \leq m + 1$ .

Corollary 5.6. Under the hypotheses of the previous proposition, we also have that

$$\frac{||\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \Sigma\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 3,$$
(5.31a)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta}(\eta_x \check{W})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le \frac{5}{8} B_z \varepsilon,$$
(5.31b)

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 20 \max(1,\alpha) B_z \varepsilon,$$
(5.31c)

for  $|\beta| \le 2n + 1$ .

*Proof.* The inequality (5.31a) follows from (4.7), (5.30b), (5.30d), and our hypotheses on  $\overline{C}_t$  and  $\overline{C}_x$ . The inequality (5.31b) follows from taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.2e) and applying the bounds from Proposition 5.5.

Taking  $\partial^{\beta}$  of (4.2d) and applying (5.30a), (5.30c), (5.31a), and Lemma B.3 gives us

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^\beta \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial^\beta (\eta_x \mathring{W})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t} B_z \varepsilon} \leq \frac{3|1-\alpha|}{2} \sum_{j=0}^{|\beta|} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2}{(j+1)^2 (|\beta|+1-j)^2} + \frac{9\alpha}{2\gamma} \frac{B_k}{B_z} \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=|\beta|} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2}{(j_1+1)^2 (j_2+1)^2 (j_3+1)^2} \\ \leq \frac{3|1-\alpha|}{2} \cdot \frac{4\pi^2}{3} + \frac{9\alpha}{2\gamma} \cdot \frac{1}{3e^{21}} \cdot \frac{3\pi^4}{4} \\ = 2\pi^2 |1-\alpha| + \frac{9\pi^4\alpha}{8(2\alpha+1)e^{21}} \\ < 20 \max(1,\alpha).$$

Corollary 5.7. Under the hypotheses of the previous propositions, we have that

$$\|\partial_x^i \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} w_0\|_{L_x^\infty} \le 21 \max(1,\alpha) \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon$$
(5.32a)

for all  $t \in [0, T_*), i = 0, \dots, 2n + 1$ ,

$$\|\partial_x^i \eta_x - (\delta_{i0} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t \partial_x^{i+1} w_0)\|_{L^\infty_x} \le 21 \max(1,\alpha) t \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon,$$
(5.32b)

for all  $t \in [0, T_*], i = 0, ..., 2n + 1$ , and

$$\|\partial_x^i \partial_t \eta_{xt}\|_{L^\infty_x} \le 21(1+\alpha) \frac{i!}{i+1} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon, \tag{5.32c}$$

for  $t \in [0, T_*), i = 0, \dots, 2n$ .

Proof. Since

$$\partial_x^i \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} w_0 = \partial_x^i \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^i (\eta_x \mathring{W}) - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \frac{1}{2\gamma} \partial_x^i (\sigma_0 k_0') + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \int_0^t \partial_x^i (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t \, ds,$$

it follows from Corollary 5.6 that for i = 0, ..., 2n + 1 we have

$$\frac{(i+1)^2 \|\partial_x^i \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} w_0\|_{L^\infty_x}}{i!\overline{C}_x^i} \le 20 \max(1,\alpha) B_z \varepsilon + \frac{1+\alpha}{4} \frac{(i+1)^2 \|\partial_x^i (\sigma_0 k'_0)\|_{L^\infty_x}}{i!\overline{C}_x^i} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} T_* \frac{5\alpha}{4\gamma} B_z \varepsilon.$$

Since  $\overline{C}_x > \overline{C}_t > 3^{\delta}C_t(0) > 6^{\delta}C_0$ , it follows (see the computations in the proof of Proposition 5.1) that

$$\frac{(i+1)^2 \|\partial_x^i(\sigma_0 k_0')\|_{L_x^\infty}}{i! \overline{C}_x^i} < \varepsilon$$

Therefore, we arrive at

$$\frac{(i+1)^2 \|\partial_x^i \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} w_0\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{i! \overline{C}_x^i} \le \max(1,\alpha) B_z \varepsilon [20 + \frac{1}{2B_z} + \frac{5}{8} (1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})] < 21 \max(1,\alpha) B_z \varepsilon.$$

This bound implies (5.32a).

To obtain (5.32b), integrate (5.32a) in time. The last inequality (5.32c) is a direct application of (5.31b) and (5.31c).  $\Box$ 

## 6. Stability estimates with respect to perturbations of $w_0$

We will now quantify the stability of solutions with initial data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  with respect to perturbations in  $w_0$ . Fix a specific choice of data  $(\overline{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ . In this section, we will consider initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  of the form

$$v_0 = \overline{w}_0 + \lambda \widetilde{w}_0, \qquad z_0 = z_0, \qquad k_0 = k_0,$$

where  $\widetilde{w}_0 \in W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widetilde{w}_0\|_{L^{\infty}_x} &\leq L, \\ \frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}\widetilde{w}_0\|_{L^{\infty}}}{i!} &\leq LC_0^i \\ \end{aligned} \qquad \forall i = 0, \dots, 2n+1 \end{aligned}$$

for some positive constant L, and  $\lambda$  is in a small enough neighborhood of 0 that  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  is still in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  for all  $\lambda$  considered. Such initial data now defines a family of solutions  $\mathring{K} = \mathring{K}(x, t, \lambda), \mathring{Z} = \mathring{Z}(x, t, \lambda)$ , etc. with initial data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ . Our goal is the estimate the partial derivatives  $(\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda}, \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}, \mathring{K}_{\lambda}, \Sigma_{\lambda}$ , etc. and their derivatives in space x and time t. In the end, we will obtain the estimates stated in § 6.4, which should be viewed as extensions to the bounds obtained earlier in § 5.4. These estimates will be used in § 8.4. The results in this section and their proofs will be essentially analogous to those found in § 5, with only minor differences. For this reason, less detail will be provided; however, the key differences between the proofs in this section and the corresponding proofs in the previous section will be highlighted.

Taking  $\partial_{\lambda}$  of (4.5) gives us the system

$$\partial_{\lambda}\Sigma_{t} = \alpha\Sigma_{\lambda}(-\mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{\gamma}\Sigma\mathring{K}) - \alpha\Sigma\mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\Sigma^{2}\mathring{K}_{\lambda},$$
(6.1a)

$$\partial_{\lambda}\eta_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2}(\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda} + \partial_{\lambda}\eta_x(\frac{1-\alpha}{2}\mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\Sigma\mathring{K}) + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\eta_x\Sigma_{\lambda}\mathring{K} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2}\eta_x\mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\eta_x\Sigma\mathring{K}_{\lambda}, \tag{6.1b}$$

$$\partial_{\lambda}(\eta_x \mathring{W})_t = \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} (\Sigma_{\lambda} \mathring{K} + \Sigma \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) (\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z}) + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}[(\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda} + \partial_{\lambda} \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \eta_x \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}], \tag{6.1c}$$

$$\partial_{\lambda}\Sigma_{x} = \frac{1}{2}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda}\eta_{x}\mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{x}\mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2\gamma}[\partial_{\lambda}\eta_{x}\Sigma\mathring{K} + \eta_{x}\Sigma_{\lambda}\mathring{K} + \eta_{x}\Sigma\mathring{K}_{\lambda}],$$
(6.1d)

$$\eta_x \partial_t \mathring{K}_{\lambda} = \alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{K}_{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} [\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z}] - \partial_\lambda \eta_x \partial_t \mathring{K} + \alpha \Sigma_\lambda \partial_x \mathring{K}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} - \frac{1}{2} \mathring{K} [(\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda} + \partial_\lambda \eta_x \mathring{Z}],$$
(6.1e)

$$\eta_x \partial_t \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} = 2\alpha \Sigma \partial_x \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} [-\frac{1-\alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} - (1+\alpha) \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K}]$$

$$- \partial_\lambda \eta_x \partial_t \mathring{Z} + 2\alpha \Sigma_\lambda \partial_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \Sigma (\eta_x \mathring{Z} - \eta_x \mathring{W})$$

$$+ \mathring{Z} [-\frac{1-\alpha}{2} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_\lambda \eta_x \mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} (\partial_\lambda \eta_x \Sigma + \eta_x \Sigma_{\lambda}) \mathring{K}].$$

$$(6.1f)$$

Mulitplying (6.1e) and (6.1f) by  $\Sigma^{-1}$  and rearranging gives us

$$\alpha \partial_x \mathring{K}_{\lambda} = \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} \partial_t \mathring{K}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \Sigma^{-1} [\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z}] + \partial_\lambda \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} \partial_t \mathring{K} - \alpha \Sigma_\lambda \Sigma^{-1} \partial_x \mathring{K}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \mathring{K} \Sigma^{-1} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \mathring{K} [(\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda} + \partial_\lambda \eta_x \mathring{Z}].$$
(6.1g)

$$2\alpha\partial_{x}\mathring{Z}_{\lambda} = \eta_{x}\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{t}\mathring{Z}_{\lambda} - \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}[-\frac{1-\alpha}{2}\Sigma^{-1}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W}) - (1+\alpha)\eta_{x}\Sigma^{-1}\mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}\eta_{x}\mathring{K}]$$

$$+ \partial_{\lambda}\eta_{x}\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{t}\mathring{Z} - 2\alpha\Sigma_{\lambda}\Sigma^{-1}\partial_{x}\mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}\mathring{K}_{\lambda}(\eta_{x}\mathring{Z} - \eta_{x}\mathring{W})$$

$$(6.1h)$$

$$- \mathring{Z}\left[-\frac{1-\alpha}{2}\Sigma^{-1}(\eta_x\mathring{W})_{\lambda} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2}\partial_{\lambda}\eta_x\Sigma^{-1}\mathring{Z} + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}(\partial_{\lambda}\eta_x + \eta_x\Sigma_{\lambda}\Sigma^{-1})\mathring{K}\right].$$

Notice that  $\partial_{\lambda}(\Sigma^{-1})$  does not appear in any of the above equations; for this reason, we will not have to estimate  $\partial_{\lambda}(\Sigma^{-1})$  or any of its derivatives.

## 6.1. Estimates at time zero.

**Proposition 6.1.** Let  $C_x$  and  $C_t$  and be constants satisfying

- $\mathcal{C}_x \geq 2e^3 C_0$ ,
- $\mathcal{C}_x \gg 1$ ,

- $\mathcal{C}_t \gg (1+\alpha)$ ,
- $\alpha C_x \ll C_t$ .

Then if  $(1 + \alpha)\varepsilon \ll 1$  we have the following bounds at time t = 0 for all multi indices  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! L \mathcal{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \mathcal{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq \varepsilon, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma_{t}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! L \mathcal{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \mathcal{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq \varepsilon, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} (\eta_{x} \|_{L_{x}^{\infty}})}{|\beta|! L \mathcal{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \mathcal{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq 7\alpha\varepsilon, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} (\eta_{x} \|_{L_{x}^{\infty}})}{|\beta|! L \mathcal{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \mathcal{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq 1+\alpha), \end{aligned}$$

*Proof.* Our proof will be almost identical to the proof of Proposition 5.1. We will do induction on  $\beta_t$ . *Base Case:* Recall from the proof of Proposition 5.1 that at time t = 0

$$\begin{split} \Sigma &= \sigma_0, \qquad \eta_x = 1, \qquad \eta_x \mathring{W} = w'_0 - \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sigma_0 k'_0, \qquad & \mathring{Z} = z'_0 + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \sigma_0 k'_0, \\ \mathring{K} &= k'_0, \qquad & \Sigma_t = -\alpha \sigma_0 z'_0 \qquad & \eta_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2} w'_0 + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} z'_0, \qquad & (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t = \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \sigma_0 k'_0 (w'_0 + z'_0) \end{split}$$

Taking  $\partial_{\lambda}$  of these equations gives

$$\Sigma_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{2}\widetilde{w}_{0} \quad \partial_{\lambda}\eta_{x} = 0, \qquad (\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{\lambda} = \widetilde{w}_{0}' - \frac{1}{4\gamma}\widetilde{w}_{0}k_{0}', \qquad \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} = \frac{1}{4\gamma}\widetilde{w}_{0}k_{0}', \\ \mathring{K}_{\lambda} = 0, \qquad \partial_{\lambda}\Sigma_{t} = -\frac{\alpha}{2}\widetilde{w}_{0}z_{0}' \qquad \partial_{\lambda}\eta_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2}\widetilde{w}_{0}', \qquad \partial_{\lambda}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t} = \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}[\frac{1}{2}\widetilde{w}_{0}k_{0}'(w_{0}' + z_{0}') + \sigma_{0}k_{0}'\widetilde{w}_{0}'],$$
(6.2)

at time t = 0. Now take  $p_x^m$  of these equations for m = 0, ..., 2n and perform computations analogous to those in the  $\beta_t = 0$  step of the proof of Proposition 5.1 to conclude our base case. One can also compute the analog of (5.2),

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\partial_x^m(\eta_x W)_\lambda\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! L\mathcal{C}_x^m} \le 1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{4\gamma},$$

to use in the inductive step.

Inductive Step: The inductive step will also be analogous to the inductive step in the proof of Proposition 5.1: fix  $0 \le m \le 2n - 1$ , and suppose our result is true for all multi-indices  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \le 2n$  and  $\beta_t \le m$ .

We first do the inductive step for  $\mathring{K}_{\lambda}$  and  $\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}$ . Let  $|\beta| \leq 2n - 1$ ,  $\beta_t = m$ . Take the identities for  $\partial^{\beta+e_t}\mathring{K}$  and  $\partial^{\beta+e_t}\mathring{Z}$  used in the proof of Proposition 5.1, apply  $\partial_{\lambda}$  to each of these equations, and use (6.2) to simplify. From here, use the inductive hypotheses and (5.1) to obtain bounds on  $\partial^{\beta+e_t}\mathring{K}_{\lambda}$  and  $\partial^{\beta+e_t}\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}$  via the same types of computations as used in the proof of Proposition 5.1. Because  $C_x \gg 1$ ,  $C_t \gg \alpha C_x$ , and  $C_t \gg 1 + \alpha$ , the computations go through just like before.

The inductive step for the remaining three inequalities can be done using (5.1) and our inductive hypotheses in conjunction with our bounds on  $\partial^{\beta} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}$  and  $\partial^{\beta} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}$  in a manner completely analogous to the corresponding steps in the proof of Proposition 5.1.

6.2. A Priori estimates for time derivatives. In this section, we will fix a time  $T \in (0, T_*]$ , a positive function  $C_t : [0, T_*) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ , a constant  $\delta \ge 0$ , and constants A, M satisfying

$$A \ge 10B_z, \qquad M \ge \max(1, 5L),$$

and assume that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! M C_t^m} \le A\varepsilon, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! M C_t^m} \le A\varepsilon, \tag{6.3}$$

for all  $t \in [0,T], 0 \le m \le 2n$ . We will furthermore assume that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le B_k \varepsilon, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le B_z \varepsilon, \tag{6.4}$$

for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2n + 1$ . Note that the hypotheses (6.4) imply that the a priori estimates of § 5.2 all hold with  $A_k = B_k$ ,  $A_z = B_z$  for these choices of  $C_t$  and  $\delta$ . We will use this fact throughout this subsection and the next.

**Proposition 6.2.** If  $(1 + \alpha)B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  and  $A\varepsilon \ll 1$ , then for all  $t \in [0, T]$  we have

$$\frac{\|\Sigma_{\lambda}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{M} \le \frac{1}{9}, \qquad \frac{\|\partial_{\lambda}\eta_{x}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{M} \le 1, \qquad \frac{\|(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{\lambda}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{M} \le \frac{3}{4}.$$
(6.5)

*Proof.* (6.1a) gives us a Duhamel formula for  $\Sigma_{\lambda}$  from which it follows that

$$|\Sigma_{\lambda}(x,t)| \leq \frac{1}{2} |\widetilde{w}_0(x)| e^{\mathcal{O}(\alpha t B_z \varepsilon)} + \alpha t M A \varepsilon [3 + \frac{9}{2\gamma}]$$

for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0,T]$ . Since  $M \ge \max(1,5L)$ , if  $B_z \varepsilon$  and  $A\varepsilon$  are small enough we have  $\|\Sigma\|_{L^\infty_x} \le \frac{M}{9}$ . The remaining bounds follow from a bootstrap argument. Let  $T' \in [0,T]$  and assume that

$$\frac{\|\partial_{\lambda}\eta_x\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{M} \leq 2, \qquad \frac{\|(\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{M} \leq \frac{3}{4} + \varepsilon,$$

for all  $t \in [0, T']$ . Then using (6.1b), (6.1c), and the equations

$$\partial_{\lambda}\eta_{x} = \int_{0}^{t} \partial_{\lambda}\eta_{xt} \, ds, \qquad (\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{\lambda} = \widetilde{w}_{0}' - \frac{1}{4\gamma}\widetilde{w}_{0}k_{0}' + \int_{0}^{t} \partial_{\lambda}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W})_{t} \, ds$$

allows us to prove (6.5) for  $t \in [0, T']$ , which concludes our bootstrap argument.

**Proposition 6.3.** If the hypotheses of the previous proposition are satisfied, and  $C_t(0), \varepsilon$  also satisfy

$$(1+\alpha)3^{\delta} \ll C_t(0), \qquad (1+\alpha)B_z \varepsilon \ll 1,$$

then

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \partial_\lambda \Sigma_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! M C_t^m} \le 8\alpha A\varepsilon,$$

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \partial_\lambda \eta_{xt}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! M C_t^m} \le \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (\delta_{0m} + 9A\varepsilon), \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \partial_\lambda (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! M C_t^m} \le A\varepsilon,$$
(6.6)

for all  $t \in [0, T], 0 \le m \le 2n$ .

*Proof.* The proof of these estimates is analogous to the proof of Proposition 5.2: do induction on m; at each step, take  $\partial_t^m$  of the identities (6.1), apply (6.3), the inductive hypotheses, and the estimates from § 5.2; then use the bounds from § B and the fact that  $\frac{(1+\alpha)3^{\delta}}{C_t}$  is sufficiently small to conclude.

Corollary 6.4. Under the hypotheses of the previous proposition, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \partial_\lambda \eta_x\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} &\leq 1, \\ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \partial_\lambda \Sigma_x\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} &\leq 1, \\ [0,T], 0 &\leq m \leq 2n \text{ and} \\ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^{m-1} \partial_x \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} &\leq \frac{10}{\alpha} A \varepsilon, \\ \end{split}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T], 1 \le m \le 2n$ .

*Proof.* This follows from Proposition 6.3 the same way that Corollary 5.3 follows from Proposition 5.2. 

# 6.3. Energy estimates for time derivatives.

**Proposition 6.5.** Define the constant

$$B_{\lambda} := \frac{5}{2} \cdot 9^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} \cdot e^{31}.$$
 (6.7)

Let  $\delta$ ,  $\kappa$  be as in (5.10), and let  $C_t$  and  $\overline{C}_t$  be defined as in (5.11) and (5.27) with these values of  $\delta$ ,  $\kappa$ . If  $C_t(0)$  and Msatisfy

 $M \geq 5L, \qquad C_t(0) \gg (1+\alpha) 3^{\delta}, \qquad C_t(0) \gg \alpha C_0$ 

and  $\varepsilon$  satisfies

for all  $t \in$ 

$$(1+\alpha)^2 B_z^2 \varepsilon \ll 1, \qquad \qquad B_\lambda \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon \ll 1,$$

then

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} \le B_\lambda \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}_\lambda\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} \le B_\lambda \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon, \tag{6.8}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_*), 0 \le m \le 2n$ .

*Proof.* The proof of these estimates is analogous to the energy estimates in the proofs of Proposition 4.1 and Proposition 5.4. We will detail the keys steps of the proof and highlight the slight differences with the previous energy estimates. We proceed as before with a bootstrap argument. Pick a time  $T \in [0, T_*)$  and constant A satisfying

$$B_{\lambda}\overline{C}_{t}B_{z} < A < \frac{4}{3}B_{\lambda}\overline{C}_{t}B_{z},$$

and assume that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} \le A\varepsilon, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}_\lambda\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! M C^m_t} \le A\varepsilon$$

for all  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2n$ . Since  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$  satisfy (5.10), if  $C_t(0)$  is chosen large enough and  $\varepsilon$  is chosen small enough such that they satisfy the hypotheses of Proposition 5.4, we can conclude that (6.4) holds. Suppose that  $B_\lambda \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough that the hypotheses of Proposition 6.2 are satisfied with our choice of A. If  $(1 + \alpha)B_z\varepsilon$  is small enough, these bootstrap hypotheses now imply that we can apply the a priori estimates of § 6.2 to our solution with our chosen values of A and M. Just like in the proof of Proposition 5.4, our hypotheses on  $C_t(0)$ , M, and  $\varepsilon$  allow us to apply Proposition 6.1 with  $C_t := \frac{1}{2}2^{-\delta}C_t(0)$  and get

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! M C_t(0)^m} \le \frac{1}{5} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^m}, \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}_\lambda\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! M C_t(0)^m} \le \frac{1}{5} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^m}, \tag{6.9}$$

at time t = 0 for all  $0 \le m \le 2n$ .

For  $m = 0, \ldots, 2n$  define the energies

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q} := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-q \frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \, dx \quad m = 0\\ \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\delta q m} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \, dx \quad 1 \le m \le 2n \end{cases}, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{m,q} := \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-q \frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} \eta_{x} |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} \, dx \quad m = 0\\ \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\delta q m} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} \, dx \quad 1 \le m \le 2n \end{cases}$$

and for  $1 \le m \le 2n$  define the energies

$$\widetilde{E}_{k}^{m,q} := \frac{(m+1)^{2q} \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q}}{(m!)^{q} M^{q} C_{t}^{mq}}, \qquad \qquad \widetilde{E}_{z}^{m,q} := \frac{(m+1)^{2q} \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{m,q}}{(m!)^{q} M^{q} C_{t}^{mq}}.$$

We will prove (6.8) for  $t \in [0, T]$  separately in the case m = 0 and the case  $1 \le m \le 2n$ , and since this strictly improves upon our bootstrap assumptions our bootstrap argument will be complete.

**Case 1** (m = 0): We will use our bootstrap hypotheses and the estimates from § 5 to perform energy estimates on  $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q}, \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q}$  similar to those in the proof of Proposition 4.1. Since the parameter  $\delta$  does not appear in  $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q}, \tilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q}$ , let us abuse notation and define  $\delta := \frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}$  just for the m = 0 case.

Just like in the proof of Proposition 4.1, taking the time derivative of  $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}_k^{0,q}$  and using our identities (6.1) gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{k}^{0,q} &= [\frac{\alpha}{2}\delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + [\frac{\alpha}{2}\delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \mathring{Z} \\ &+ q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\mathring{K}_{\lambda}) [-\partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t} \mathring{K} + \alpha \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma \partial_{x} \mathring{K}] \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \frac{1}{2} \eta_{x} \mathring{K} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \frac{1}{2} \mathring{K} [(\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{\lambda} + \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \mathring{Z}], \\ \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{z}^{0,q} &= [\alpha \delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (q-1)] \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} \\ &+ \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} [-\frac{1+\alpha}{2} (q-1) \mathring{Z} + [\alpha \delta q + \alpha (\frac{q}{2} - 1)] \frac{1}{2\gamma} \Sigma \mathring{K}] \\ &+ q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_{x} |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) [-\partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t} \mathring{Z} + 2\alpha \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma \partial_{x} \mathring{Z}] \end{split}$$

$$+ q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_x |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn} (\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \Sigma (\eta_x \mathring{Z} - \eta_x \mathring{W}) + q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_x |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn} (\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \mathring{Z} [-\frac{1-\alpha}{2} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_{\lambda} \eta_x \mathring{Z}] + q \int \Sigma^{-\delta q} \eta_x |\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \operatorname{sgn} (\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \mathring{K} \mathring{Z} (\partial_{\lambda} \eta_x \Sigma + \eta_x \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma).$$

The bounds (5.7) and (5.29) tell us that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_x \mathring{K}\|_{L_x^{\infty}} &\leq \frac{5}{2\alpha} \overline{C}_t B_k \varepsilon, \quad \|\partial_x \mathring{Z}\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \leq \frac{5}{4\alpha} \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon, \\ \|\partial_t \mathring{K}\|_{L_x^{\infty}} &\leq \frac{1}{4} \overline{C}_t B_k \varepsilon, \quad \|\partial_t \mathring{Z}\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \leq \frac{1}{4} \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$
(6.10)

Therefore, applying (4.8) as in the proof of Proposition 4.1 gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{k}^{0,q} + \left[ \frac{1}{2} [\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] - (q-1) (\frac{B_{k}}{B_{z}} + \frac{3}{2} B_{k} \varepsilon) \right] \| \Sigma^{-\delta} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}^{q} - \frac{3}{2} B_{k} \varepsilon \| \Sigma^{-\delta} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}^{q} \\ &\leq (4 + B_{z} \varepsilon) [\frac{\alpha}{2} \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} + (3^{\delta} M B_{z} (\frac{19}{36} \overline{C}_{t} + \frac{3}{8} + \frac{1}{2} B_{z} \varepsilon) \varepsilon)^{q}, \\ \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{z}^{0,q} - \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} (1 + \frac{9}{4} B_{z} \varepsilon) \| \Sigma^{-\delta} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}^{q} + \left[ \frac{1}{2} [\alpha \delta q - \frac{q-1}{2}] - (q-1) [\frac{\alpha}{\gamma} (1 + \frac{9}{4} B_{z} \varepsilon) + \frac{1}{2}] \right] \| \Sigma^{-\delta} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}^{q} \\ &\leq (4 [\alpha \delta q - \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (q-1)] + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (q-1) B_{z} \varepsilon + \frac{3}{2\gamma} [\alpha \delta q + \alpha (\frac{q}{2} - 1)] B_{k} \varepsilon) \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q} \\ &+ \left( 2 \cdot 3^{\delta} M B_{z} (\frac{19}{36} \overline{C}_{t} + \frac{3|1-\alpha|}{8} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} B_{z} \varepsilon + \frac{5\alpha}{6\gamma} B_{k} \varepsilon) \varepsilon \right)^{q}. \end{split}$$

Since  $\overline{C}_t > e^5 C_t(0) \gg 1 + \alpha$ , it follows that if  $(1 + \alpha)B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough then

$$\frac{\underline{19}\overline{C}_t + \frac{3}{8} + \frac{1}{2}B_z\varepsilon < \frac{2}{3}\overline{C}_t,}{2(\underline{19}\overline{C}_t + \frac{3|1-\alpha|}{8} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2}B_z\varepsilon + \frac{5\alpha}{6\gamma}B_k\varepsilon) < \frac{4}{3}\overline{C}_t.$$

Adding our inequalities together and using our choice  $\delta = \frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}$  implies that

$$\overset{\cdot}{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{k}^{0,q} + \overset{\cdot}{\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{z}^{0,q} \leq 15 \max(1,\alpha)q(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q} + \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q}) + (\frac{2}{3}3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}M\overline{C}_{t}B_{z}\varepsilon)^{q} + (\frac{4}{3}3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}M\overline{C}_{t}B_{z}\varepsilon)^{q}.$$

ODE comparison now gives us

$$(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q}(t) + \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q}(t)) \leq \left[ (\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{0,q}(0) + \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{0,q}(0)) + \frac{(\frac{2}{3}3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}M\overline{C}_{t}B_{z}\varepsilon)^{q} + (\frac{4}{3}3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}M\overline{C}_{t}B_{z}\varepsilon)^{q}}{15\max(1,\alpha)q} \right] e^{15\max(1,\alpha)qt}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . Taking *q*th roots of both sides, sending  $q \to \infty$ , and using (6.9) and (4.12a) now produces

$$\max(\|\Sigma^{-\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}\mathring{K}_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}}, \|\Sigma^{-\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}\mathring{Z}_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}}) \le M\varepsilon\left[\frac{2^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}}{5} + 2\cdot 3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}\overline{C}_{t}B_{z}\right]e^{31}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ . This gives us (6.8) for  $m = 0, t \in [0, T]$ .

**Case 2**  $(1 \le m \le 2n)$ : Let  $m \ge 1$ . If  $D_k = D_k(m, q, \alpha)$  is the same constant defined by (5.16), then the same computations as in the proof of Proposition 5.4 give us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{k}^{m,q} &= D_{k} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} + (D_{k} + \alpha m q) \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} m q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q} \Sigma \mathring{K} - q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\right) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m+1} \mathring{K} \\ &+ q \alpha \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\right) \Sigma_{\lambda} \partial_{t}^{m} \partial_{x} \mathring{K} \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\right) \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}[\frac{1}{2}(\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{\lambda} + m \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{xt}] \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\right) \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}[\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{x} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}] \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\right) \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}[\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2}\eta_{x} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}] \\ &- q \sum_{j=2}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \left(\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}\right) [\partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} + \partial_{t}^{j-1} \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{K}] \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} &+ \alpha q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) [\partial_{t}^{j-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} + \partial_{t}^{j-1} \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}] \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) [\partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{j} \mathring{Z} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} + \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{j} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} + \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{j} \mathring{Z} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}] \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j=1}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) [\partial_{t}^{j-1} \partial_{\lambda} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K} + \partial_{t}^{j-1} (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}] \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} q \sum_{j_{1} + j_{2} + j_{3} = m} \binom{m}{j_{1} j_{2} j_{3}} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} \, (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda}) \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{j_{2}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_{3}} \mathring{K} \partial_{t}^{j_$$

Just like in the proof of Proposition 5.4, applying (4.8) to the first term of the righthand side, multiplying through by  $(\frac{(m+1)^2}{m!MC_t^m})^q$ , adding  $-\kappa mq \widetilde{E}_k^{m,q}$  to both sides, and using the formulas from § B gives us

$$\begin{split} \tilde{E}_{k}^{m,q} &+ \frac{1}{2} D_{k} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq \left[ -mq\kappa + (4 + B_{z}\varepsilon) D_{k} + \alpha mq (B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k}) \right) \varepsilon \right] \tilde{E}_{k}^{m,q} \\ &+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m+1} \hat{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right] \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{9} q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \partial_{x} \hat{K} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right] \\ &+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} (\frac{3}{8} + m \frac{1+\alpha}{2}) B_{k} \varepsilon \\ &+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \frac{15}{2} (1+\alpha) A B_{z} \varepsilon^{2} \sum_{j=2}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^{2} (m+1-j)}{j^{3} (m+2-j)^{2}} \\ &+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} 40\alpha (1+2 \frac{B_{k}}{B_{z}}) A B_{z} \varepsilon^{2} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^{2} (m+1-j)}{j^{3} (m+2-j)^{2}} \\ &+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha) A B_{z} \varepsilon^{2}) \\ &+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \hat{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha) B_{z}^{2} \varepsilon^{2}). \end{split}$$

Since  $m \leq 2n$ , Corollary 5.3 and (5.28) imply

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \partial_x \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \leq \frac{10}{\alpha} \frac{(m+1)^3}{(m+2)^2} 3^{\delta} C_t B_k \varepsilon \leq \frac{10}{\alpha} (m+1) \overline{C}_t B_k \varepsilon,$$

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^{m+1} \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \leq \frac{(m+1)^3}{(m+2)^2} 3^{\delta} C_t B_k \varepsilon \leq (m+1) \overline{C}_t B_k \varepsilon.$$
(6.11)

Therefore, using (5.20) and the bounds from § B yields

$$\begin{split} \dot{\widetilde{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &+ \frac{1}{2} D_{k} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \widetilde{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq \left[ -mq\kappa + (4 + B_{z} \varepsilon) D_{k} + \alpha mq (B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k}) ) \varepsilon \right] \widetilde{E}_{k}^{m,q} \end{split}$$

$$+ (m+1)q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L_x^q}}{m!MC_t^m} \right]^{q-1} \left[ \frac{19}{9}\overline{C}_t + \frac{3}{8(m+1)} + \frac{m}{m+1} \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (1+9A\varepsilon) \right] B_k \varepsilon$$

$$+ mq \left[ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L_x^q}}{m!MC_t^m} \right]^{q-1} (1+\alpha) A B_z \varepsilon^2 (75+440(1+2\frac{B_k}{B_z})\frac{\alpha}{1+\alpha})$$

$$+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L_x^q}}{m!MC_t^m} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha) A B_z \varepsilon^2)$$

$$+ q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L_x^q}}{m!MC_t^m} \right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha) B_z^2 \varepsilon^2).$$

Since  $A > B_{\lambda}B_{z}\overline{C}_{t}$  and  $B_{\lambda} > e^{31}$ , it follows that if  $(1 + \alpha)B_{z}\varepsilon$  is small enough we have

$$\left[\frac{19}{9}\overline{C}_t + \frac{3}{8(m+1)} + \frac{m}{m+1}\frac{1+\alpha}{2}(1+9A\varepsilon)\right]B_z < \left[\frac{19}{9}\overline{C}_t + \frac{3}{16} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2}\right]B_z + \frac{1}{200}A < \frac{1}{100}A.$$

Therefore if  $(1+\alpha)B_z\varepsilon$  is small enough we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{\widetilde{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &+ \frac{1}{2} D_{k} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq \left[ -mq\kappa + (4 + B_{z}\varepsilon) D_{k} + \alpha mq (B_{z} + \frac{3}{2\gamma} B_{k}) \varepsilon \right] \widetilde{E}_{k}^{m,q} \\ &+ (m+1)q \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \| \Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q-1} \frac{1}{100} A. \end{split}$$

It now follows from the upper bound (5.17) on  $D_k$  and the definition of  $\kappa$  that if  $B_z \varepsilon$  is sufficiently small we get

$$\begin{split} \dot{\widetilde{E}}_{k}^{m,q} + \left[\frac{1}{2}D_{k} - \frac{1}{10}(q-1)(m+1)\right] \left[\frac{(m+1)^{2}\|\Sigma^{-\delta m}\partial_{t}^{m}\widetilde{K}_{\lambda}\|_{L^{q}_{x}}}{m!MC_{t}^{m}}\right]^{q} \\ \leq -mq\max(1,\alpha)\widetilde{E}_{k}^{m,q} + (m+1)\left(\frac{A}{10}\right)^{q}. \end{split}$$
(6.12)

Analogous computations for  $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}_z^{m,q}$  give us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\tilde{\mathcal{E}}}_{z}^{m,q} &= D_{z} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} \eta_{x} \mathring{W} \\ &+ \left[\frac{1+\alpha}{2} - q(\frac{1-\alpha}{2}m+1+\alpha)\right] \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} \mathring{Z} \\ &+ \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} [-1+q(\frac{1}{2}+m(\delta-1))] \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q} \Sigma \mathring{K} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \Sigma (\eta_{x} \mathring{W}) \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{K}_{\lambda} \\ &- q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m+1} \mathring{Z} \\ &+ 2\alpha q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m} \partial_{x} \mathring{Z} \\ &- mq \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \\ &- mq \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} q \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) (\eta_{x} \mathring{W})_{\lambda} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z} \\ &- q \sum_{j=2}^{m} \left( \int_{j} \right) \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) [\partial_{t}^{j-1} \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \partial_{t}^{j-1} \eta_{xt} \partial_{t}^{m+1-j} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}] \\ &+ 2\alpha q \sum_{j=2}^{m} \binom{m}{j} \int \Sigma^{-\delta m q} |\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}|^{q-1} \mathrm{sgn} (\partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}) [\partial_{t}^{j-1} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda} + \partial_{t}^{j-1} \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma_{t} \partial_{t}^{m-j} \partial_{x} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}] \end{split}$$

$$+(...)$$

where  $D_z$  is the same constant defined in (5.25) and the remaining terms referred to as "..." are bounded via

$$\left[\frac{(m+1)^2}{m!MC_t^m}\right]^q |(\ldots)| \le q \left[\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}_\lambda\|_{L_x^q}}{m!MC_t^m}\right]^{q-1} \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)(A+B_z)B_z\varepsilon^2).$$

Therefore, performing the same types of computations done for  $\widetilde{E}_k^{m,q}$  gives us

$$\begin{split} \dot{\widetilde{E}}_{z}^{m,q} &- \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \widetilde{K}_{\lambda}\|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &+ \left[ \frac{1}{2} D_{z} - (q-1) [(m+1)(\frac{1}{10} + \frac{\alpha}{\gamma})] \left[ \frac{(m+1)^{2} \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_{t}^{m} \mathring{Z}_{\lambda}\|_{L_{x}^{q}}}{m! M C_{t}^{m}} \right]^{q} \\ &\leq -mq \max(1, \alpha) \widetilde{E}_{z}^{m,q} + (m+1)(\frac{1}{10} A \varepsilon)^{q}. \end{split}$$

$$(6.13)$$

Using our bounds (5.17) and (5.26), we get

$$\frac{1}{2}D_k > \frac{\alpha}{\gamma} + \frac{1}{10}(q-1)(m+1), \\ \frac{1}{2}D_z > (q-1)(m+1)(\frac{1}{10} + \frac{\alpha}{\gamma}),$$

so we can add (6.12) and (6.13) together to arrive at

$$\dot{\widetilde{E}}_k^{m,q} + \dot{\widetilde{E}}_z^{m,q} \le -mq \max(1,\alpha) (\widetilde{E}_k^{m,q} + \widetilde{E}_z^{m,q}) + 2(m+1)(\frac{1}{10}A\varepsilon)^q.$$

Using ODE comparison (see Lemma B.1), raising both sides to the  $\frac{1}{q}$ , applying (6.9), and sending  $q \to \infty$  gives us

$$\max\left(\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}_\lambda\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! M C_t^m}, \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}_\lambda\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! M C_t^m}\right) \le \max\left(\frac{1}{5} \frac{\varepsilon}{2^m}, \frac{1}{10} A \varepsilon\right) = \frac{1}{10} A \varepsilon.$$

Since  $A < \frac{4}{3}\overline{C}_t B_\lambda B_z$ , we conclude that (6.8) is true for  $t \in [0,T]$ . This closes our bootstrap argument.

6.4. **Bounds on the remaining derivatives.** The results of this section are all analogs of the results of § 5.4. Their proofs are also completely analogous. For this reason, they will be omitted.

**Proposition 6.6.** Suppose the hypotheses of Proposition 6.5 are satisfied, and additionally  $\overline{C}_x$  is a constant satisfying  $\overline{C}_x \gg 1$ ,  $\alpha \overline{C}_x \gg \overline{C}_t$ .

Under these conditions, if  $\varepsilon$  is small enough such that

$$(1+\alpha)B_{\lambda}\overline{C}_{t}B_{z}\varepsilon\ll 1,$$

then the following bounds hold for each  $t \in [0, T_*)$  and each  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \leq 2n$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \bar{K}_{\lambda}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq B_{\lambda} \overline{C}_{t} B_{z} \varepsilon, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma_{t}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq 8 \alpha B_{\lambda} \overline{C}_{t} B_{z} \varepsilon, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma_{t}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq 1, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{x}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq 1, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} \Sigma_{x}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}} \overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} &\leq 1. \end{aligned}$$

Corollary 6.7. Under the hypotheses of the previous proposition, we also have that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \Sigma_{\lambda}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} &\leq \frac{1}{9}, \\ \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} &\leq B_{\lambda} \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} \partial_{\lambda} \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial^{\beta} (\eta_x \mathring{W})_{\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{|\beta|! M \overline{C}_x^{\beta_t} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 185 \max(1,\alpha) B_{\lambda} \overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon.$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_*)$  and  $\beta$  with  $|\beta| \leq 2n$ .

Corollary 6.8. Under the hypotheses of the previous propositions, we have that

$$\|\partial_x^i \partial_\lambda \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_0\|_{L^\infty_x} \le 190 \max(1,\alpha) \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} M \overline{C}_x^i \overline{C}_t B_\lambda B_z \varepsilon, \tag{6.14a}$$

$$\|\partial_x^i \partial_\lambda \eta_x - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t \partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_0\|_{L^\infty_x} \le 190 \max(1,\alpha) t \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} M \overline{C}_x^i \overline{C}_t B_\lambda B_z \varepsilon$$
(6.14b)

for all  $t \in [0, T_*), i = 0, \dots, 2n$ .

# 7. SOLUTION CONTINUITY WITH RESPECT TO INITIAL DATA

In this section, we will show that solutions with initial data in  $\mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  depend continuously on their initial data with respect to the  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  topology. For  $m = 0, \ldots, 2n + 1$  define the seminorm<sup>10</sup> on  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ 

$$\|(w_0, z_0, k_0)\|_{m, C_0} := \max_{0 \le i \le m} \left( \|w_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}, \|z_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}, \frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}w_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!C_0^i}, \frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}z_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!C_0^i}, \frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}k_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!C_0^i} \right).$$
(7.1)

Note that  $||(w_0, z_0, k_0)||_{m, C_0} \le ||(w_0, z_0, k_0)||_{(W^{m+1,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3}$ . We will estimate the difference of two solutions in terms of the distance between their initial data with respect to these seminorms.

The methods and results of this section will be completely analogous to those in the previous two sections. For this reason, we will only provide a sketch of the proofs.

For the rest of this section, fix  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$ ,  $(\widetilde{w}_0, \widetilde{z}_0, \widetilde{k}_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  and let the corresponding solutions of (4.5) with initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  and  $(\widetilde{w}_0, \widetilde{z}_0, \widetilde{k}_0)$  be  $\mathring{K}, \mathring{Z}, \eta_x, \Sigma, \eta_x \mathring{W}$  and  $\widetilde{\mathring{K}}, \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}, \widetilde{\eta}_x, \widetilde{\Sigma}, \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}}$  respectively. Let their respective blowup times be  $T_*$  and  $\widetilde{T}_*$ . Adopt the notation

$$\mu_m := \|(w_0 - \widetilde{w}_0, z_0 - \widetilde{z}_0, k_0 - \widetilde{k}_0)\|_{m, C_0} \qquad m = 0, \dots, 2n.$$

It follows from (4.5) that the difference of the two solutions satisfies

$$(\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma})_t = \alpha (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) [-\mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\Sigma + \widetilde{\Sigma}) \mathring{K}] - \alpha (\mathring{Z} - \mathring{Z}) \widetilde{\Sigma} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \widetilde{\Sigma}^2 (\mathring{K} - \mathring{K}),$$
(7.2a)

$$\eta_{xt} - \tilde{\eta}_{xt} = \frac{1+\alpha}{2} [(\eta_x \mathring{W}) - (\tilde{\eta}_x \mathring{W})] + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} (\eta_x - \tilde{\eta}_x) \mathring{Z} + \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \tilde{\eta}_x (\mathring{Z} - \mathring{Z})$$

$$+ \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} (\eta_x - \tilde{\eta}_x) \Sigma \mathring{K} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \tilde{\eta}_x (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \mathring{K} + \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma} \tilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\Sigma} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}),$$
(7.2b)

$$(\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}})_t = \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \mathring{K} (\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z}) + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \widetilde{\Sigma} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) (\eta_x \mathring{W} + \eta_x \mathring{Z})$$

$$(7.2c)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{4\gamma} \Sigma K (\eta_x W - \eta_x W) + \frac{1}{4\gamma} \Sigma K (\eta_x - \eta_x) Z + \frac{1}{4\gamma} \Sigma K \eta_x (Z - Z),$$

$$(\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma})_x = \frac{1}{2} (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta_x} \widetilde{\mathring{W}}) - \frac{1}{2} (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta_x}) \mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\eta_x} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}})$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2\gamma} (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta_x}) \Sigma \mathring{K} + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \widetilde{\eta_x} (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \mathring{K} + \frac{1}{2\gamma} \widetilde{\eta_x} \widetilde{\Sigma} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}).$$
(7.2d)

We will also replace (4.3) and (4.4) with the identities

$$\begin{aligned} \eta_x \partial_t (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) &= \alpha \Sigma \partial_x (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) - \frac{1}{2} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) (\eta_x \mathring{W}) - \frac{1}{2} \eta_x (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) \mathring{Z} \\ &- (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \partial_t \widetilde{\mathring{K}} + \alpha (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \partial_x \widetilde{\mathring{K}} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathring{K}} (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}}) - \frac{1}{2} (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \widetilde{\mathring{K}} \mathring{Z} - \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{K}} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}), \\ \eta_x \partial_t (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) &= 2\alpha \Sigma \partial_x (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) - \frac{1 - \alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{W} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) - \frac{1 + \alpha}{2} \eta_x \mathring{Z} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) + \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) \\ &- (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \partial_t \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} + 2\alpha (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \partial_x \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \mathring{K} \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \widetilde{\Sigma} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) \eta_x \mathring{W} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \widetilde{\Sigma} \widetilde{\mathring{K}} (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}}) \\ &- \frac{1 - \alpha}{2} (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta_x} \widetilde{\widetilde{W}}) \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} \end{aligned}$$
(7.3a)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>It is a seminorm because it doesn't detect constant changes in  $k_0$ ; however our system (3.2) does not detect constant changes in  $k_0$  either.

$$-\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\eta_x(\mathring{Z}-\widetilde{\mathring{Z}})\widetilde{\mathring{Z}}-\frac{1+\alpha}{2}(\eta_x-\widetilde{\eta}_x)\widetilde{\mathring{Z}}^2 +\frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}\eta_x\Sigma(\mathring{K}-\widetilde{\mathring{K}})\widetilde{\mathring{Z}}+\frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}\eta_x(\Sigma-\widetilde{\Sigma})\widetilde{\mathring{K}}\widetilde{\mathring{Z}}+\frac{\alpha}{4\gamma}(\eta_x-\widetilde{\eta}_x)\widetilde{\Sigma}\widetilde{\mathring{K}}\widetilde{\mathring{Z}}.$$

Multiplying these identities by  $\Sigma^{-1}$  and rearranging gives us

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha \partial_x (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) &= \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} \partial_t (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) + (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \Sigma^{-1} \partial_t \widetilde{\mathring{K}} - \alpha \Sigma^{-1} (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \partial_x \widetilde{\mathring{K}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) (\eta_x \mathring{W}) + \frac{1}{2} \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}}) \mathring{Z} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \widetilde{\mathring{K}} (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}}) + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \widetilde{\mathring{K}} \mathring{Z} + \frac{1}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{K}} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}), \\ 2\alpha \partial_x (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) &= \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} \partial_t (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) + (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \Sigma^{-1} \partial_t \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} - 2\alpha \Sigma^{-1} (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \partial_x \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} \end{aligned}$$
(7.4b)  
$$&+ \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \mathring{W} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \mathring{Z} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \Sigma^{-1} \eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}) \\ &+ \frac{1-\alpha}{2} \Sigma^{-1} (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \Sigma^{-1} \widetilde{W}) \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} \\ &+ \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\check{Z}}) \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \Sigma^{-1} \widetilde{\mathring{Z}}^2 \\ &- \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\check{K}}) \widetilde{\mathring{Z}} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} \eta_x \Sigma^{-1} (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma}) \widetilde{\check{K}} \widetilde{\check{Z}} - \frac{\alpha}{4\gamma} (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x) \Sigma^{-1} \widetilde{\Sigma} \widetilde{\check{K}} \widetilde{\check{Z}}. \end{aligned}$$

Notice that the system above doesn't feature any terms with the difference  $\Sigma^{-1} - \widetilde{\Sigma}^{-1}$ , so we do not need equations for  $(\Sigma^{-1} - \widetilde{\Sigma}^{-1})_t$  or  $(\Sigma^{-1} - \widetilde{\Sigma}^{-1})_x$ .

If the constants  $C_x$ ,  $C_t$ , and  $\varepsilon$  satisfy the same hypotheses as in Propositions 5.1, 6.1, one can prove an analog of these propositions for the difference of our two solutions. In particular, at time t = 0 one obtains

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\mathring{K} - \mathring{K})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 3\mu_{|\beta|}, \qquad \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\mathring{Z} - \mathring{Z})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \mathcal{C}_x^{\beta_x} \mathcal{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le 3\mu_{|\beta|}$$

for all  $|\beta| \leq 2n$ .

Next, one performs a priori estimates similar to those in § 5.2, 6.2: fix  $T \in [0, T_* \land \widetilde{T}_*]$ , a function  $C_t : [0, T_* \land \widetilde{T}_*) \rightarrow \mathbb{R}^+$ , and a constant  $\delta \ge 0$ . Suppose that  $A \ge 1$  is a constant such that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{K} - \mathring{K})\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le A\mu_m, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{Z} - \mathring{Z})\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le A\mu_m$$
(7.5a)

for all  $t \in [0, T], 0 \le m \le 2n$ . Suppose also that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le B_k \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le B_z \varepsilon, \qquad (7.6a)$$

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \widetilde{K}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m \widetilde{Z}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}} \le B_z \varepsilon, \qquad (7.6b)$$

$$\frac{2\|\Sigma^{-\delta m}\partial_t^m \mathring{K}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m!C^m_t} \le B_k \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2\|\Sigma^{-\delta m}\partial_t^m \mathring{Z}\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m!C^m_t} \le B_z \varepsilon, \qquad (7.6b)$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2n+1$ . These hypotheses (7.6) allow us to apply the estimates of § 5.2 to our two solutions, the same way that (6.4) is used in § 6.2. If  $B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  and  $C_t \gg (1 + \alpha)3^{\delta}$  for all  $t \in [0, T]$ , one obtains

$$\|\Sigma - \tilde{\Sigma}\|_{L^{\infty}_{x}} \le (1 + 16A)\mu_{0},\tag{7.7}$$

$$\|\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \mathring{W}\|_{L^{\infty}_x} \le (3+2A)\mu_0, \qquad \qquad \|\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x\|_{L^{\infty}_x} \le (5+10A)\mu_0.$$
(7.8)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma})_t\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} &\leq 8\alpha A\mu_m, \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_{xt} - \widetilde{\eta}_{xt})\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} \leq 6(1+\alpha) A\mu_m, \\ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}})_t\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} &\leq \frac{5}{8} A\mu_m, \\ \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x)\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} \leq 15 A\mu_m, \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\eta_x \mathring{W} - \widetilde{\eta}_x \widetilde{\mathring{W}})\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} \leq 5 A\mu_m, \end{aligned}$$

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma})\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} \le 17A\mu_m, \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\Sigma - \widetilde{\Sigma})_x\|_{L_x^\infty}}{m! C_t^m} \le 7A\mu_m,$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2n$ , as well as

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^{m-1} (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}})_x\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le \frac{10}{\alpha} A\mu_m, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^{m-1} (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}})_x\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{m! C_t^m} \le \frac{5}{\alpha} A\mu_m, \tag{7.9}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $1 \le m \le 2n$ .

Next, we use these a priori estimates to perform  $L^q$  energy estimates on the time derivatives of  $(\mathring{K} - \tilde{\mathring{K}})$  and  $(\mathring{Z} - \tilde{\mathring{Z}})$ , similar to those in Propositions 5.4 and 6.5.

Proposition 7.1. Define the constant

$$B_d := 2 \cdot 6^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} e^{31}.$$
(7.10)

Let  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$  satisfy (5.10) and let  $C_t$  be defined by (5.11). Let  $\overline{C}_t$  be the constant defined by (5.27). If  $C_t(0)$  satisfies

$$C_t(0) \gg (1+\alpha)3^{\delta},$$
  $C_t(0) \gg \max(1,\alpha)2^{\delta}C_0,$ 

and  $\varepsilon$  satisfies

$$(1+\alpha)(1+B_z)\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} \ll 1, \qquad \qquad 3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}}B_d(\overline{C}_t + 1 + \alpha)B_z\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} \ll 1,$$

then

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{K} - \widetilde{\mathring{K}})\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le B_d \mu_m, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{Z} - \widetilde{\mathring{Z}})\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le B_d \mu_m, \tag{7.11a}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_* \land T_*)$  and  $0 \le m \le 2n$ .

The proof of this proposition is analogous to the proof of Proposition 5.4 and Proposition 6.5. Fix  $T \in [0, T_* \land \widetilde{T}_*)$  and pick a constant A satisfying  $B_d < A < 2B_d$ . Our bootstrap hypothesis will be that

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{K} - \mathring{K})\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le A\mu_m, \qquad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{Z} - \mathring{Z})\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{m! C_t^m} \le A\mu_m,$$

for all  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $0 \le m \le 2n$ . Proposition 5.4 implies that (7.6) holds with the  $\delta$ ,  $\kappa$  and  $C_t$  we have chosen. Therefore, all of the a priori estimates we have derived apply on [0, T] for this choice of A.

Just like in the proof of Proposition 5.4, if we define  $C_t := \frac{1}{2}2^{-\delta}C_t(0)$ , then our hypotheses on  $C_t(0)$  allow us to apply our estimates at time t = 0 and get

$$\frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{K} - \mathring{K})\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le \frac{3\mu_m}{2^m}, \quad \frac{(m+1)^2 \|\Sigma^{-\delta m} \partial_t^m (\mathring{Z} - \mathring{Z})\|_{L^\infty_x}}{m! C^m_t} \le \frac{3\mu_m}{2^{m-1}}, \tag{7.12}$$

for m = 0, ..., 2n, t = 0. Therefore, our bootstrap hypothesis is true for T = 0.

For  $0 \leq m \leq 2n$  and  $1 < q < \infty$  define the energies

$$\begin{split} \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q} &:= \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} \eta_{x} |(\mathring{K} - \overset{\circ}{K})|^{q} dx & m = 0\\ \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\delta q m} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} (\mathring{K} - \overset{\circ}{K})|^{q} dx & 1 \le m \le 2n \end{cases} \\ \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{m,q} &:= \begin{cases} \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} \eta_{x} |(\mathring{Z} - \overset{\circ}{Z})|^{q} dx & m = 0\\ \int_{\mathbb{T}} \Sigma^{-\delta q m} \eta_{x} |\partial_{t}^{m} (\mathring{Z} - \overset{\circ}{Z})|^{q} dx & 1 \le m \le 2n \end{cases} \end{split}$$

and for  $1 \le m \le 2n, 1 < q < \infty$ , define the energies

$$\widehat{E}_{k}^{m,q} := \frac{(m+1)^{2q} \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{k}^{m,q}}{(m!)^{q} C_{t}^{mq}}, \qquad \qquad \widehat{E}_{z}^{m,q} := \frac{(m+1)^{2q} \widehat{\mathcal{E}}_{z}^{m,q}}{(m!)^{q} C_{t}^{mq}}.$$

We prove (7.11) in the case m = 0 and  $1 \le m \le 2n$  separately. In both cases, just like in the proofs of Propositions 5.4, 6.5, we take the time derivative of  $\hat{\mathcal{E}}_k^{m,q}$  and  $\hat{\mathcal{E}}_z^{m,q}$ , simplify and rearrange using (7.3a) and (7.3b), and use (4.8) to produce damping terms which make  $\hat{\mathcal{E}}_k^{m,q} + \hat{\mathcal{E}}_z^{m,q}$  satisfy

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}_k^{0,q} + \hat{\mathcal{E}}_z^{0,q} \le 15 \max(1,\alpha) q(\hat{\mathcal{E}}_k^{0,q} + \hat{\mathcal{E}}_z^{0,q}) + 2(A\mu_0)^q \mathcal{O}(3^{\delta}(\overline{C}_t + 1 + \alpha)B_z \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})^q,$$

$$\dot{\widehat{E}}_{k}^{m,q} + \dot{\widehat{E}}_{z}^{m,q} \leq -mq\max(1,\alpha)(\widehat{E}_{k}^{m,q} + \widehat{E}_{z}^{m,q}) + 2(A\mu_{m})^{q}[m\mathcal{O}([\overline{C}_{t}B_{z} + (1+\alpha)B_{z}]\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})^{q} + \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha)B_{z}\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})^{q}].$$

From here the bootstrap argument closes by using ODE comparison and (7.12), provided that  $\varepsilon$  is small enough.

After proving Proposition 7.1, one can deduce bounds on the rest of the derivatives of the difference via an induction argument, just like in Proposition 5.5: if  $\overline{C}_x$  is a constant satisfying

$$\overline{C}_x \gg 1,$$
  $\alpha \overline{C}_x \gg \overline{C}_t,$ 

 $\varepsilon$  satisfies  $(1 + \alpha)B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$ , and  $C_t(0)$  satisfies  $C_t(0) \gg 1$ , then the following bounds hold for all  $t \in [0, T_* \land \widetilde{T}_*)$  and  $|\beta| \leq 2n$ :

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^{2} \|\partial^{\beta}(\mathring{K}-\mathring{K})\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}}\overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} \leq B_{d}\mu_{|\beta|}, \qquad \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^{2} \|\partial^{\beta}(\mathring{Z}-\mathring{Z})\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}}\overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} \leq B_{d}\mu_{|\beta|}, \\
\frac{(|\beta|+1)^{2} \|\partial^{\beta}(\Sigma-\widetilde{\Sigma})_{t}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}}\overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} \leq 8\alpha B_{d}\mu_{|\beta|}, \\
\frac{(|\beta|+1)^{2} \|\partial^{\beta}(\eta_{x}-\widetilde{\eta}_{x})\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}}\overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} \leq 70 B_{d}\mu_{|\beta|}, \qquad \qquad \frac{(|\beta|+1)^{2} \|\partial^{\beta}(\eta_{x}\mathring{W}-\widetilde{\eta}_{x}\overset{\sim}{W})\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}}\overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} \leq 7 B_{d}\mu_{|\beta|}, \\
\frac{(|\beta|+1)^{2} \|\partial^{\beta}(\Sigma-\widetilde{\Sigma})_{x}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{|\beta|!\overline{C}_{x}^{\beta_{x}}\overline{C}_{t}^{\beta_{t}}} \leq 120 B_{d}\mu_{|\beta|},$$

Our efforts culminate in the following bounds:

$$\frac{(|\beta|+1)^2 \|\partial^{\beta} (\eta_{xt} - \widetilde{\eta}_{xt})\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{|\beta|! \overline{C}_x^{\beta_x} \overline{C}_t^{\beta_t}} \le (1+\alpha) 38 B_d \mu_{|\beta|}$$
(7.13a)

for all  $t \in [0, T_* \land \widetilde{T}_*), |\beta| \le 2n$ , and, as an immediate corollary,

$$\|\partial_x^i(\eta_x - \widetilde{\eta}_x)\|_{L^\infty_x} \le \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} 38(1+\alpha) t \overline{C}_x^i B_d \mu_i \tag{7.13b}$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_* \land \widetilde{T}_*), i = 0, \dots, 2n$ . We will use these bounds (7.13) in § 8.3.

# 8. FINITE-CODIMENSION BANACH MANIFOLDS OF INITIAL DATA

Recall that our aim (see Theorem 9.1 below) is to construct a codimension-(2n - 2) Banach manifold of initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  for which the unique classical solutions (w, z, k) to the corresponding Cauchy problem (3.2) form  $C^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  pre-shocks. In this section, we will show that the initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  in a particular neighborhood of  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  for which the system

$$\eta_x(x_*,T_*) = 0, \qquad \partial_x \eta_x(x_*,T_*) = 0, \qquad \dots \qquad \partial_x^{2n-1} \eta_x(x_*,T_*) = 0,$$

has a solution  $(x_*, T_*)$  is a codimension-(2n - 2) Banach manifold. In § 9 we will show that solutions (w, z, k) with initial data in this manifold form cusps resembling  $-y^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  at their first singularities.

8.1. Assumptions on the initial data. Fix a positive integer n and a constant  $C_0 \ge 3$ . Now fix a function  $\overline{w}_0 \in W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T})$  satisfying

$$\overline{w}_0(x) = \frac{5}{2} - x + \frac{x^{2n+1}}{2n+1}, \qquad |x-0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}, \qquad (8.1a)$$

$$\overline{w}_0'(x) \ge -1 + C_0^{-2n},$$
  $|x-0| \ge \frac{1}{C_0},$  (8.1b)

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}\overline{w}_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} \le C_0^i, \qquad \qquad \forall i = 0, \dots, 2n+1.$$
(8.1c)

Note that

$$\partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0(x) = -\delta_{i0} + \mathbb{1}_{\{i \le 2n\}} i! \binom{2n}{i} x^{2n-i}, \qquad |x-0| \le \frac{1}{C_0},$$

so that for  $i = 1, \ldots, 2n + 1$  we have

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}\overline{w}_0\|_{L^\infty_x(-\frac{1}{C_0},\frac{1}{C_0})}}{i!C_0^i} \leq \mathbbm{1}_{\{i\leq 2n\}}\binom{2n}{i}C_0^{-2n} < 1.$$

Therefore, our assumptions on  $\overline{w}_0$  are consistent.

With  $\overline{w}_0$  chosen as above, define

$$\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \subset (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3 \tag{8.2}$$

to be the set of all  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  satisfying

$$\begin{split} \|w_0 - \overline{w}_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}} &< \varepsilon, \\ \|z_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}} &< \varepsilon, \\ \|\frac{\partial_x^{i+1}(w_0 - \overline{w}_0)\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} &< C_0^i \varepsilon, \\ \frac{\|\frac{\partial_x^{i+1}z_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!}}{i!} &< C_0^i \varepsilon, \\ \frac{\|\frac{\partial_x^{i+1}k_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!}}{i!} &< C_0^i \varepsilon, \\ \frac{\|\frac{\partial_x^{i+1}k_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!}}{i!} &< C_0^i \varepsilon, \\ \forall i = 0, \dots, 2n+1, \\ \frac{\|\frac{\partial_x^{i+1}k_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!}}{i!} &< C_0^i \varepsilon, \\ \end{bmatrix}$$

Since  $\|\overline{w}_0'\|_{L_x^{\infty}} = 1$ , we know that  $\frac{3}{2} \leq \overline{w}_0 \leq \frac{7}{2}$  everywhere in  $\mathbb{T}$ . Therefore, if  $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{4}$  we have that  $\frac{1}{2} < \sigma_0 < 2$  so that  $\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \subset \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ . For the remainder of this paper, assume that  $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{4}$  so that this inclusion always holds.

8.2. Preliminary Estimates along the Fast Acoustic Characteristics. For the remainder of this section, suppose that  $\varepsilon, \overline{C}_t$ , and  $\overline{C}_x$  are chosen such that the conclusions of § 5 hold for all initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ . Furthermore, we will restrict our attention to only solutions with initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ .

**Lemma 8.1.** For all  $i = 0, ..., 2n + 1, t \in [0, T_*)$ , the following approximate identities are true:

$$\|\partial_x^i \eta_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \le 22 \max(1,\alpha) \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon,$$
(8.3a)

$$\partial_x^i \eta_x - (\delta_{i0} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t \partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0) \|_{L^\infty_x} \le 22 \max(1,\alpha) t \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon.$$
(8.3b)

As a result, for  $|x-0| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}, t \in [0, T_*), i = 0, \dots, 2n+1$  we have

$$\left|\partial_x^i \eta_{xt}(x,t) - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \left[ -\delta_{i0} + \mathbbm{1}_{\{i \le 2n\}} i! \binom{2n}{i} x^{2n-i} \right] \right| \le 22 \max(1,\alpha) \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon, \tag{8.4a}$$

$$\left|\partial_{x}^{i}\eta_{x}(x,t) - \left[\delta_{i0} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2}t\left[-\delta_{i0} + \mathbb{1}_{\{i \le 2n\}}i!\binom{2n}{i}x^{2n-i}\right]\right| \le 22\max(1,\alpha)t\frac{i!}{(i+1)^{2}}\overline{C}_{x}^{i}B_{z}\varepsilon.$$
(8.4b)

*Proof.* The bounds (8.3) follow immediately from Corollary 5.7, the definition of  $\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , and the fact that  $\overline{C}_x \ge e^2 C_0$  and  $B_z > 1$ .

Lemma 8.2. If

 $C_0^{2n} B_z \varepsilon \ll 1,$ 

then

$$\eta_x(x,t) \ge \frac{1}{2}C_0^{-2n} \qquad \forall \, |x-0| \ge \frac{1}{C_0}, t \in [0,T_*].$$

It follows from this that  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  must have at least one zero in  $|x - 0| < \frac{1}{C_0}$ .

*Proof.* For  $|x - 0| \ge \frac{1}{C_0}$ , using (8.3b) with i = 0, (8.1), and (4.12b) gives us

$$\begin{aligned} \eta_x &\geq 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t [-1 + C_0^{-2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon)] \\ &\geq 1 + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} T_* [-1 + C_0^{-2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon)] \\ &= 1 + (1 + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon)) [-1 + C_0^{-2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon)] = C_0^{-2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, if  $C_0^{2n}B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  then we obtain (8.5).

Since  $\min_{\mathbb{T}} \eta_x(\cdot, T_*) = 0$ ,  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  must have a zero in  $|x - 0| < \frac{1}{C_0}$ .

Now, define the function  $\widetilde{\eta}_x : \mathbb{T} \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ ,

$$\widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) := \begin{cases} \eta_x(x,t) & t \le T_* \\ \eta_x(x,T_*) + (t-T_*)\eta_{xt}(x,T_*) & t \ge T_* \end{cases}.$$
(8.6)

 $\tilde{\eta}_x$  extends  $\eta_x$  to a  $C_x^{2n,1}C_t^1$  function on all of  $\mathbb{T} \times [0,\infty)$  in a manner analogous to the way that for Burgers equation the family of lines  $1 + tw'_0(x)$  extends  $\eta_x$  to all of  $\mathbb{T} \times [0,\infty)$  (see § 2).

(8.5)

**Lemma 8.3.** For all  $i = 0, ..., 2n, t \in [0, \infty)$ , the following approximate identities are true:

$$\|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt} - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}} \le 22 \max(1,\alpha) \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon,$$
(8.7a)

$$\|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_x - (\delta_{i0} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0)\|_{L^\infty_x} \le 22 \max(1, \alpha) t \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon.$$
(8.7b)

As a result, for  $|x-0| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}, t \geq 0, i = 0, \dots, 2n$ , we have that

$$\left|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t) - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \left[ -\delta_{i0} + \mathbb{1}_{\{i \le 2n\}} i! \binom{2n}{i} x^{2n-i} \right] \right| \le 22 \max(1,\alpha) \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon, \tag{8.8a}$$

$$\left|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) - \left[\delta_{i0} + \frac{1+\alpha}{2}t \left[ -\delta_{i0} + \mathbbm{1}_{\{i \le 2n\}} i! \binom{2n}{i} x^{2n-i} \right] \right| \le 22 \max(1,\alpha) t \frac{i!}{(i+1)^2} \overline{C}_x^i B_z \varepsilon.$$

$$(8.8b)$$

In particular, if  $B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  we obtain the bounds

$$-\frac{2}{3}(1+\alpha) \le \tilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t) \le -\frac{1+\alpha}{2} \qquad \forall |x-0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}.$$
(8.9)

*Proof.* It is immediate from the definition of  $\tilde{\eta}_x$  that

$$\widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t) = \begin{cases} \eta_{xt}(x,t) & t \le T_* \\ \eta_{xt}(x,T_*) & t \ge T_* \end{cases}.$$

Taking  $\partial_x^i$  of  $\tilde{\eta}_{xt}$  and applying (8.3a) and (8.4a) gives us (8.7a) and (8.8a) respectively.

Integrating (8.7a) and (8.8a) in time gives us (8.7b) and (8.8b) respectively. (8.9) is an immediate consequence of (8.8a) if  $44B_z \varepsilon < \frac{1}{9}$ . 

**Lemma 8.4.** If 
$$\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$$
, then for all  $|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}$  and  $t \ge \frac{2}{3} \frac{2}{1 + \alpha}$ , we have the lower bound  
 $\partial_x^{2n} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x, t) \ge \frac{(2n)!}{2}$ . (8.10)

It follows that  $\eta_x(\cdot,T_*)$  can have at most n zeros in  $\mathbb{T}$ . In particular, when n=1,  $\eta_x$  always has a unique zero in  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*].$ 

*Proof.* Apply (8.4b) with i = 2n to obtain

$$\partial_x^{2n} \widetilde{\eta}_x = \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t(2n)! [1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)] \ge \frac{2}{3} (2n)! [1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)]$$

If  $\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough, the lower bound (8.10) follows. It now follows from (4.12a) that  $\partial_x^{2n} \eta_x(x, T_*) \ge \frac{(2n)!}{2}$  for all  $|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}$ . Therefore  $\partial_x^{2n-1} \eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  is a strictly increasing function on the interval  $\left[-\frac{1}{C_0}, \frac{1}{C_0}\right]$ , so it has no critical points and at most one zero in  $\left[-\frac{1}{C_0}, \frac{1}{C_0}\right]$ . This implies that  $\partial_x^{2n-2}\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  has at most one critical point and at most two zeros in  $\left[-\frac{1}{C_0}, \frac{1}{C_0}\right]$ . Continuing inductively in this manner,  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  has at most 2n - 1 critical points and at most 2n zeros in  $\left[-\frac{1}{C_0}, \frac{1}{C_0}\right]$ . However, we know that  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*) \ge 0$  everywhere, so it follows from (8.5) that all zeros of  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  in  $\mathbb{T}$  must themselves be critical points in the interval  $|x - 0| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}$ . In between any two zeros of  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  must be at least one other critical point, so  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$ can have at most n zeros. 

**Proposition 8.5.** Suppose  $(x_*, t_*) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, \infty)$  is a point such that  $|x_* - 0| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}$  and

$$\widetilde{\eta}_x(x_*,t_*) = \partial_x \widetilde{\eta}_x(x_*,t_*) = \dots = \partial_x^{2n-1} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x_*,t_*) = 0.$$
(8.11)

Then  $t_* = T_*$ , and  $x_*$  is the unique zero of  $\eta_x$  in  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*]$ . Furthermore,  $x_*$  satisfies the bound

$$|x_*|^{2n} \lesssim B_z \varepsilon. \tag{8.12a}$$

*Proof.* Since  $\tilde{\eta}_x(x_*, t_*) = 0$ , we know  $t_* \ge T_*$ . Taylor expanding  $\tilde{\eta}_x(\cdot, t_*)$  about  $\dot{x}$  and using (8.10) gives us

$$\widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t_*) \ge \frac{1}{2}(x-x_*)^{2n}, \quad \forall |x-0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}.$$
(8.13)

In particular,  $\tilde{\eta}_x(\cdot, t_*) \ge 0$ . It now follows from (8.4a) that

$$\eta_x(x, T_*) = \tilde{\eta}_x(x, t_*) - (t_* - T_*)\eta_{xt}(x, T_*)$$
  

$$\geq \frac{1}{2}(x - x_*)^{2n} - (t_* - T_*)\frac{1 + \alpha}{2} \bigg[ -1 + x^{2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon) \bigg]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}(x - x_*)^{2n} + (t_* - T_*)\frac{1 + \alpha}{2} \left[ 1 - x^{2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon) \right]$$
  

$$\geq \frac{1}{2}(x - x_*)^{2n} + (t_* - T_*)\frac{1 + \alpha}{2} \left[ 1 - C_0^{-2n} + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon) \right]$$
  

$$\geq \frac{1}{2}(x - x_*)^{2n} + (t_* - T_*)\frac{1 + \alpha}{4}$$

for all  $|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}$ . We know from Lemma 8.2 that  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  must have a zero and all zeros of  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  must be in the interval  $\{|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}\}$ . Since  $t_* \ge T_*$ , this is only possible if  $t_* = T_*$  and the zero must be  $x = x_*$ . Since  $t_* = T_*$ , plugging x = 0 into (8.13) and using (8.4b) and (4.12) gives us

$$\begin{aligned} |x_*|^{2n} &\leq 2|\eta_x(0,T_*)| \\ &\leq 2|\frac{1+\alpha}{2}T_* - 1| + 44\max(1,\alpha)T_*B_z\varepsilon \\ &\lesssim B_z\varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Now define the function  $G : \mathbb{T} \times [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^2$ ,

$$G(x,t) := \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{(2n)!} \partial_x^{2n-1} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) \\ -\frac{2}{1+\alpha} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.14)

Proposition 8.6. If

$$(1+\alpha)C_0 < \overline{C}_x, \qquad \overline{C}_x^{2n}B_z \varepsilon \ll 1.$$

then there exists a unique point  $(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  in a ball of radius  $\frac{1}{3(1+\alpha)C_0}$  around the point  $(0, \frac{2}{1+\alpha})$  such that

$$G(\mathring{x}, \check{T}) = (0, 0).$$

*Proof.* For  $|x - 0| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}$ , the formulas (8.8) give us

$$DG(x,t) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{(2n)!} \partial_x^{2n} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) & \frac{1}{(2n)!} \partial_x^{2n-1} \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t) \\ -\frac{2}{1+\alpha} \partial_x \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) & -\frac{2}{1+\alpha} \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t) \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t [1 + \frac{\mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)}{(2n+1)^2}] & \frac{1+\alpha}{2} [x + \frac{\mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)}{(2n)^3 \overline{C}_x}] \\ t [-2nx^{2n-1} + \frac{\mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)}{\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}}] & 1 - x^{2n} + \frac{\mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)}{\overline{C}_x^{2n}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(8.15)

For (x, t) in a ball of radius  $R := \frac{1}{3(1+\alpha)C_0}$  around  $(0, \frac{2}{1+\alpha})$ , the fact that  $C_0 \ge 3$  implies that

$$\begin{split} |\frac{1+\alpha}{2}t-1| &\leq \frac{1+\alpha}{2}R \leq \frac{1}{18}, \\ \frac{1+\alpha}{2}|x| &\leq \frac{1+\alpha}{2}R \leq \frac{1}{18}, \\ |x|^{2n} &\leq \frac{1}{8!(1+\alpha)^2}, \end{split} \qquad \qquad 2n|x|^{2n-1}t \leq 2nR^{2n-1}(\frac{2}{1+\alpha}+R) \\ &= 12C_0n(R^2)^n + 2nR^{2n} \\ &\leq 12C_0R^2 + 2R^2 \\ &\leq \frac{38}{8!(1+\alpha)^2}. \end{split}$$

Therefore,

$$\left| \mathrm{Id} - DG(x,t) \right| < \frac{1}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon) \qquad \forall (x,t) \in B_R((0,\frac{2}{1+\alpha})).$$

It follows that if  $\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough we have  $\| \text{Id} - DG \|_{L^{\infty}_{x,t}(B_R(0, \frac{2}{1+\alpha}))} \leq \frac{2}{3}$ .

Plugging  $(x,t) = (0, \frac{2}{1+\alpha})$  into the formulas (8.8) yields

$$\left|\frac{1}{(2n)!}\partial_x^{2n-1}\widetilde{\eta}_x(0,\frac{2}{1+\alpha})\right| \le \frac{44\overline{C}_x^{2n}B_z\varepsilon}{(2n)^3\overline{C}_x},\\ \left|\frac{2}{1+\alpha}\widetilde{\eta}_x(0,\frac{2}{1+\alpha})\right| \le 88B_z\varepsilon.$$

Since  $\overline{C}_x > (1+\alpha)C_0$ , it follows that if  $\overline{C}_x^{2n}B_z\varepsilon$  is small enough we have  $|G(0, \frac{2}{1+\alpha})| < \frac{1}{3}R$ . Our result now follows from Lemma C.1.

Notice that one always has the inequality  $\mathring{T} \ge T_*$ : indeed, if  $\mathring{T} \le T_*$  then

$$\eta_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) = \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) = 0,$$

which means that  $\mathring{T} = T_*$ .

**Corollary 8.7.** If  $(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  is the solution of G = (0, 0) given by Proposition 8.6, then  $\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}$  satisfy the bounds

$$\frac{1+\alpha}{2}\mathring{T} - 1| < \frac{1}{18},\tag{8.16}$$

$$|\mathring{x}| \le \frac{93}{(2n)^3} \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon.$$
(8.17)

It follows that if  $n \geq 2$  and  $\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  then

$$\partial_x^i \tilde{\eta}_{xt}(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) | \le \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \frac{50}{(2n)} (2n)! \overline{C}_x^{2n-2} B_z \varepsilon, \tag{8.18a}$$

$$|\partial_x^i \tilde{\eta}_x(\dot{x}, \mathring{T})| \le \frac{53}{(2n)} (2n)! \overline{C}_x^{2n-2} B_z \varepsilon, \tag{8.18b}$$

for  $1 \le i \le 2n - 2$ .

*Proof.* The inequality (8.16) is immediate from Proposition 8.6 and the fact that  $C_0 \ge 3$ . Since  $\partial_x^{2n-1} \tilde{\eta}_x(\dot{x}, \dot{T}) = 0$ , (8.10) gives us

$$\left|\partial_x^{2n-1}\widetilde{\eta}_x(0,\mathring{T})\right| = \left|\int_{\mathring{x}}^0 \partial_x^{2n}\widetilde{\eta}_x(x,\mathring{T}) \, dx\right| \ge \frac{(2n)!}{2} |\mathring{x}|.$$

Plugging  $i = 2n - 1, x = 0, t = \mathring{T}$ , into (8.8b) now yields

$$|\mathring{x}| \le \frac{44}{(2n)^3} \max(1,\alpha) \mathring{T} \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon$$

Our bound (8.17) now follows from (8.16).

Now suppose  $n \ge 2$ . Since  $|\dot{x}| < 1$ , we have

$$\max_{1 \le i \le 2n-2} \frac{(2n)!}{(2n-i)!} |\mathring{x}|^{2n-i} = \frac{(2n)!}{2} |\mathring{x}|^2 \le \frac{(2n)!}{2} \left(\frac{93}{(2n)^3} \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon\right)^2.$$

For  $1 \le i \le 2n - 2$  the bound (8.8a) now implies

$$\left|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})\right| \le \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (2n)! \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon \left[\frac{(93)^2}{2(2n)^3} \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon + 44 \frac{(2n-4)!}{(2n)! \overline{C}_x}\right]$$

Therefore, if  $\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough we get (8.18a). The bound (8.18b) follows from analogous computations using (8.8b).

Now for  $n \ge 2$  define the function  $f_n : \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \to \mathbb{R}^{2n-2}$ ,

$$f_n(w_0, z_0, k_0) := \begin{bmatrix} \partial_x \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \\ \partial_x^2 \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \\ \vdots \\ \partial_x^{2n-2} \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.19)

The zero set of  $f_n$  is precisely the initial data in  $\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  for which the flow  $\eta$  forms an initial singularity of the form

$$\eta_x(x_*, T_*) = \partial_x \eta_x(x_*, T_*) = \dots = \partial_x^{2n-1} \eta_x(x_*, T_*) = 0, \tag{8.20}$$

at a point  $x_* \in \mathbb{T}$ , and whenever such a root  $x_*$  exists it must be the only root of  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$ . To see this, if  $f_n(w_0, z_0, k_0) = 0$  then it follows from the definitions of G and  $(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  that  $(x_*, t_*) = (\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  solves (8.11), and Proposition 8.5 implies that  $(x_*, t_*) = (\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  is the unique root of  $\eta_x$  in  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*]$ . Conversely, if  $x_* \in \mathbb{T}$  is a point solving (8.20) then Lemma 8.2 implies that  $|x_* - 0| < \frac{1}{C_0}$  and Proposition 8.5 therefore implies that  $x_*$  is the only root of  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  and also satisfies the bound (8.12a). Since we are assuming that  $\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon$  is small and  $(1 + \alpha)C_0 < \overline{C}_x$ , as in the premise of Proposition 8.6, it follows that  $|x_*| < \frac{1}{3(1+\alpha)C_0}$  and therefore  $(x_*, T_*) = (\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$ .

We will now quantify the regularity of  $f_n$  so that we can apply the implicit function theorem and conclude that the zero set of  $f_n$  is the graph of a Lipschitz function from a codimension-(2n - 2) subspace of  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  into  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-2}$ .

8.3. Stability of solutions. Now suppose further that  $\overline{C}_x, \overline{C}_t$  are chosen large enough and  $\varepsilon$  is chosen small enough such that the hypotheses of § 7 are satisfied, and therefore the bounds (7.13) apply for all initial data in  $\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ .

**Proposition 8.8.** The blowup time,  $T_*$ , and the extensions  $\tilde{\eta}_x$  depend on the initial data in way that is Lipschitz with respect to the  $W^{2n+2,\infty}$  norm on  $\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ : i.e. if  $\|\cdot\|_{m,C_0}$  is the seminorm on  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  defined by (7.1) and  $(w_0^1, z_0^1, k_0^1), (w_0^2, z_0^2, k_0^2) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  we have

$$|T_*(w_0^1, z_0^1, k_0^1) - T_*(w_0^2, z_0^2, k_0^2)| \le \frac{140}{1+\alpha} B_d ||(w_0^1 - w_0^2, z_0^1 - z_0^2, k_0^1 - k_0^2)||_{0, C_0},$$
(8.21)

and if  $\overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon \ll 1$  then for all  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, \infty)$ ,  $i = 0, \ldots, 2n - 1$  we have

$$|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t,w_0^1,z_0^1,k_0^1) - \partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t,w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)| \le 45 \frac{(1+\alpha)i!\overline{C}_x^{\prime}B_d}{i+1} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{i,C_0}, \quad (8.22a)$$

$$|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t,w_0^1,z_0^1,k_0^1) - \partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t,w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)| \le 45 \frac{(1+\alpha)ti!C_x^*B_d}{i+1} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{i,C_0}.$$
 (8.22b)

Here  $\tilde{\eta}_x(\cdot, \cdot, w_0^j, z_0^j, k_0^j)$  is the function  $\tilde{\eta}_x$  corresponding to the solution with initial data  $(w_0^j, z_0^j, k_0^j)$ .

*Proof.* Let us adopt the notation  $T_*^j := T_*(w_0^j, z_0^j, k_0^j)$  for j = 1, 2 and  $\mu_i := \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2, z_0^1 - z_0^2, k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{i,C_0}$ . Suppose without loss of generality that  $T_*^1 \le T_*^2$ . There exists a point  $x_*^1 \in \mathbb{T}$  with  $|x_*^1 - 0| < \frac{1}{C_0}$  such that

$$\eta_x(x_*^1, T_*^1, w_0^1, z_0^1, k_0^1) = 0.$$

Since  $T_*^2 \ge T_*^1$ , it now follows from (7.13) and (8.9) that

$$0 \le \eta_x(x_*^1, T_*^2, w_0^2, z_0^2, k_0^2) \le 70B_d\mu_0 - \frac{1+\alpha}{2}(T_*^2 - T_*^1).$$

The inequality (8.21) now follows immediately.

For  $t \leq T_*^1$ , Corollary 7.13 implies

$$|\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t,w_0^1,z_0^1,k_0^1) - \partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t,w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)| \le 38 \frac{(1+\alpha)i!\overline{C}_x^i B_d}{(i+1)^2} \mu_i$$

for all  $x \in \mathbb{T}$ . For  $T^1_* \leq t$ , (5.32c) gives us

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t,w_0^1,z_0^1,k_0^1) - \partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(x,t,w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)| &\leq \|\partial_x^i \partial_t \eta_{xt}(w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,t}}(t \wedge T^2_* - T^1_*) + 38\frac{(1+\alpha)i!C_x^*B_d}{(i+1)^2}\mu_i \\ &\leq \frac{(1+\alpha)\overline{C}_x^i i!}{i+1} \left[ 21\overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon (T^2_* - T^1_*) + 38\frac{B_d\mu_i}{i+1} \right] \\ &\leq \frac{(1+\alpha)\overline{C}_x^i i!B_d}{i+1}\mu_i \left[ 21\overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon \cdot \frac{140}{1+\alpha}\frac{\mu_0}{\mu_i} + 38 \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, if  $\overline{C}_t B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough we obtain (8.22a). The inequality (8.22b) now follows from using the fact that  $\partial_x^i \eta_x$  is always constant at time t = 0 with  $\partial_x^i \eta_x(x, 0) = \delta_{i0}$  and integrating (8.22a) in time.

One immediate consequence of Proposition 8.8 is that the function G defined in (8.14) is Lipschitz in  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  with

$$|G(x,t,w_0^1,z_0^1,k_0^1) - G(x,t,w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)| \le 135B_d \Big[\frac{\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}}{(2n)^2} + \frac{2}{1+\alpha}\Big] \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1$$

for all  $(x,t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, \frac{3}{1+\alpha}]$ ,  $(w_0^1, z_0^1, k_0^1)$ ,  $(w_0^2, z_0^2, k_0^2) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ . As a result (see § C),  $(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  is a Lipschitz function of  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  with

$$|(\mathring{x},\mathring{T})(w_0^1,z_0^1,k_0^1) - (\mathring{x},\mathring{T})(w_0^2,z_0^2,k_0^2)| \le 405B_d \Big[\frac{\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}}{(2n)^2} + \frac{2}{1+\alpha}\Big] \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^1 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^1 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2 - k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2 - z_0^2,k_0^2)\|_{2n-1,C_0} + \frac{2}{(2n)^2} \|(w_0^1 - w_0^2,z_0^2)\|_$$

It now also follows from Proposition 8.8 that  $f_n$  is a Lipschitz function of  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  as well.

8.4. An implicit function theorem argument. In this subsection, we will further restrict our attention to the case  $n \ge 2$ . Define the subspace

$$X_n := \{ \widetilde{w}_0 \in W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}) : \partial_x^i \widetilde{w}_0(0) = 0 \,\forall \, i = 2, \dots, 2n-1 \}.$$
(8.23)

Note that  $\overline{w}_0 \in X_n$ .

Pick functions  $\widetilde{w}_1^n, \ldots, \widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n \in C_x^\infty(\mathbb{T})$  such that

$$\|\widetilde{w}_j^n\|_{L^\infty_x} \le L_n,\tag{8.24a}$$

$$\partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_j^n(0) = \delta_{ij}, \qquad \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n-2, \qquad (8.24b)$$

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}\widetilde{w}_j^n\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} \le L_n C_0^i, \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1,$$
(8.24c)

$$|\partial_x^{2n} \widetilde{w}_j^n(x)| \le (2n-1)! L_n(\frac{C_0}{2})^{2n-1} \varepsilon, \qquad |x-0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}, \qquad (8.24d)$$

for some constant  $L_n$ . For such functions, Taylor expanding about x = 0 for x with  $|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}$  gives us

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_j^n(x) - \mathbbm{1}_{\{i \le j\}} \frac{x^{j-i}}{(j-i)!} \right| &\le \frac{(2n-1)! L_n (\frac{C_0}{2})^{2n-1} \varepsilon}{(2n-1-i)!} |x|^{2n-1-i} \\ &\le i! L_n \binom{2n-1}{i} \frac{1}{2^{2n-1}} C_0^i \varepsilon \\ &\le i! L_n C_0^i \varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

for i = 0, ..., 2n.

For a concrete example of such a collection of functions, pick a smooth bump function  $\chi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  satisfying

$$\mathbb{1}_{[-1,1]} \le \chi \le \mathbb{1}_{[-\frac{C_0}{2},\frac{C_0}{2}]}$$

and then define the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -periodic functions  $\widetilde{w}_j$  via

$$\widetilde{w}_j(x) := \frac{x^{j+1}}{(j+1)!} \chi(C_0 x) \qquad \qquad \text{for } |x| \leq \frac{1}{2}.$$

One can check that for any  $n \ge 2$  if we define the functions  $\widetilde{w}_1^n, \ldots \widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n$  to be  $\widetilde{w}_j^n := \widetilde{w}_j$ , then these functions satisfy (8.24) with

$$L_n = C_0(2n+2) \max_{0 \le k \le 2n+2} \frac{\|\partial^k \chi\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{k!}.$$

Note, however, that in this example  $L_n$  must diverge to  $\infty$  as n grows.

Since  $W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}) = \mathbb{R}\widetilde{w}_1^n \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{R}\widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n \oplus X_n$  and  $\overline{w}_0 \in X_n$ , we have the affine change of coordinates  $X_n \times \mathbb{R}^{2n-2} \longleftrightarrow W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T})$ 

$$(\widetilde{w}_0, \lambda) \longleftrightarrow w_0,$$
  

$$w_0 = \overline{w}_0 + \widetilde{w}_0 + \lambda_1 \widetilde{w}_1^n + \ldots + \lambda_{2n-2} \widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n,$$
  

$$\lambda_j = \partial_x^{j+1} w_0(0).$$

This extends to an affine isomorphism  $X_n \times (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^2 \times \mathbb{R}^{2n-2} \longleftrightarrow (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda) &\longleftrightarrow (w_0, z_0, k_0), \\ w_0 &= \overline{w}_0 + \widetilde{w}_0 + \lambda_1 \widetilde{w}_1^n + \ldots + \lambda_{2n-2} \widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n, \\ \lambda_i &= \partial_r^{j+1} w_0(0). \end{aligned}$$

This change of coordinates for  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  will allow us to characterize the zero set of  $f_n$  as a codimension-(2n-2) Banach manifold in a neighborhood of the point  $(\overline{w}_0, 0, 0) \in (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ .

With this choice of coordinates in mind, define the open set

$$\Lambda_n(\varepsilon, L_n) := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}^{2n-2} : L_n \sum_{j=1}^{2n-2} |\lambda_j| < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \right\},\tag{8.25}$$

and define the open set

$$U_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \subset X_n \times (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^2$$

to be  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in X_n \times (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^2$  satisfying

$$\|\widetilde{w}_0\|_{L^\infty_{\infty}} < \frac{\varepsilon}{2},\tag{8.26a}$$

$$\|z_0\|_{L^\infty_x} < \varepsilon, \tag{8.26b}$$

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}\widetilde{w}_0\|_{L^{\infty}_x}}{i!} < C_0^{i\frac{\varepsilon}{2}}, \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1,$$
(8.26c)

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1} z_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_0^i \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1,$$
(8.26d)

$$\frac{\|\partial_x^{i+1}k_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_0^i \varepsilon, \qquad \qquad i = 0, \dots, 2n+1.$$
(8.26e)

Note that if  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \times \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, L_n)$  and  $w_0 = \overline{w}_0 + \widetilde{w}_0 + \lambda_1 \widetilde{w}_1^n + \ldots + \lambda_{2n-2} \widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n$ , then  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ . For this reason, we can treat the functions  $\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}$ , and  $f_n$  defined in § 8.2 as functions of  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  as functions of  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \times \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, L_n)$  by identifying  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda)$  with the corresponding  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  via the affine change of coordinates. We will make this tacit identification for the rest of this subsection.

We will further assume for the rest of this section that  $\overline{C}_t, \overline{C}_x$  and  $\varepsilon$  are chosen to satisfy the hypotheses of the propositions in § 6 with  $L = L_n, M = 5L_n$ . Therefore, for all solutions with initial data  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \times \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, L_n)$ , the partial derivatives  $\mathring{Z}_{\lambda_j}, \partial_{\lambda_j}\eta_x$ , etc. exist for  $j = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$  and the solution satisfies the estimates from § 6.4.

It follows from (8.21) that if  $j \in \{1, \ldots, 2n-2\}$ ,  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , and  $(w_0 + \Delta \lambda_j \tilde{w}_j^n, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  for some scalar  $\Delta \lambda_j$  we have

$$|T_*(w_0 + \Delta \lambda_j \widetilde{w}_j^n, z_0, k_0) - T_*(w_0, z_0, k_0)| \le \frac{140}{1+\alpha} L_n B_d \Delta \lambda_j.$$

Therefore, for each  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  the map  $\lambda \in \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \to T_*(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda)$  is  $\frac{140}{1+\alpha}L_nB_d$ -Lipschitz in each  $\lambda_j$ . It follows that the map  $\lambda \to T_*(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda)$  is a  $(2n-2)^{\frac{1}{2}}\frac{140}{1+\alpha}L_nB_d$ -Lipschitz map of  $\lambda \in \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  for each  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  and therefore is differentiable at almost every  $\lambda \in \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  with

$$\|\partial_{\lambda_j} T_*\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon, L_n))} \leq \frac{140}{1+\alpha} L_n B_d \qquad \forall j = 1, \dots, 2n-2.$$
(8.27a)

Since  $B_{\lambda} > 4B_d$ , (8.27a) implies

$$\|\partial_{\lambda_j} T_*\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon, L_n))} \le \frac{35}{1+\alpha} L_n B_{\lambda} \qquad \forall j = 1, \dots, 2n-2.$$
(8.27b)

**Lemma 8.9.** For all  $(\tilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , i = 0, ..., 2n - 1, j = 1, ..., 2n - 2, and  $(x, t) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, \infty)$  we have that

$$\|\partial_x^i \partial_{\lambda_j} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t \partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_j^n(x)\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon,C_0))} \lesssim (1+\alpha) t i! L_n \overline{C}_x^i \overline{C}_t B_{\lambda} B_z \varepsilon,$$
(8.28a)

and for values of  $x \in \mathbb{T}$  with  $|x - 0| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}$  we have that

$$\|\partial_x^i \partial_{\lambda_j} \widetilde{\eta}_x(x,t) - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} t \mathbb{1}_{\{i \le j\}} \frac{x^{j-i}}{(j-i)!} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon,C_0))} \lesssim (1+\alpha) t i! L_n \overline{C}_x^i \overline{C}_t B_{\lambda} B_z \varepsilon.$$
(8.28b)

It follows that

$$\|\partial_x^i \partial_{\lambda_j} \widetilde{\eta}_x(\dot{x}, \dot{T}) - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \delta_{ij}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0))} \lesssim \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \left(\frac{(2n)!\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}}{(2n)^3} + i! L_n \overline{C}_x^i \overline{C}_t B_\lambda\right) B_z \varepsilon.$$
(8.28c)

*Proof.* The inequality (8.28a) is an application of Corollary 6.8 and (8.27b). The bound (8.28b) follows from (8.28a) and the identity

$$\partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{w}_j^n(x) = \mathbb{1}_{\{i \le j\}} \frac{x^{j-i}}{(j-i)!} + \mathcal{O}\big(i! L_n C_0^i \varepsilon\big) \qquad |x-0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}, i = 0, \dots, 2n-1$$

derived earlier in this section. The last inequality (8.28c) follows from plugging  $(x,t) = (\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})$  into (8.28b) and applying (8.17).

**Proposition 8.10.** Let  $n \ge 2$  and let  $f_n$  be the function defined in (8.19). If

$$(2n)!L_n\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}\overline{C}_tB_\lambda B_z\varepsilon \ll 1$$

then there exists a function  $\lambda_* : U_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0) \to \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$ , Lipschitz with respect to the  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  norm, such that

$$\left\{ (\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda) \in U_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0) \times \Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0) : f_n = 0 \right\} = \left\{ (\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, \lambda_*(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0)) : (\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \right\}.$$

*Proof.* First, we apply  $\partial_{\lambda_i}$  to the equation  $G(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) = (0, 0)$  and get

$$\begin{bmatrix} \partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{x} \\ \partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{T} \end{bmatrix} = -DG(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{(2n)!} \partial_{\lambda_j} \partial_x^{2n-1} \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \\ -\frac{2}{1+\alpha} \partial_{\lambda_j} \eta_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \end{bmatrix}.$$

We know from the proof of Proposition 8.6 that  $\|\text{Id} - DG(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})\|_{\text{operator}} \le |\text{Id} - DG(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})| \le \frac{2}{3}$ , so it follows (use Neumann series) that  $\|DG(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T})^{-1}\|_{\text{operator}} \le 3$ . It therefore follows from (8.28c) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{x}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon,C_0))} &\lesssim \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \frac{1}{2n} \left(1 + L_n \overline{C}_t B_\lambda\right) \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon, \\ \|\partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{T}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon,C_0))} &\lesssim \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \frac{1}{2n} \left(1 + L_n \overline{C}_t B_\lambda\right) \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Using these bounds for  $\partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{x}$  and  $\partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{T}$  in conjunction with the bounds (8.18a), (8.18b), and (8.28c), we compute that for i, j = 1, ..., 2n - 2 we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial f_n^i}{\partial \lambda_j} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial \lambda_j} \left[ \partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \right] \\ &= \partial_x^i \partial_{\lambda_j} \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) + \partial_x^{i+1} \widetilde{\eta}_x(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{x} + \partial_x^i \widetilde{\eta}_{xt}(\mathring{x}, \mathring{T}) \partial_{\lambda_j} \mathring{T} \\ &= \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} [\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{(2n)^3} \mathcal{O}((2n)! \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon) + \mathcal{O}(i! L_n \overline{C}_x^i \overline{C}_t B_\lambda B_z \varepsilon)] \\ &+ \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \frac{1}{2n} \mathcal{O}((2n)! \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon) \mathcal{O}(\frac{1}{2n} (1 + L_n \overline{C}_t B_\lambda) \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon). \end{aligned}$$

It follows that if  $(2n)!L_n\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}\overline{C}_tB_\lambda B_z\varepsilon$  is small enough we have that

$$\|\partial_{\lambda_j} f_n^i - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \delta_{ij}\|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0))} \leq \frac{1}{19} \frac{1+\alpha}{2} \mathring{T} \frac{1}{(2n)^2}$$

for all  $i, j = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$ . Therefore,

$$|D_{\lambda}f_n - \operatorname{Id} \|_{L^{\infty}_{\lambda}(\Lambda_n(\varepsilon, C_0))} \leq \frac{1}{9}.$$

If  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0)$  and  $\lambda = 0$ , then  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) = (\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0) \subset \mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0)$ . It follows from (8.18b) that

$$|f_n^i(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, 0)| \le 50 \frac{(2n)! L_n \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon}{(2n)} \frac{\varepsilon}{L_n}$$

for  $i = 1, \ldots, 2n - 2$ ,  $(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0)$ . Therefore, if  $(2n)!L_n \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon$  is small enough we have

$$|f_n(\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0, 0)| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{10L_n} \qquad \forall (\widetilde{w}_0, z_0, k_0) \in U_n(\varepsilon^2, C_0).$$

It now follows (see § C) that we can apply the implicit function theorem to  $f_n$  and conclude our result.

Another way of phrasing Proposition 8.10 is as follows: if we define the open neighborhood

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{n}(\varepsilon, C_{0}, L_{n}) := \left\{ \left( \overline{w}_{0} + \sum_{j=1}^{2n-2} \lambda_{j} \widetilde{w}_{j}^{n} + \widetilde{w}_{0}, z_{0}, k_{0} \right) : \left( \widetilde{w}_{0}, z_{0}, k_{0}, \lambda \right) \in U_{n}(\varepsilon^{2}, C_{0}) \times \Lambda_{n}(\varepsilon, L_{n}) \right\}$$
(8.29)

of  $(\overline{w}_0, 0, 0)$  in  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ , then the zero set of  $f_n$  in  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  is a codimension-(2n-2),  $C^{0,1}$  Banach manifold.

#### 9. A DETAILED DESCRIPTION OF THE CUSP STRUCTURE AT THE FIRST SINGULARITY

We will now prove our main theorem, which will imply Theorem 1.1.

**Theorem 9.1** (Finite-codimension stable shock formation). Fix an integer  $n \ge 1$ , a value of  $\alpha = \frac{\gamma-1}{2} > 0$ , and a constant  $C_0 \geq 3$ . Define  $\overline{w}_0$  as in (8.1). Then there exists a codimension-(2n-2) Banach manifold<sup>11</sup>  $\mathcal{M}_n \subset (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  containing  $(\overline{w}_0, 0, 0)$  and a constant

$$\varepsilon_0 = \varepsilon_0(n, \alpha, C_0)$$

such that if  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$  then for all initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{M}_n$  satisfying

$$\|w_{0} - \overline{w}_{0}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}} < \varepsilon, \|z_{0}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}} < \varepsilon, \frac{\|\partial_{x}^{i+1}(w_{0} - \overline{w}_{0})\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_{0}^{i}\varepsilon, \quad \forall i = 0, \dots, 2n + 1, \frac{\|\partial_{x}^{i+1}z_{0}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_{0}^{i}\varepsilon, \quad \forall i = 0, \dots, 2n + 1, \frac{\|\partial_{x}^{i+1}k_{0}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{i!} < C_{0}^{i}\varepsilon \quad \forall i = 0, \dots, 2n + 1,$$
(9.1)

the unique locally-well posed solution (w, z, k) to (3.2) with initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0)$  satisfies the following:

(i) (w, z, k) exists as a classical solution up until a finite time  $T_*$  with

$$T_* = \frac{2}{1+\alpha} [1 + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}(\varepsilon)]; \tag{9.2}$$

(ii) the functions z and k remain uniformly  $C^{1,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0,T_*]$  with

$$\left[\partial_{y}z\right]_{C_{y}^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}} \lesssim_{n,\alpha,C_{0}} \varepsilon, \qquad \left[\partial_{y}k\right]_{C_{y}^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}} \lesssim_{n,\alpha,C_{0}} \varepsilon, \tag{9.3}$$

but w has a gradient blowup at a unique point  $(y_*, T_*) \in \mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*]$  with  $y_*$  satisfying

$$|y_* - \frac{1}{2}| \lesssim_{n,\alpha,C_0} \varepsilon; \tag{9.4}$$

- (*iii*) away from  $(y_*, T_*)$ , w, z, and k remain locally  $C^{2n+1,1}$  in  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*]$ ; (*iv*) for all y in the interval  $|y y_*| < \frac{1}{(2n+2)(2n+1)2^{2n+2}C_0^{2n+1}}$  we have

$$w(y,T_*) = b_0 + b_1(y - y_*)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_{C_0}(|y - y_*|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}),$$
(9.5a)

$$\partial_y w(y, T_*) = \frac{1}{2n+1} b_1 (y - y_*)^{-\frac{2n}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_{n,\alpha,C_0}(|y - y_*|^{-\frac{2n-1}{2n+1}}), \tag{9.5b}$$

where  $b_0$  and  $b_1$  are constants satisfying

$$b_{0} = \frac{5}{2} + \mathcal{O}_{n,\alpha,C_{0}}(\varepsilon),$$
  

$$b_{1} = -(2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} [1 + \mathcal{O}_{n,\alpha,C_{0}}(\varepsilon)].$$

*Proof.* Recall that the constants  $B_k, B_z, B_d, B_\lambda$  are determined by  $\alpha$  via the definitions

$$\begin{split} B_k &:= 6^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}, & B_z &:= 6^{\frac{2}{\min(1,\alpha)}} (2 + \frac{1}{\gamma}) e^{21}, \\ B_d &:= 2 \cdot 6^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} e^{31}, & B_\lambda &:= \frac{5}{2} \cdot 9^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} \cdot e^{31}. \end{split}$$

Choose

$$\delta := \frac{6}{\min(1,\alpha)}$$
 and  $\kappa := \max(1,\alpha)(2+5\delta)$ 

so that  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$  satisfy (5.10). With this choice of  $\delta$  and  $\kappa$ , choose the positive constant  $C_t(0)$  to satisfy

$$C_t(0) \gg (1+\alpha)3^{\delta}, \qquad C_t(0) \gg \max(1,\alpha)2^{\delta}C_0$$

where the implicit constants here are those given by the hypotheses of Propositions 5.4, 6.5, and 7.1. Now define

$$\overline{C}_t := C_t(0)e^{(11+\log 3)\delta+5}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>In the case n = 1,  $\mathcal{M}_1$  is simply an open subset of  $(W^{4,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ . When  $n \ge 2$ , it is the graph of a Lipschitz function.

in accordance with definition (5.27), and pick a constant  $\overline{C}_x$  large enough that

$$\overline{C}_x \gg 1, \qquad \alpha \overline{C}_x \gg \overline{C}_t + 1, \qquad \overline{C}_x \gg (1+\alpha)C_0,$$

where the implicit constants are sufficient to satisfy the hypotheses on  $\overline{C}_x$  in § 5–7 and Proposition 8.6.

Now choose  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  small enough that

$$(1+\alpha)^2 B_z^2 \varepsilon_0 \ll 1, \qquad \qquad 3^{\frac{3}{\min(1,\alpha)}} B_d(\overline{C}_t + 1 + \alpha) B_z \varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}} \ll 1,$$
  
$$\overline{C}_t B_\lambda B_z \varepsilon \ll 1, \qquad \qquad \overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon_0 \ll 1,$$

so that  $\mathcal{B}_n(\varepsilon, C_0) \subset \mathcal{A}_n(\varepsilon, C_0)$  and the hypotheses of §4–8.2 are satisfied for any choice of  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ . If  $n \geq 2$ , pick a choice of functions  $\widetilde{w}_1^n, \ldots, \widetilde{w}_{2n-2}^n$  with a corresponding constant  $L_n$  as described in §8.4 and add the constraint

$$(2n)!L_n\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}\overline{C}_tB_\lambda B_z\varepsilon_0 \ll 1,$$

so that the hypotheses of Proposition 8.10 are satisfied for any  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$ . Lastly, if  $R_n$  and  $M_n$  are the constants defined in § A, we will add the constraints that  $\varepsilon_0$  is small enough that

$$93\overline{C}_{x}^{zn}B_{z}\varepsilon_{0} < 1,$$

$$\frac{22(1+\varepsilon_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}})}{(n+1)^{2}}(\frac{1}{C_{0}}+\frac{1}{6n^{3}\overline{C}_{x}})\overline{C}_{x}^{2n+1}B_{z}\varepsilon_{0} < 1,$$

$$\frac{88(1+\varepsilon_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}})}{(n+1)^{2}R_{n}}(\frac{1}{C_{0}}+\frac{1}{6n^{3}\overline{C}_{x}})\overline{C}_{x}^{2n+1}B_{z}\varepsilon_{0} < 1,$$

$$\frac{88(1+\varepsilon_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}})M_{n}}{(n+1)^{2}R_{n}}\overline{C}_{x}^{2n+1}B_{z}\varepsilon_{0} < 1,$$

$$\frac{44(1+\varepsilon_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}})\overline{C}_{x}^{2n+1}}{(n+1)^{2}}\overline{C}_{x}^{2n+1}B_{z}\varepsilon_{0} < 1.$$
(9.6)

These last constraints (9.6) will be used in some of our computations below.

With the constants  $\overline{C}_x, \overline{C}_t, L_n$ , and  $\varepsilon_0$  now chosen, define  $\mathcal{M}_n \subset (W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  to be

$$\mathcal{M}_n := \begin{cases} \mathcal{B}_1(\varepsilon_0, C_0) & n = 1\\ \{(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_n(\varepsilon_0, C_0, L_n) : f_n(w_0, z_0, k_0) = 0\} & n \ge 2 \end{cases},$$

where  $\mathcal{B}_1(\varepsilon_0, C_0) \subset \mathcal{A}_1(\varepsilon_0, C_0)$  is the open set defined by (8.2) when n = 1,  $f_n$  is the function defined by (8.19), and  $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_n(\varepsilon, C_0, L_n)$  is the open set defined by (8.29). We know from Proposition 8.10 that when  $n \ge 2$ ,  $\mathcal{M}_n$  is a codimension-(2n - 2) Banach submanifold of  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$ , i.e. it is the graph of a Lipschitz function from a codimension-(2n - 2) linear subspace of  $(W^{2n+2,\infty}(\mathbb{T}))^3$  into  $\mathbb{R}^{2n-2}$ .

Fix  $\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon_0$  and a choice of initial data  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{M}_n$  satisfying (9.1). According to Proposition 4.2, the blowup time  $T_*$  is finite and satisfies (4.12a)–(4.12b). Since

$$\partial_t(w\circ\eta) = \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\Sigma^2 \mathring{K}, \qquad \partial_t(z\circ\eta) = 2\alpha\Sigma \mathring{Z} - \frac{\alpha}{2\gamma}\Sigma^2 \mathring{K}, \qquad \partial_t(k\circ\eta) = \alpha\Sigma \mathring{K},$$

it follows from (4.7) and our assumptions on  $w_0, z_0, k_0$  that

$$w \circ \eta = \overline{w}_0 + \mathcal{O}(B_k \varepsilon), \qquad z \circ \eta = z_0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha B_z \varepsilon), \qquad k \circ \eta = k_0 + \mathcal{O}(\alpha B_k \varepsilon). \tag{9.7}$$

We know (see the discussion at the end of § 8.2) that because  $(w_0, z_0, k_0) \in \mathcal{M}_n$ ,  $\eta_x$  has a unique zero in  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*]$  at a point  $(x_*, T_*)$ , that

$$\partial_x \eta_x(x_*, T_*) = \dots = \partial_x^{2n-1} \eta_x(x_*, T_*) = 0,$$
(9.8)

and that  $x_*$  satisfies the bounds  $|x_* - 0| < \frac{1}{3(1+\alpha)C_0}$  and (8.12). (8.17) and (9.6) also imply that

$$|x_*| \le \frac{93}{(2n)^3} \overline{C}_x^{2n-1} B_z \varepsilon < \frac{1}{(2n)^3 \overline{C}_x}.$$
(9.9)

The estimates in § 5 prove that the map  $\eta(\cdot, T_*) : \mathbb{T} \to \mathbb{T}$  is a  $C^{2n+1,1}$  homeomorphism. It follows from (9.8) that  $\eta(\cdot, T_*)$  lifts to a map  $x \to y$  from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\mathbb{R}$  with a Taylor expansion

$$y = y_* + a_{2n+1}(x - x_*)^{2n+1} + a_{2n+2}(x)(x - x_*)^{2n+2}.$$

In what follows, we will continue to abuse notation and use x to refer both to the Lagrangian variable  $x \in \mathbb{T}$  and to the lifted variable  $x \in \mathbb{R}$ . Additionally, we will abuse notation and use y to refer both to the Eulerian variable  $y = \eta(x, T_*) \in \mathbb{T}$  and the lifted variable  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ . So, for example, when we show below that the zeroth order term

 $y_* \in \mathbb{R}$  of the above Taylor expansion satisfies  $y_* = \frac{5}{2} + \mathcal{O}_{n,\alpha,C_0}(\varepsilon)$  we can conclude that the corresponding Eulerian variable  $y_* = \eta(x_*, T_*) \in \mathbb{T} = \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$  satisfies  $|y_* - \frac{1}{2}| \leq_{n,\alpha,C_0} \varepsilon$ .

Because

$$a_{2n+1} = \frac{\partial_x^{2n} \eta_x(x_*, T_*)}{(2n+1)!},$$

it follows from (8.4b), (4.12b), and (8.10) that

$$a_{2n+1} = \frac{1}{2n+1} [1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)],$$
(9.10a)

$$a_{2n+1} > \frac{1}{2(2n+1)}.\tag{9.10b}$$

Using (8.4b) and (4.12a), we obtain

$$|a_{2n+2}(x)| \le 44(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})\frac{\overline{C}_x^{2n+1}B_z\varepsilon}{(2n+2)^3}, \qquad \forall |x| \le \frac{1}{C_0}.$$
(9.11)

The inequalities (9.9),(9.10b), (9.11) together with the hypotheses (9.6) allow us to apply Lemma A.3 with  $r = \frac{1}{C_0}$  and obtain

$$\left| (x - x_*) - \left(\frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \right| < \left| \frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}} \right|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}} \qquad \forall |x| \le \frac{1}{C_0}.$$
(9.12)

Lemma A.3 and the fact that  $\frac{1}{C_0} - |x_*| > \frac{1}{2C_0}$  lets us conclude that  $\{y : \eta(x, T_*) = y, |x| \le \frac{1}{C_0}\}$  contains the ball

$$|y - y_*| < \frac{1}{(2n+2)(2n+1)2^{2n+2}C_0^{2n+1}}.$$

Taylor expanding  $w \circ \eta(\cdot, T_*)$  in x about  $x_*$  gives us

$$w \circ \eta(x, T_*) = w \circ \eta(x_*, T_*) + \partial_x(w \circ \eta)(x_*, T_*)(x - x_*) + \mathcal{O}\big( \|\partial_x^2(w \circ \eta)(\cdot, T_*)\|_{L^{\infty}_x}(x - x_*)^2 \big).$$

(9.7), (9.9), and our hypotheses on  $\overline{w}_0$  imply that if we define  $B_0^w := w \circ \eta(x_*, T_*)$  then

$$w \circ \eta(x_*, T_*) = \frac{5}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\frac{\overline{C}_x^{2n-1}B_z\varepsilon}{(2n)^3}) + \mathcal{O}(B_k\varepsilon).$$

Since

$$\partial_x(w \circ \eta) = w_0' - \frac{1}{2\gamma}\sigma_0 k_0' + \int_0^t (\eta_x \mathring{W})_t \, ds + \frac{1}{2\gamma}\eta_x \Sigma \mathring{K},$$

our derivative estimates from § 5 tell us that

$$\frac{(i+1)^2 \|\partial_x^{i+1}(w \circ \eta) - \partial_x^{i+1} \overline{w}_0\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{i! \overline{C}_x^i} \lesssim B_k \varepsilon$$
(9.13)

for  $t \in [0, T_*]$ ,  $i = 0, \dots, 2n + 1$ . Therefore, if we define

$$B_1^w := \partial_x (w \circ \eta)(x_*, T_*) = -1 + x_*^{2n} + \partial_x (w \circ \eta)(x_*, T_*) - \overline{w}_0'(x_*)$$
(9.14)

then (8.12a) and (9.13) give us

$$B_1^w = -1 + \mathcal{O}(B_z \varepsilon). \tag{9.15}$$

Our assumptions on  $\overline{C}_x$  and  $\varepsilon_0$  imply that  $\overline{C}_x B_z \varepsilon_0 < 1$ , so (9.13) also yields

$$\|\partial_x^2(w\circ\eta)(\cdot,T_*)\|_{L^\infty_x} \le C_0 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x B_k \varepsilon) \lesssim C_0.$$
(9.16)

We thus arrive at the expansion

$$w \circ \eta(x, T_*) = B_0^w + B_1^w(x - x_*) + \mathcal{O}(C_0(x - x_*)^2)$$

for all x. Plugging (9.12) into this equation gives us

$$w(y,T_*) = B_0^w + B_1^w \left(\frac{y-y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}\left(\left|\frac{y-y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}\right)\right] + \mathcal{O}\left(C_0\left|\frac{y-y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}\right)$$
$$= B_0^w + B_1^w \left(\frac{y-y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}\left((1+C_0)\left|\frac{y-y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}\right)$$

for all  $|y - y_*| < \frac{1}{(2n+2)(2n+1)2^{2n+2}C_0^{2n+1}}$ . If we define

$$b_{0} := B_{0}^{w} = \frac{5}{2} + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_{x}^{2n} B_{z}\varepsilon),$$
  

$$b_{1} := B_{1}^{w} a_{2n+1}^{-\frac{1}{2n+1}} = -[1 + \mathcal{O}(B_{z}\varepsilon)](\frac{1}{2n+1})^{-\frac{1}{2n+1}} [1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_{x}^{2n} B_{z}\varepsilon)]^{-\frac{1}{2n+1}}$$
  

$$= -(2n+1)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} [1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_{x}^{2n} B_{z}\varepsilon)],$$
(9.17)

then, using (9.10b), we arrive at our expansion (9.5a) for  $w(\cdot, T_*)$ .

Taylor expanding  $\eta_x(\cdot, T_*)$  about  $x_*$  and using (9.8), (8.4b), (4.12a), and (9.6) gives us

$$\eta_x(x,T_*) = (2n+1)a_{2n+1}(x-x_*)^{2n} + h_{2n+1}(x)(x-x_*)^{2n+1},$$
(9.18a)

$$|h_{2n+1}(x)| \le \frac{44(1+\varepsilon^{\frac{1}{2}})}{(2n+2)^2} \overline{C}_x^{2n+1} B_z \varepsilon < \frac{1}{4} \qquad \qquad \forall |x| \le \frac{1}{C_0}.$$
(9.18b)

We know from (9.16) that

$$\partial_x (w \circ \eta)(x, T_*) = B_1^w + \mathcal{O}\big( \|\partial_x^2 (w \circ \eta)(\cdot, T_*)\|_{L_x^\infty} (x - x_*) \big)$$
$$= B_1^w + \mathcal{O}\big(C_0 (x - x_*)\big)$$

for all x. Therefore, it follows from (9.12) that for all y in the interval  $|y - y_*| < \frac{1}{(2n+2)(2n+1)2^{2n+2}C_0^{2n+1}}$  we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_y w(y, T_*) &= \frac{\partial_x (w \circ \eta)(x, T_*)}{\eta_x (x, T_*)} \\ &= \frac{\left[B_1^w + \mathcal{O}(C_0(x - x_*))\right]}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}} (x - x_*)^{-2n} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n+1} B_z \varepsilon(x - x_*))\right] \\ &= \frac{B_1^w + \mathcal{O}(C_0|\frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}|)}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}} \left(\frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{-\frac{2n}{2n+1}} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n+1} B_z \varepsilon|\frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}})\right] \\ &= -\frac{1}{2n+1} b_1 (y - y_*)^{-\frac{2n}{2n+1}} + \mathcal{O}_{n,\alpha,C_0} \left(\left|\frac{y - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right|^{-\frac{2n-1}{2n+1}}\right) \end{aligned}$$

which gives us (9.5b).

To approximate the location of  $y_*$ , using (4.12b), (9.7), and our bounds on  $|x_*|$  gives us

$$y_* = \eta(x_*, T_*) = x_* + \int_0^{T_*} \lambda_3 \circ \eta(x_*, t) \, dt = \frac{5}{2} + \frac{\mathcal{O}(\overline{C}_x^{2n} B_z \varepsilon)}{n^3 \overline{C}_x} + \mathcal{O}((1+\alpha) B_z \varepsilon)$$

This implies (9.4).

To prove  $C_y^{1,\frac{j}{2n+1}}$  estimates on z and k, we will first show that  $\eta^{-1}(\cdot,t)$  is uniformly  $C_y^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  up to time  $T_*$ . In particular, we will show that

$$|x_1 - x_2| \le 2^{2 - \frac{1}{2n+1}} C_0^{2n} |\eta(x_1, t) - \eta(x_2, t)|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \qquad \forall x_1, x_2 \in \mathbb{T}, t \in [0, T_*].$$
(9.19)

We will prove (9.19) by bounding  $|x_1 - x_2|$  separately on the segments  $|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}$  and  $|x - 0| \ge \frac{1}{C_0}$ .

We know from Lemma 8.2 that

$$\gamma_x \ge \frac{1}{2}C_0^{-2n}$$

for  $|x-0| \geq \frac{1}{C_0}$ . Therefore, for all  $x_1, x_2$  in this segment we have the bound

$$|x_1 - x_2| \le 2C_0^{2n} |\eta(x_1, t) - \eta(x_2, t)| \le 2C_0^{2n} |\eta(x_1, t) - \eta(x_2, t)|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \qquad \forall t \in [0, T_*].$$

Now consider  $x_1, x_2$  with  $-\frac{1}{C_0} \le x_1 < x_2 < \frac{1}{C_0}$ . We know from (8.4a) that  $\eta_{xt}(x, t) < 0$  for all  $|x - 0| \le \frac{1}{C_0}, t \in [0, T_*]$ , and therefore,

$$|\eta(x_2,t) - \eta(x_1,t)| = \int_{x_1}^{x_2} \eta_x(x,t) \, dx \ge \int_{x_1}^{x_2} \eta_x(x,T_*) \, dx = |\eta(x_2,T_*) - \eta(x_1,T_*)|$$

for all  $t \in [0, T_*]$ . Therefore, it suffices to bound  $|\eta(x_2, T_*) - \eta(x_1, T_*)|$  below. In the case where  $x_* \leq x_1$ , (9.18) and (9.10b) imply

$$\eta(x_2, T_*) - \eta(x_1, T_*) = \int_{x_1}^{x_2} \eta_x(x, T_*) \, dx$$

$$\geq a_{2n+1} \int_{x_1}^{x_2} (2n+1)(x-x_*)^{2n} dx - \frac{1}{4} \int_{x_1}^{x_2} (x-x_*)^{2n+1} dx$$
  
=  $a_{2n+1} [(x_2-x_*)^{2n+1} - (x_1-x_*)^{2n+1}] - \frac{1}{4(2n+2)} [(x_2-x_*)^{2n+2} - (x_1-x_*)^{2n+2}]$   
 $\geq [a_{2n+1} - \frac{1}{4(2n+2)} \frac{2n+1}{2n+2}] (x_2-x_1)^{2n+1}$   
 $\geq \frac{1}{4(2n+1)} (x_2-x_1)^{2n+1}.$ 

The same argument works for the case where  $x_2 \le x_*$ . In the last case where  $x_1 < x_* < x_2$ , (9.12) gives us the bound

$$\begin{aligned} |x_2 - x_1| &\leq \left| \frac{y_2 - y_1}{a_{2n+1}} \right|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} + \left| \frac{y_2 - y_*}{a_{2n+1}} \right|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}} + \left| \frac{y_1 - y_*}{a_{2n+1}} \right|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}} \\ &\leq 3 \left| \frac{y_2 - y_1}{a_{2n+1}} \right|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \\ &\leq 3 (2(2n+1))^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} |y_2 - y_1|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}, \end{aligned}$$

where  $y_i = \eta(x_i, T_*)$ . Therefore

$$|x_2 - x_1| \le 6|\eta(x_2, t) - \eta(x_1, t)|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}$$

for all  $x_1, x_2$  with  $|x_i| \leq \frac{1}{C_0}$ ,  $t \in [0, T_*]$ . Putting this together with our bounds for  $|x - 0| \geq \frac{1}{C_0}$ , we conclude that (9.19) holds.

It now follows from our estimates in § 5 that

$$|\partial_y k(y_1,t) - \partial_y k(y_2,t)| = |\mathring{K}(x_1,t) - \mathring{K}(x_2,t)| \le \|\partial_x \mathring{K}\|_{L^{\infty}_{x,t}} |x_1 - x_2| \le C_0^{2n} \overline{C}_x B_k \varepsilon |y_1 - y_2|^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}.$$

Analogous computations also give us uniform  $C_y^{0,\frac{1}{2n+1}}$  estimates on  $\partial_y z$ .

It is also straightforward consequence of our estimates from § 5 that  $w \circ \eta, z \circ \eta$ , and  $k \circ \eta$  are  $C_{x,t}^{2n+1,1}$  on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*]$  and the inverse map  $(x, t) \to (y, t)$  is locally  $C_{x,t}^{2n+1,1}$  away from  $(x_*, T_*)$ , so w, z, and k are locally  $C_{y,t}^{2n+1,1}$  on  $\mathbb{T} \times [0, T_*] \setminus \{(y_*, T_*)\}$ .

### APPENDIX A. POLYNOMIAL INVERSION

This section generalizes the results from the appendix of a previous work of the authors [39]. Let  $\mathbb{C}((z))$  denote the field of formal Laurent series in the variable z with coefficients in  $\mathbb{C}$ , i.e. the field of formal power series with coefficients in  $\mathbb{C}$  that also allow for finitely many terms of negative degree. The field of *Puiseux series* in the variable x with coefficients in  $\mathbb{C}$  is then defined to be the union  $\bigcup_{j>0} \mathbb{C}((x^{1/j}))$ , which is itself a field. The Puiseux-Newton theorem states that  $\bigcup_{j>0} \mathbb{C}((x^{1/j}))$  is in fact an algebraically closed field. We will now introduce a useful special case of the Puiseux-Newton theorem:

**Theorem A.1** (Analytic Puiseux-Newton). If  $\mathbb{C}\{x\}$  denotes the ring of convergent power series in x, and  $f(x, y) \in \mathbb{C}\{x\}[y]$  is a polynomial of degree m > 0, irreducible in  $\mathbb{C}\{x\}[y]$ , then there exists a convergent power series  $y \in \mathbb{C}\{z\}$  such that the roots of f in  $\bigcup_{i>0} \mathbb{C}((x^{1/j}))$  are all given by

$$y(x^{1/m}), y(e^{2\pi i/m}x^{1/m}), \dots, y(e^{2\pi i\frac{m-1}{m}}x^{1/m}).$$

It follows that in general if  $f(x, y) \in \mathbb{C}\{x\}[y]$  then for each Puiseux series solution y of f(x, y(x)) = 0 there exists some  $\overline{y} \in \mathbb{C}\{z\}$  and  $m \leq \deg f$  such that  $y(x) = \overline{y}(x^{1/m})$ .

Proof of Theorem A.1. See [4, Section 8.3].

Now, fix a positive integer n. Recursively define the sequence

$$c_0^n := 1,$$
  

$$c_m^n := \sum_{\ell_1 + \dots + \ell_{2n+2} = m-1} c_{\ell_1}^n \cdots c_{\ell_{2n+2}}^n - \frac{1}{2n+1} \sum_{\substack{j_1 + \dots + j_{2n+1} = m \\ 0 \le j_i \le m-1}} c_{j_1}^n \cdots c_{j_{2n+1}}^n,$$

and then define the formal power series

$$\overline{y}_n(x) := \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \tfrac{(-1)^j}{(2n+1)^j} c_j x^j.$$

One can check that

$$y_0(x) := x^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \overline{y}_n(x^{\frac{1}{2n+1}})$$

is a Puiseux series solution of the algebraic equation

$$x + y_0^{2n+1} + y_0^{2n+2} = 0.$$

It follows from Theorem A.1 that  $\overline{y}_n$  is a convergent power series with some positive radius of convergence

$$R_n := \frac{2n+1}{\limsup_{j \to \infty} |c_j^n|^{1/j}} > 0.$$

If  $a_{2n+1} \in \mathbb{R}^{\times}$ ,  $a_{2n+2} \in \mathbb{R}$  one can check that

$$y(x) := \left(\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \overline{y}_n \left(\frac{a_{2n+2}}{a_{2n+1}} \left(\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}}\right)$$
$$= \left(\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-a_{2n+2}}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}}\right)^j c_j^n \left(\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{j}{2n+1}}$$

solves

$$-x + a_{2n+1}y^{2n+1} + a_{2n+2}y^{2n+2} = 0$$

for all x satisfying

$$|a_{2n+2}|^{2n+1}|x| < a_{2n+1}^{2n+2}R_n^{2n+1}$$

Since  $\overline{y}_n$  is holomorphic, if  $0 < r < R_n$  then Cauchy's estimate gives us

$$\frac{c_j}{(2n+1)^j} \le r^{-j} \max_{|z|=r|} |\overline{y}_n(z)|$$

for all nonnegative integers j. It follows that for  $0 < r < R_n$  and  $N \ge 0$ , we have

$$\left| \overline{y}_n(z) - \sum_{j=0}^N \frac{(-1)^j}{(2n+1)^j} c_j z^j \right| \le \frac{\left| \frac{z}{r} \right|^{N+1}}{1 - \left| \frac{z}{r} \right|} \max_{|z|=r} \left| \overline{y}_n(z) \right| \qquad \forall |z| < r.$$

Therefore, if we define

$$M_n := \max_{|z| = \frac{3R_n}{4}} |\overline{y}_n(z)|, \tag{A.1}$$

then for any  $N \ge 0$  we get the bound

$$\left|y(x) - \left(\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{N} \left(\frac{-a_{2n+2}}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}}\right)^{j} c_{j}^{n} \left(\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{j}{2n+1}} \right| \leq 3M_{n} \left(\frac{4a_{2n+2}}{3a_{2n+1}R_{n}}\right)^{N+1} \left|\frac{x}{a_{2n+1}}\right|^{\frac{N+2}{2n+1}}$$
(A.2)  
$$\forall x \text{ s.t. } |a_{2n+2}|^{2n+1} |x| < a_{2n+1}^{2n+2} \left(\frac{R_{n}}{2}\right)^{2n+1}.$$

**Lemma A.2.** Let n be a positive integer, let  $I \subset \mathbb{R}$  be an interval, and let  $y \in C^{2n+1,1}(I)$ . Suppose y has a Taylor series expansion about  $x_* \in I$  of the form

$$y(x) = y_* + a_{2n+1}(x - x_*)^{2n+1} + a_{2n+2}(x)(x - x_*)^{2n+2}$$

where  $a_{2n+1} > 0$ . Define  $J \subset I$  to be

$$J := \{ x \in I : |a_{2n+2}(x)|^{2n+1} |y(x) - y_*| < a_{2n+1}^{2n+2} R_n^{2n+1}, \quad \frac{(2n+2)a_{2n+2}(x)(x-x_*)}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}} > -1 \},$$

and define  $\widetilde{J}$  to be the connected component of J containing  $x_*$ . Then for all  $x \in \widetilde{J}$  we have

$$(x - x_*) = \left(\frac{y(x) - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-a_{2n+2(x)}}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}}\right)^j c_j^n \left(\frac{y(x) - y_*}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{j}{2n+1}}.$$
(A.3)

 $\textit{Proof.}\,$  Without loss of generality,  $x_* = y_* = 0$  . For  $(y,a) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  satisfying

$$|a|^{2n+1}|y| < a_{2n+1}^{2n+2}R_n^{2n+1}$$

define the function  $\tilde{x}$  via the series

$$\widetilde{x}(y,a) := \left(\frac{y}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-a}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}}\right)^j c_j^n \left(\frac{y}{a_{2n+1}}\right)^{\frac{j}{2n+1}}$$

which we know to converge. For (y, a) in the domain of  $\tilde{x}, \tilde{x}(y, a)$  solves

$$-y + a_{2n+1}\widetilde{x}(y,a)^{2n+1} + a\widetilde{x}(y,a)^{2n+2} = 0.$$

For all  $x \in J$ ,  $(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))$  is in the domain of  $\tilde{x}$  and we have

$$y(x) = a_{2n+1}\tilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x)))^{2n+1} + a_{2n+2}(x)\tilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))^{2n+2} = 0.$$
 (A.4)

For  $x \in \widetilde{J}$ , define the bootstrap hypothesis and conclusion

$$H(x) := \frac{(2n+2)a_{2n+2}(x)\widetilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}} > -1$$
  
$$C(x) := \widetilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x)) = x.$$

We note that

- (i) H(0) is true,
- (ii) the set of  $x \in \widetilde{J}$  where C(x) is true is a closed subset of  $\widetilde{J}$  because  $x \to \widetilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))$  is continuous, and
- (iii) the set of  $x \in \tilde{J}$  where C(x) is true is in the interior of the set where H(x) is true, by virtue of the definition of J and the fact that  $x \to \tilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))$  is continuous.

Lastly, the set where H(x) is true contains the set where C(x) is true. To see this, for  $(x, z) \in I \times \mathbb{R}$  satisfying

$$\frac{(2n+2)a_{2n+2}(x)z}{(2n+1)|a_{2n+1}|} > -1$$

define the function

$$f(x,z) := a_{2n+1}z^{2n+1} + a_{2n+2}(x)z^{2n+2}$$

For all (x, z) in the domain of f we have

$$\partial_z f(x,z) = (2n+1)a_{2n+1}z^{2n} \left[1 + \frac{(2n+2)a_{2n+2}(x)z}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}}\right]$$

so that f is a strictly increasing function of z everywhere in its domain. If  $x \in \tilde{J}$  is such that H(x) is true, then  $\tilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))$  is in the domain of f and (A.4) implies that

$$f(x, \widetilde{x}(y(x), a_{2n+2}(x))) = y(x) = f(x, x).$$

Since f is a strictly increasing function of its second argument on its domain, we conclude that C(x) is true. This completes our bootstrap argument, and since  $\tilde{J}$  is connected we conclude that C(x) is true for all  $x \in \tilde{J}$ .

**Lemma A.3.** In the context of the previous lemma, if we further assume that I = [-r, r] and r satisfies

(

$$\frac{2n+2)\|a_{2n+2}\|_{L_{x}^{\infty}}}{(2n+1)a_{2n+1}}(r+|x_{*}|) < 1,$$
(A.5a)

$$\frac{\|a_{2n+2}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{a_{2n+1}R_n}(r+|x_*|) < \frac{1}{4},\tag{A.5b}$$

then for all  $x \in I$  we have

$$\left| (x - x_*) - \left( \frac{y(x) - y_*}{a_{2n+1}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2n+1}} \right| \le \frac{4M_n \|a_{2n+2}\|_{L_x^{\infty}}}{a_{2n+1}R_n} \left| \frac{y(x) - y_*}{a_{2n+1}} \right|^{\frac{2}{2n+1}}.$$
(A.6)

Furthermore, the range of y contains the ball

$$|y - y_*| \le \frac{a_{2n+1}(r - |x_*|)^{2n+1}}{2n+2}.$$
(A.7)

*Proof.* It is immediate from (A.5a) that

$$y(x) - y_*| \ge \frac{a_{2n+1}}{2n+2} |x - x_*|^{2n+1}$$

for all  $x \in I$ . This implies that the range of y contains the ball defined by (A.7). Furthermore, (A.5) implies that J = I and therefore  $\tilde{J} = I$ . Lemma A.2 therefore implies that (A.3) holds for all  $x \in I$ . Now our assumption (A.5b) allows us to apply (A.2) with N = 1 to obtain (A.6).

#### APPENDIX B. FREQUENTLY USED COMPUTATIONS

The following lemmas are straightforward exercises:

**Lemma B.1.** If A > 0 and  $f \in \mathbb{R}$  are constants, and  $x : [0, T] \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfies

 $\dot{x} \le -Ax + f$ 

for all  $t \in [0,T]$ , then

$$x(t) \le x(0)e^{-At} + (1 - e^{-At})\frac{f}{A} \le \max(x(0), \frac{f}{A}) \qquad \forall t \in [0, T]$$

**Lemma B.2.** If  $\beta$  is a multi-index and  $j_1 + \ldots + j_m = |\beta|$ , then

$$\sum_{\substack{\gamma_1 + \dots + \gamma_m = \beta \\ |\gamma_i| = j_i}} \binom{\beta}{\gamma_1 \cdots \gamma_m} = \binom{|\beta|}{j_1 \cdots j_m}.$$
(B.1)

**Lemma B.3.** For all positive integers  $m, \ell$  and all p > 1, we have the bound

$$\sum_{j_1+\ldots+j_\ell=m} \frac{(m+1)^p}{(j_1+1)^p \cdots (j_\ell+1)^p} < \ell^{1+p} \bigg(\sum_{j=1}^\infty \frac{1}{j^p}\bigg)^{\ell-1}$$

In particular, for p = 2 and  $\ell = 2, 3$  we have

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{(j+1)^2(m+1-j)^2} < \frac{4\pi^2}{3}, \qquad \qquad \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{(j_1+1)^2(j_2+1)^2(j_3+1)^2} < \frac{3\pi^4}{4}.$$
(B.2)

Many variants of the inequalities (B.2) can be proven via similar computations:

$$\sum_{j=0}^{m} \frac{m+2}{(j+1)^2(m+2-j)} < \frac{2\pi^2}{3}, \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{m+2}{j^3(m+2-j)} < 8, \qquad \sum_{j=2}^{m} \frac{m+1}{j^3(m+2-j)} < 6.1,$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3(m+1-j)^2} < 25, \qquad \sum_{j=0}^{m-1} \frac{(m+1)^2}{(j+1)^2(m-j)^2} < \frac{16\pi^2}{3}, \qquad \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3_1(j_2+1)^2(j_3+1)^2} < 163$$

$$\sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=m} \frac{m+2}{j^3_1(j_2+1)^2(j_3+2)} < 21, \qquad \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3=m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3_1j^3_2(j_3+1)^2} < 66, \qquad \sum_{j_1+j_2+j_3+j_4=m} \frac{(m+1)^2}{j^3_1j^3_2(j_3+1)^2(j_4+1)^2} < 641.$$
(B.3)

These inequalities (B.2)–(B.3) are used throughout § 5-6. Note that the righthand side of the inequalities (B.2)–(B.3) is always *independent of m*.

## APPENDIX C. IMPLICIT FUNCTION THEOREM

In this section, suppose that X is a Banach space,  $U \subset X$  is an open set, and  $V \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  is an open, convex set with  $B_r(y_0) \subseteq V \subseteq B_R(y_0)$  for some  $y_0 \in \mathbb{R}^N, 0 < r \leq R$ . Let  $f : U \times V \to \mathbb{R}^N$ .

**Lemma C.1** (Existence of unique solutions). Suppose that f is Lipschitz in y and that there exists a constant  $\theta \in [0, 1)$  such that for all  $x \in U$  we have

$$\|\mathrm{Id} - Df_y(x, \cdot)\|_{L^{\infty}_u(V)} \le \theta, \tag{C.1a}$$

$$|f(x, y_0)| \le r - \theta R. \tag{C.1b}$$

Then there exists a function  $g: U \to V$  such that

$$\left\{ (x,y) \in U \times V : f(x,y) = 0 \right\} = \left\{ (x,g(x)) : x \in U \right\}$$

*Proof.* For each  $x \in U$ , define the map  $\Psi(x) : V \to \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $\Psi(x)(y) := y - f(x, y)$ . Since V is convex, it follows from (C.1a) that  $\Psi(x)$  is  $\theta$ -Lipschitz for all  $x \in U$ . Therefore, (C.1b) implies that

$$\Psi(x)(V) \subset B_{\theta R}(\Psi(x)(y_0)) \subset B_r(y_0) \subset V.$$

Thus  $\Psi(x)$  is a contraction mapping for each  $x \in U$ . Define g(x) to be the unique fixed point of  $\Psi(x)$ .

**Lemma C.2** (Lipschitz implicit function theorem). *In the context of the previous lemma, if we additionally assume that f is uniformly Lipschitz in x with* 

$$|f(x_1, y) - f(x_2, y)| \le L|x_1 - x_2| \qquad \forall x_1, x_2 \in U, y \in V,$$
(C.2)

then the function g is  $\frac{L}{1-\theta}$ -Lipschitz.

Proof. Recursively define the sequence of functions

$$g_0(x) := x$$
  
$$g_{n+1}(x) := \Psi(x)(g_n(x))$$

It is immediate that  $[g_{n+1}]_{C_x^{0,1}(U)} \leq \theta[g_n]_{C_x^{0,1}(U)} + L$  for all n. Therefore, we have

$$[g_{n+1}]_{C_x^{0,1}(U)} \le L \sum_{j=0}^n \theta^j < \frac{L}{1-\theta}$$

for all n. Since  $g_n$  converges pointwise to g, our result follows.

### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The work of I.N. was in part supported by the NSF Postdoctoral Fellowship DMS-2401743. The work of S.S. was in part supported by the Collaborative NSF grant DMS-2307680. The work of V.V. was in part supported by the Collaborative NSF grant DMS-2307681 and a Simons Investigator Award.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Leo Abbrescia and Jared Speck. The emergence of the singular boundary from the crease in 3D compressible Euler flow. arXiv preprint arXiv:2207.07107, 2022.
- [2] Serge Alinhac. Blowup of small data solutions for a class of quasilinear wave equations in two space dimensions. II. *Acta Math.*, 182(1):1–23, 1999.
- [3] Serge Alinhac. Blowup of small data solutions for a quasilinear wave equation in two space dimensions. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 149(1):97–127, 1999.
- [4] Egbert Brieskorn and Horst Knörrer. Plane algebraic curves. Birkhäuser Verlag, 1986.
- [5] Tristan Buckmaster, Gonzalo Cao-Labora, and Javier Gómez-Serrano. Smooth imploding solutions for 3d compressible fluids. arXiv preprint arXiv:2208.09445, 2022.
- [6] Tristan Buckmaster, Theodore D Drivas, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. Simultaneous development of shocks and cusps for 2d euler with azimuthal symmetry from smooth data. Annals of PDE, 8(2):1–199, 2022.
- [7] Tristan Buckmaster, Theodore D Drivas, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. Formation and development of singularities for the compressible Euler equations. In Dmitry Beliaev and Stanislav Smirnov, editors, *Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians 2022*, volume 5, pages 3636–3659. EMS Press, Berlin, 2023.
- [8] Tristan Buckmaster and Sameer Iyer. Formation of unstable shocks for 2D insentropic compressible Euler. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 389:197–271, 2022.
- [9] Tristan Buckmaster, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. Formation of shocks for 2D isentropic compressible Euler. Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics, 75(9):2069–2120, 2022.
- [10] Tristan Buckmaster, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. Formation of point shocks for 3D compressible Euler. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 76(9):2073–2191, 2023.
- [11] Tristan Buckmaster, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. Shock formation and vorticity creation for 3D Euler. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 76(9):1965–2072, 2023.
- [12] Gonzalo Cao-Labora, Javier Gómez-Serrano, Jia Shi, and Gigliola Staffilani. Non-radial implosion for compressible Euler and Navier-Stokes in T<sup>3</sup> and R<sup>3</sup>. arXiv preprint arXiv:2310.05325, 2023.
- [13] Geng Chen. Optimal time-dependent lower bound on density for classical solutions of 1-d compressible euler equations. Indiana University Mathematics Journal, pages 725–740, 2017.
- [14] Geng Chen, Robin Young, and Qingtian Zhang. Shock formation in the compressible euler equations and related systems. Journal of Hyperbolic Differential Equations, 10(01):149–172, 2013.
- [15] Gui-Qiang Chen and Dehua Wang. The Cauchy problem for the Euler equations for compressible fluids. In Handbook of mathematical fluid dynamics, Vol. I, pages 421–543. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2002.
- [16] Jiajie Chen. Vorticity blowup in compressible Euler equations in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ ,  $d \ge 3$ . arXiv preprint arXiv:2408.04319, 2024.
- [17] Jiajie Chen, Giorgio Cialdea, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. Vorticity blowup in 2D compressible Euler equations. arXiv:2407.06455, 07 2024.
- [18] Shuxing Chen and Liming Dong. Formation and construction of shock for p-system. Science in China Series A: Mathematics, 44(9):1139– 1147, 2001.
- [19] Demetrios Christodoulou. The formation of shocks in 3-dimensional fluids, volume 2. European Mathematical Society, 2007.
- [20] Demetrios Christodoulou. The shock development problem. Monographs in Mathematics. European Mathematical Society, 2019.
- [21] Demetrios Christodoulou and André Lisibach. Shock development in spherical symmetry. Annals of PDE, 2(1):3, 2016.

- [22] Demetrios Christodoulou and Shuang Miao. Compressible flow and Euler's equations, volume 9 of Surveys of Modern Mathematics. International Press, Somerville, MA; Higher Education Press, Beijing, 2014.
- [23] Charles Collot, Tej-Eddine Ghoul, and Nader Masmoudi. Singularity formation for burgers equation with transverse viscosity. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4), 55(4):1047–1133, 2022.
- [24] Richard Courant and Kurt Otto Friedrichs. Supersonic Flow and Shock Waves. Interscience Publishers, Inc., New York, 1948.
- [25] Constantine M Dafermos. Hyperbolic conservation laws in continuum physics, volume 3. Springer, 2005.
- [26] Fritz John. Formation of singularities in one-dimensional nonlinear wave propagation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 27:377–405, 1974.
- [27] De-Xing Kong. Formation and propagation of singularities for 2 × 2 quasilinear hyperbolic systems. *Transactions of the American Mathematical Society*, 354(8):3155–3179, 2002.
- [28] Lev D. Landau and Evgeny M. Lifshitz. Fluid Mechanics: Volume 6, volume 6. Elsevier, 1987.
- [29] Peter D. Lax. Development of singularities of solutions of nonlinear hyperbolic partial differential equations. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 5(5):611–613, 1964.
- [30] Marie-Pierre Lebaud. Description de la formation d'un choc dans le p-système. Journal de mathématiques pures et appliquées, 73(6):523–566, 1994.
- [31] Tai-Ping Liu. Development of singularities in the nonlinear waves for quasi-linear hyperbolic partial differential equations. Journal of Differential Equations, 33(1):92–111, 1979.
- [32] Tai-Ping Liu. Shock waves, volume 215 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2021.
- [33] Jonathan Luk and Jared Speck. Shock formation in solutions to the 2d compressible euler equations in the presence of non-zero vorticity. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 214(1):1–169, 2018.
- [34] Jonathan Luk and Jared Speck. The stability of simple plane-symmetric shock formation for three-dimensional compressible Euler flow with vorticity and entropy. Anal. PDE, 17(3):831–941, 2024.
- [35] Andrew Majda. Compressible fluid flow and systems of conservation laws in several space variables, volume 53. Springer-Verlag, 1984.
- [36] Frank Merle, Pierre Raphaël, Igor Rodnianski, and Jeremie Szeftel. On the implosion of a compressible fluid I: smooth self-similar inviscid profile. Ann. of Math. (2), 196(2):567–778, 2022.
- [37] Frank Merle, Pierre Raphaël, Igor Rodnianski, and Jeremie Szeftel. On the implosion of a compressible fluid II: singularity formation. Ann. of Math. (2), 196(2):779–889, 2022.
- [38] Isaac Neal, Calum Rickard, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. A new type of stable shock formation in gas dynamics. *Communications on Pure and Applied Analysis*, 23(10):1423–1447, 2024.
- [39] Isaac Neal, Steve Shkoller, and Vlad Vicol. A characteristics approach to shock formation in 2D Euler with azimuthal symmetry and entropy. arXiv preprint arXiv:2302.01289, 2023.
- [40] Sung-Jin Oh and Federico Pasqualotto. Gradient blow-up for dispersive and dissipative perturbations of the Burgers equation. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 248(3):Paper No. 54, 61, 2024.
- [41] Bernhard Riemann. Über die Fortpflanzung ebener Luftwellen von endlicher Schwingungsweite. Abhandlungen der Königlichen Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften in Göttingen, 8:43–66, 1860.
- [42] Steve Shkoller and Vlad Vicol. The geometry of maximal development and shock formation for the Euler equations in multiple space dimensions. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 237(3):871–1252, 2024.
- [43] Thomas C. Sideris. Formation of singularities in three-dimensional compressible fluids. Comm. Math. Phys., 101(4):475-485, 1985.
- [44] Huicheng Yin. Formation and construction of a shock wave for 3-D compressible Euler equations with the spherical initial data. Nagoya Math. J., 175:125–164, 2004.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA DAVIS, DAVIS, CA 95616. *Email address*: ineal@ucdavis.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA DAVIS, DAVIS, CA 95616. *Email address*: shkoller@math.ucdavis.edu

COURANT INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES, NEW YORK UNIVERSITY, NEW YORK, NY 10012. *Email address*: vicol@cims.nyu.edu